


 
 

 
   

Definitions of Our Highlight metrics  
The Net Promoter Score ® - This is a measure of customers’ likelihood to recommend the Society.  
Customer Satisfaction - This is the average satisfaction score during the year, as recorded by Smart Money People.  
Staff Engagement – a 2-star award is the second-highest standard of workplace engagement in the Best Company awards. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT 
WELCOME 
By Jack Cullen, Chair 

In my welcome to last year’s review, I reflected on a year 
of unprecedented challenge for the Society and the 
wider community. As I look back on 2021, I know it has 
been another year in which each of us has continued to 
face our own individual challenges as we begin to 
recover from the pandemic. I am extremely heartened 
by the way the entire team at the Society has continued 
to deliver against our purpose of encouraging saving and 
supporting home ownership, whilst at the same time 
providing an excellent service to our members and 
actively supporting the local community. My thoughts 
are with all those personally affected by Covid-19. 

Our profit in 2020 was adversely impacted by several 
Covid-19 related issues, and I am pleased that these 
have not been repeated in 2021. Our financial 
performance in 2021 was characterised by a blend of 
strong profitability combined with steady balance sheet 
growth. The profit before tax at £3.2m was 
predominantly down to robust levels of good margin 
mortgage lending in a buoyant housing market 
underpinned by various government initiatives.  

The strong level of profitability achieved was after an 
increase in costs as your Society continued to invest to 
provide an improved proposition for members, 

combined with greater efficiency, enhanced security and 
higher levels of operational resilience. During 2021 we 
migrated our IT infrastructure to the Cloud, 
implemented a new telephony system and website, and 
launched a new mortgage sales and origination 
platform. We were also delighted to demonstrate our 
commitment to local high streets by relocating our 
Redcar branch to a new fresh and modern space, 
combined with advanced technology, in a prominent 
position in the town. 

In 2021 our total assets increased to their highest ever 
level, at just over £750m. Our liquidity is somewhat 
higher than we would normally hold at the year-end as 
we accessed the Bank of England Term Funding Scheme 
(TFSME) before it closed in October 2021. The level of 
liquidity is planned to reduce through the first-half of 
2022 as it is utilised to fund mortgage growth. The 
strong profitability achieved will also add to our reserves 
and maintain our capital levels which remain 
significantly ahead of regulatory requirements. This 
ensures we remain a strong, safe and resilient Society, 
able to withstand potential future shocks to the financial 
system. 

During 2021 we relaunched our Community Impact 
Strategy which has resulted in greater engagement with 
many local charities and good causes. Our staff have 
continued to volunteer in many different roles and have, 
in particular, been involved with stewarding at 
vaccination centres. I was also personally delighted that 
the Board agreed to top-up our 5% pledge pot to offset 
the reduction due to the extraordinary factors that 
impacted our level of profit in 2020. This meant that we 
were able to donate just under £90,000 to 28 good 
causes throughout our heartland.  

In the face of the undoubted challenges experienced in 
2021, I was very proud that the team at the Society was 
recognised by a number of industry awards including 
winning Best Building Society of the Year at two 
separate award ceremonies and Best Self-Build Lender 
at a separate event.  

Due to the pandemic, I am sorry that we have not been 
able to meet in person at our AGM for the last couple of 
years, although we did offer the opportunity to 
participate virtually last year and published answers on 
our website to questions that were raised. In 2022 we 
are planning a hybrid event with the opportunity to 
attend virtually or in person at the Great North Air  
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Ambulance base in Eaglescliffe. I would urge as many of 
you as possible to participate and exercise your right as 
a member to engage with the directors on our results 
and strategy, ask questions and cast your vote on the 
various resolutions, including the election of directors.    

Jon Sawyer retired from the Board during 2021 and I 
would like to thank him for the strong contribution he 
made to the Board during his three-year term. There 
were no other changes to the Board during 2021. 

Although we are now beginning our recovery from 
Covid-19, there is no doubt that the year ahead will also 
have its challenges and will require an agile response 
from the Society, with our members remaining at the 
heart of everything we do. Whilst the housing market 
remains robust at present, increasing inflation, 
exacerbated by increasing global tensions, will impact on 
household finances, which will put pressure on 
affordability. This could affect our existing members 
where we will continue to take a supportive and 
sympathetic approach wherever possible, and also on 
the demand for new mortgage lending. Other challenges 
that the Board are actively engaged with are how we can 
reduce our impact on the environment and help our 
members to make their homes more energy efficient, to 
reduce their carbon footprint.  

In December 2021, the Bank of England raised interest 
rates for the first time since 2018. I was particularly 
pleased that we were able to pass on the full 0.15% 
increase to all our variable rate savers from 1 February 
2022, and hold our mortgage standard variable rate. 
This was made possible by the strong and resilient 
financial position of the Society. In February 2022, the 
Bank of England raised the Base Rate by a further 0.25%. 
On this occasion, from 1 March 2022, we passed on 
0.25% to our junior and regular savers, 0.15% to most of 
our other savings’ accounts and increased our mortgage 
standard variable rate by 0.15%. We are expecting 
further increases through the year and will seek to 
reward our loyal savers as much as we can, whilst 
balancing this with the needs of our borrowers and the 
absolute necessity of maintaining a prudent financial 
position of the Society as a whole. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our Chief 
Executive, Andrew Craddock, for his outstanding 
leadership and the whole team at the Society for their 
unfailing commitment and dedication to serving our 
members. I remain incredibly proud to be your Chair and 

be involved in a Society that is going from strength to 
strength, building on the success and firm foundations 
laid over many generations. Our Society continues to be 
at the heart of the community and I would like to thank 
you all for your continued loyalty and support. Please 
stay safe and well, and I very much hope we will be able 
to meet again in person at the AGM in April. 

Jack Cullen 
Chair            
 

 

 

                                                    Jack Cullen 
Chair 

18th March 2022 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW 
After the unprecedented challenges we all experienced 
in 2020 responding to the pandemic, we were hoping 
that 2021 would see a return to a more normal external 
environment. Unfortunately, the transition has taken 
longer than we all hoped and 2021 has brought 
individual challenges for all of us as we continue to learn 
to live with Covid-19. The priorities for the Society in 
2021 were: 

1. Ensuring the health and wellbeing of all our 
colleagues and members, together with actively 
supporting the local community. 

2. Continuing to provide normal business services 
in line with our purpose including access to cash, 
encouraging saving and supporting home 
ownership. 

3. Continuing to invest in the Society to update and 
modernise our products and services to remain 
relevant to our members and be a Society with 
traditional service values, but with a proposition 
fit for the future. 

It is incredibly rewarding to evidence the real progress 
we have made against all three priorities which I discuss 
in more detail below, but of course our ambition 
remains undiminished and we will continue to work hard 
to deliver for you. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
Our profit in 2020 was depressed by a number of Covid-
19 related issues, including lower lending related income 
with the housing market closed during the first 
lockdown, the low interest rate environment impacting 
on margin, increased costs with significant investment 
into the Society and an increased bad debt provision. 

In 2021, although we have continued to invest in the 
Society, the profit before tax has increased from £0.7m 
to £3.2m. This was predominantly due to interest 
income from our mortgage book increasing as the 
Society increased lending at good margins in a buoyant 
housing market impacted by pent-up demand during the 
lockdowns, the desire to move to more rural locations 
with space to work from home and the stamp duty 
holiday bringing forward purchases.  

Costs increased as we continued to invest in the Society 
including: 

 Migrating our IT infrastructure to a Cloud based 
service to enable greater functionality, security 
and resilience. This will provide the foundation 
for further digital enhancements in the future, 
including improved online and new Mobile App 
access to your mortgage and savings accounts. 

 Replacement of our legacy telephones with a 
new modern, highly efficient system including 
additional capacity to make communicating with 
members easier and quicker.  

 Complete replacement of our website with a 
new modern flexible version designed to make it 
faster and easier for members to navigate 
whether they are using mobile phones, tablets, 
or desktop computers. 

 Replacement of our mortgage broker platform 
with a new modern mortgage sales and 
origination platform. This will enable the Society 
to receive digital applications from brokers and 
efficiently pull together all the necessary 
information from different sources to approve a 
mortgage application. Our underwriters will 
continue to review each application on an 
individual basis.    

 Relocation of our Redcar branch into new light 
and spacious premises on Regents Walk, 
providing an improved and welcoming 
environment for our colleagues and members, 
and also providing space for local community 
groups. 

 



 
 

Page | 6  
 

BORROWERS 
Our gross new lending in 2021 was £155m, ahead of the 
£124m achieved in 2020, including £17m helping first 
time buyers and £32m for self-build mortgages. Our 
residential mortgage book, before provisions and other 
accounting adjustments, increased £42m in the year, up 
from £34m in 2020. The overall number of mortgage 
members reduced from 9,138 at the start of the year to 
9,055 at the end of the year, although the average loan 
size increased, and the lending book increased by over 
5% to £616m (2020: 5.5%). The quality of our lending 
remains sound and our forbearance and arrears levels 
remain low, although slightly increased from the 
previous year. The value of arrears for cases more than 
three months in arrears increased from £1.7m at the 
end of 2020 to £2.3m at the end of 2021 and the 
number of borrowers in this category remained stable at 
22. There were two cases of serious arrears of twelve 
months or more at the end of 2021 compared to one 
case at the end of 2020. There were no properties in 
possession at the end of 2021 in line with the previous 
year and no properties were repossessed during 2020 or 
2021. The Society realised no mortgage losses in 2020 or 
2021. 

The Society shows forbearance to borrowers in difficulty 
where appropriate. There were 52 accounts at the end 
of 2021 with balances outstanding of £3.6m, compared 
to 55 accounts at the end of 2020 with balances 
outstanding of £3m. During 2020 and early 2021 the 
Society, in addition to standard forbearance measures, 
and following guidance from the Financial Conduct 
Authority, granted a number of mortgage payment 
deferrals to assist members through financial difficulties 
as a result of Covid-19. All of these have been repaid and 
none remain outstanding as at the end of 2021. 

During 2021 the Society continued to innovate and seek 
new ways of helping more people onto the property 
ladder. During the year we launched a “Green 
Mortgage”, as an option for those with a good EPC rated 
house. We joined the Government’s “First Homes” 
scheme, designed to support key worker first-time 
buyers achieve their dream of owning their own home. 
We joined the Government’s “Held to Build” scheme, 
providing a low deposit affordable option for those 
wishing to obtain a self or custom build mortgage and 
we entered into a partnership with local builders 
“Homes by Esh” providing low deposit mortgages for 
new homes in Darlington. 

SAVERS 
During 2021 savings balances increased by £27m, 
compared to £19m in 2020. The number of savings 
members increased in 2021 from 77,049 at the start of 
the year to 77,885 at the end of the year. This increase 
was achieved despite our ability to open new savings 
accounts being restricted for some months due to Covid-
19 government guidance and the need to stop face-to-
face appointments.  

2021 was another tough year for savers in a market 
characterised by firms holding high levels of liquidity in a 
low interest rate environment, with the government 
providing inexpensive funding to the market through the 
Bank of England. Members also moved funds from 
notice and fixed rate accounts into easy access accounts 
with lower interest rates. 

During 2021 the Society continued to innovate and seek 
opportunities to launch new products. Our Regular 
Savings product remained popular and as we tried to 
reward regular savers, we increased the limits on how 
much could be saved in the account. This initiative, 
aimed at helping members make the most of their 
lockdown savings, proved to be a huge success with over 
2,400 members taking advantage of the offer, including 
748 new members to the Society. 

We also launched a “High Five Saver” that combined 
regular saving with a charitable donation of £5 to the 
Great North Air Ambulance for every account opened 
and a “Green Saver” which sees the Society move away 
from the traditional passbook and operate the account 
online only and where we pledge to plant two trees for 
every account opened. Our junior proposition was also 
enhanced with the introduction of a new “Teen Goal 
Saver” account, improvements to our “Darly” 
proposition and our Junior ISA achieved Best Buy status 
during the year. The success of these products aligns 
with the Society’s aim of encouraging children to adopt 
regular saving as a habit from an early age. 

COMMUNITY 
During 2021 we relaunched our Community Impact 
Strategy, which provided our colleagues with a 
framework to enable their involvement and engagement 
with local good causes. 

Through our pledge to donate at least 5% of our profits 
to local good causes, in collaboration with County 
Durham Community Foundation, we donated £88,000 to 
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28 organisations in our heartland. Grouping these by the 
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals: 

 Goal 1; “End poverty in all its forms everywhere” 
- £32,000 to 3 organisations including £25,000 to 
Darlington Credit Union and £5,000 to the 
County Durham Community Foundation Poverty 
Hurts Appeal. 

 Goal 3; “Ensure healthy lives and promote well-
being for all at all ages” - £37,000 to 19 
organisations including £11,000 to the Hope 
Foundation in Middlesbrough and £6,000 to the 
Walk and Talk Trust in Durham. 

 Goal 4; “Ensure inclusive and equitable quality 
education and promote lifelong learning 
opportunities for all” - funding given to 4 
organisations including £15,000 to the Clervaux 
Trust in Hurworth and £3,000 to Cockerton 
Library. 

 Goal 11; “Make communities inclusive, safe, 
resilient and sustainable”- £500 to Ladies of 
Steel in Redcar and £500 to Spennymoor Town 
Band. 

Through our “Local 5” initiative, colleagues have 
connected with 50 charities throughout our heartland 
and dedicated around 900 hours of volunteering  

SERVICE 
We collect ongoing feedback on our service through an 
independent organisation called Smart Money People. 
Our service score reduced marginally in 2021 at 97.1 
from 97.4 seen in 2020, but remains the best in the 
mutual sector. Our Net Promoter Score in 2021 was 
+85.8 compared to +85 in the previous year and remains 
the best score in the mutual sector. The Net Promoter 
Score is a measure of whether people would 
recommend us to their family, friends and colleagues, so 
I am very pleased that so many of our reviews evidenced 
such strong advocacy for our Society and rate our 
service so highly.  

The number of complaints remains very low compared 
to the market and we received fewer complaints in 2021 
than the previous year, 2.7 complaints per 1,000 
members in 2021 compared to 3 complaints per 1,000 
members in the previous year. In 2021 14 complaints 
were referred to the Financial Ombudsman Service 
compared to 5 in 2020, with 3 being upheld in 2021 
compared to none in the previous year. 

In 2021 we received a number of industry awards 
including: 

 Building Society of the Year Award at the 
MoneyAge Awards; 

 Building Society of the Year Award at the 
MoneyAge Mortgage Awards; 

 Help to Buy ISA Provider of the Year Award at 
the MoneyAge Mortgage Awards; and 

 Best Self-Build Lender at the Build It Awards. 

As we began to recover from the pandemic and 
government guidance changed, we were able to expand 
our branch opening hours. In response to member 
feedback we amended our opening hours for each 
branch to better align to demand. To enable these 
changed hours, we hired nine new staff to work 
Saturdays to create a better work-life balance for our 
branch staff, whilst still delivering for members. 

CLIMATE CHANGE 
In December we announced our approach to Climate 
Change and pledged to operate a sustainable business 
that manages the impacts of climate change and 
supports the transition to a greener, net zero economy. 
The Board has established a cross-functional steering 
group to progress this work and is developing plans to 
formalise performance linked climate change objectives. 
Early actions include offering a “Green Savings Account” 
and a “Green Mortgage” as detailed above. Plans will 
continue to be developed to include measures: 

1. To reduce the carbon footprint of the Society by 
improving our buildings’ energy efficiency, 
conserving energy through new technology, 
increased recycling and encouraging our staff to 
reduce printing and work related travel. 

2. To help our members lead greener lives by 
providing access to guidance, funding and 
support to help with home improvements. 

3. To support initiatives to make the homes on 
which we lend more energy efficient and better 
prepared for regulatory and environmental 
change. 

PEOPLE 
During 2021 we welcomed 60 new colleagues to the 
Society, but unfortunately, we also had 50 leavers, a 
higher turnover than we have seen in previous years and 
more than we would like to see.  The average headcount 
in 2021 was 178, 10 more than the average headcount in 
the previous year, predominantly due to an increase in 
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the branch network. The jobs market, particularly in the 
second half of 2021 was buoyant, with many firms willing 
to pay higher salaries to attract new staff. According to 
the Office of National Statistics, in the period October to 
December 2021 there was a record 1.24m job vacancies. 
In addition, the percentage of “economically inactive 
people” – which is those neither looking for nor available 
for work – rose to 21.3% as many made different life 
choices as a result of experiences during the pandemic.   

During 2021 we celebrated two huge work anniversaries, 
with two members of staff having achieved a fantastic 40 
years’ service. 

Last year I reported that we had again participated in the 
Best Companies Staff Engagement Survey and had 
achieved our best score since we began surveying our 
staff in 2016. I am delighted to report that we retained 
our “2 Star” rating in 2021, the second-highest standard 
of workplace engagement, with Best Companies 
describing the Society as “well led and well managed with 
outstanding levels of engagement”. This score places us 
in the list of top companies in the Northeast, the Financial 
Services Sector and for Mid-Sized Organisations. 

We again participated in the Financial Services Culture 
Board surveys on culture and inclusion, and whilst the 
results were slightly down on the previous year, there 
were real positives in the results including that: 

 leadership, shared purpose, openness and 
honesty were above the building society 
median,  

 the Society placed in the first quartile on 9 of the 
36 core questions, and  

 the Society ranked first of all firms on the 
question about employees being recognised for 
promoting an inclusive culture.   

OUTLOOK 
The results we have achieved are quite simply down to 
the commitment and dedication of all my colleagues 
across the Society. Every single person has contributed 
to these results as they focus on providing the best 
possible service for our members. I remain proud and 
humbled by their dedication and tenacity in the face of 
everything we have dealt with over the last 2 years. I am 
sure that we will continue to go from strength to 
strength as we identify further opportunities for 
continuous improvement to our products and service. 
The net result is a service to our members that is second 

to none, whether they are saving for the future or have 
realised a dream to own their own home.  

As Jack details above, the economic outlook remains 
uncertain, although it does seem clear that inflation, 
exacerbated by increasing global tensions, will increase 
the cost of living and cause difficulties for many, 
particularly the increase in energy costs. Adapting to 
climate change and the transition to a greener economy, 
together with responding to regulatory requirements on 
operational resilience, including cyber security, and the 
new consumer duty are other issues currently occupying 
our thoughts. 

Your Board continues to remain very aware of these 
ongoing risks and challenges and regularly reviews and 
implements appropriate actions to ensure we pursue a 
safe and prudent path into the future.  

Your Board remains confident of our future viability and 
sustainability and is committed to continuing with our 
ambition and investing in your Society to ensure it 
remains relevant and fit for the future. Our strategy is 
centred on five pillars: 

1. People - inspire brilliant people across the 
Society with a member focused culture. 

2. Members - provide members and brokers with 
an outstanding service and experience. 

3. Community - committed to positive engagement 
& support of the local community. 

4. Resilience - develop the resilience of our Society, 
powered by digital and data. 

5. Sustainability - manage and reduce our impact 
on the environment. 

I remain extremely proud and privileged to lead your 
Society and really value being part of a member focused 
and member owned business where every colleague 
strives to “do the right thing.” I would very much like to 
thank all our people and members for your ongoing 
support, commitment and loyalty and really hope that 
we will be able to meet in person during 2022. I look 
forward to delivering our exciting and ambitious strategy 
and delivering for you. 

                                                 
Andrew  Craddock  

Chief Executive 
18th March 2022
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STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MANAGEMENT 
PURPOSE STATEMENT 
The Society has a clear purpose statement that defines ‘why we exist’,  

Improving the lives of our members and communities through supporting  
home ownership and encouraging saving 

The Society uses this purpose statement to guide our activities, our decision making and to hold ourselves to 
account.  

In understanding how it relates to the different aspects of our business, we break the Society’s statement into the 
following important parts: 

 Improving the lives – when anyone comes into contact with Darlington Building Society, they should feel 
better off – whether that is because they have received excellent service, been supported with their financial 
needs, or taken a product that meets their needs. 

 Our members – here we are referring to anyone with a mortgage (of more than £100) or savings account (of 
more than £100) with us. 

 Communities – simply put this is the people in our region, whether that be our staff, charities and other 
organisations we support as well as our online community. 

 Through supporting home ownership – as a Building Society, one of our primary goals is to enable people to 
purchase their own home. 

 Encouraging saving – this is our other primary goal, to help people to save money for the things they want – 
over the short, medium and long term, and in doing so become more financially aware. 

OUR VISION 
Darlington Building Society’s vision is to be a thriving, independent, regional Building Society that creates a feeling of 
pride amongst its staff, members and community. The Society works continuously to have a positive impact for our 
members, staff and in the region and communities in which we operate. 

As a mutual, we are committed to sharing our funds, people, resources, physical spaces and skills for mutual benefit. 
Focusing on what counts, and not just what’s counted, we aim to optimise profit, not maximise it. 

The Society’s ambition is to deliver a competitive and relevant range of mortgage and savings products into the 
financial services market and deliver an excellent service to our members. 

STRATEGY 
The Society’s long-term strategy focuses on five ‘strategic pillars’ outlined in the Chief Executive’s Review (page 8).  

OUR BUSINESS MODEL 
Darlington Building Society offers a range of mortgage and savings products throughout England, Wales and 
Scotland. Savings products are available through the Society’s branch network with the Society having an online tool 
for viewing and managing savings products.  

The Society’s mortgage products are available through our direct sales team as well as through intermediaries. 
Members can also access mortgage products online to monitor balances and payments.  

Financial advice is offered for savings and investments through a relationship with a third party.  
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The Society’s business model, detailing how it generates income as well as where it incurs costs, is set out below:  

 

 Interest: The difference between the interest and 
fees charged on mortgages and the interest paid to 
members who save with the Society. 

 Liquidity Interest: The Society also keeps money 
and funds in banks, including the Bank of England, 
on which interest is paid to the Society. 

 Fees and commission: The Society receives fees and 
commission from third parties on other financial 
products. 

 Other Operating Income: The Society sub-lets or 
rents some of its property assets to third parties. 

 

 Staff Costs: These are the salaries of all our staff 
across our branch network and head office as well 
as associated tax, pension and benefit costs.  

 Administrative Expenses: These are the operating 
costs of running the Society.  

 Provisions: Money is put aside for bad debts and to 
provide against loans the Society believes may 
default in the future.  

 Tax: The Society pays UK corporation tax at the 
prevailing tax rate. 

 The Society uses profits made in the following ways: 

1. Supporting and investing in our local community through donating 5% of our profits after tax through our 5% 
pledge. 

2. Growing and maintaining the Society’s capital strength to meet regulatory limits and ensure the Society is a 
strong and resilient business, and can continue to grow its lending. 

3. Investing in our members and the Society by delivering improved products and services. 

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT 
The Society operates in a highly regulated environment and is authorised by the Prudential Regulatory Authority 
(PRA) and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the Prudential Regulatory Authority. The Society 
has detailed internal procedures and policies in order to maintain regulatory compliance and protect the Society’s 
members, staff and other stakeholders. This compliance covers a number of socio-environmental and commercial 
protections for example Health & Safety at work, competition law, bribery law, security of payments and equality 
and diversity legislation.   

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
We have a duty to members to manage the risks that arise from our business operations. In doing so, our strategy 
and policies aim to protect members’ funds, safeguard Group assets and maintain the financial strength of the 
Group.  

In order to manage the principal risks and uncertainties, the Society has developed a risk management framework 
which outlines how risk is managed across the Society and Group. Further details of the Society’s Risk Management 
Framework are given in the ‘Risk Management Report’ section on page 22. 

 

Group Income
2021

Interest

Liquidity interest

Fees and
Commission

Other Operating
Income

Group costs
2021

Staff Costs

Administrative
Expenses

Provisions

Tax
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 
The Chief Executive’s Review has outlined the Society’s 
successes throughout 2021 including our strong 
financial performance. This Review gives further detail 
on the financial performance and position of the 
Society (and wider Group). 

SUMMARY  
Our financial performance improved significantly on 
the prior year as the result of a robust recovery from 
the initial impacts of the Coronavirus pandemic. Profit 
before tax for 2021 was £3.2m up from £0.7m in 2020. 

  

A strong recovery in the UK residential housing market 
helped the Society to achieve mortgage lending of over 
£155m, ahead of prior year (2020: £124m) and the 
Society’s 2021 target. Funding costs also remained low 
through the year, as the historic low interest rate 
environment persisted, resulting in the Society’s net 
interest income increasing in the year. 

Costs increased year on year as planned investment in 
key areas such as IT infrastructure and systems 
supporting key business functions were funded. These 
increased costs were in line with our plan and develop 
the proposition and resilience of the business as it 
looks to the future. 

The Society’s balance sheet also increased to over 
£750m at the end of the year (2020: £705m) with the 
mortgage book growing to £616m (2020: £584m) and 
an increase in funding from Shares, Deposits and Loans 
(SDLs) to £698m (2020: £653m). The Society’s capital 
base remained strong with our capital ratio (Common 
equity tier 1, CET1) maintained at 17.1% (2020: 17.1%). 

 

THE ECONOMY  
The economic picture of 2021 was dominated by the 
continued impact of Coronavirus. Changes in the 
profile of the pandemic, most significantly the 
emergence of the Omicron strain, meant that 
uncertainty around mid- and long-term economic 
metrics remained high through 2021. Concerns also 
continued around the longer-term potential downside 
risk of Brexit on some businesses and sectors. New 
risks emerged in the UK as inflation increased in late 
2021 as well as wider geo-political unrest. Whilst these 
risks meant uncertainty remained high through the 
year, the UK did start to show recovery from the worst 
elements of the pandemic and UK GDP recovered to 
above pre-pandemic levels.  

Positive government interventions in employment and 
the housing market were effective in supporting 
people through the pandemic. Whilst house prices 
increased by over 10% in 2021 as demand for 
residential property remained high, risk nonetheless 
exists in the market following the end of government 
support schemes in the second half of the year. 
Unemployment rates for the UK were encouragingly 
low at the end of 2021 though regional differences 
remain, with levels in the north east significantly above 
the national average.  

MORTGAGE AND SAVINGS MEMBERS 
Supporting home ownership and encouraging saving is 
the core of our purpose. Whilst in 2021 we saw a small 
reduction in the total number of mortgage members, 
the Society completed over 780 new mortgage 
advances supporting over 1,350 members achieve 
their housing goals, whether that be buying their first 
home or moving into a new property. The Society also 
retained over 65% (2020: 65%) of mortgage maturities 
on new products in the year as most of our mortgage 

705 



 
 

Page | 12  
 

members chose to stay with the Society at the end of 
their product term.  

The resilience of the UK residential housing market and 
the high demand for residential property through 2021 
drove lending ahead of the Society’s business plan 
despite the challenging economic environment and 
ongoing pandemic. As a result, the Society’s total 
mortgage book grew £32m in 2021 to £616m (2020: 
£584m). The Society’s legacy commercial mortgage 
book continued to reduce in the year, from £10.2m at 
the beginning of the year to £6.5m. The Society no 
longer offers commercial loans. The Society’s 
residential mortgage book grew by £42m in 2021 
(2020: £34m), before provisions and other accounting 
adjustments (see Note 24g). This growth has been 
achieved through lending that aligns with our purpose 
and risk tolerances as well as supporting our margin. 

 

As Bank Base Rate increased by 15bp in December 
2021, the Society supported mortgage members by not 
passing any of this increase to its Standard Variable 
Rate ensuring the mortgage payments of members on 
variable rate mortgage products, as well as those 
already on fixed deals, did not increase. 

The Society was also able to help over 2,500 new 
savings members start their saving journeys in 2021. 
This, alongside supporting additional saving from 
existing members, resulted in a £27m increase in the 
Society’s retail savings balances from the start of the 
year. 

 

 

It has been a challenging period for savers with rates of 
return for retail savings suppressed by low bank base 
rate and the availability of lower cost government 
funding. The Society strived through 2021 to provide 
good value to its savers in this challenging market. This 
was particularly evident with the Society offering a 
Best Buy Junior ISA saver. Further to this, when the 
bank base rate increased by 15bp in late 2021, the 
Society took the opportunity to pass the full benefit of 
this increase to all its variable rate accounts. 

PROFITABILITY AND MARGIN 
The Society’s net interest income increased to £14.0m 
in 2021 from £10.3m in the prior year, an increase of 
36%. This was partly the result of the prior period 
including a range of one-off financial impacts that 
affected the Society’s income as the pandemic hit the 
UK.  More significantly, the more favourable than 
anticipated macro-economic and market conditions in 
2021 supported strong mortgage lending. 
Furthermore, the Society maintained a broad and 
competitive range of mortgage products in an active 
housing market when many peers withdrew from 
some lending areas and loan to value (LTV) bands. As a 
result, the Society saw growth in its mortgage book 
and a 15% increase in interest receivable year on year. 

Whilst interest income increased, interest payable 
costs for the Society reduced as the low interest rate 
environment continued. Furthermore, Bank of England 
Term Funding Scheme (TFSME) reduced the Society’s 
average cost of funding and wholesale funding costs 
remained at very low levels.  

COSTS AND INVESTMENT 
The Society saw a large increase in administrative costs 
from 2020 to 2021. This was the result of two main 
factors. Firstly, in 2020 the Society recorded lower 
administrative costs as some areas of expenditure or 
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investment were slowed by Coronavirus lockdowns. 
Expenditure was also tightly controlled until the full 
impact of the pandemic on financial performance was 
understood. Secondly, in 2021 there was significant 
investment in key areas within the business such as 
mortgage origination software and IT infrastructure.  

As a result of these factors the management expense 
ratio (administrative expenses and depreciation/mean 
total assets) increased through the year to 1.56 (2020: 
1.37). However, given net interest income increased at 
a faster rate than costs in 2021, an improvement was 
seen in the cost/income ratio with it reducing to 78.3% 
(2020: 88.2%).  

 

The Society’s subsidiary, Darlington Homes Ltd, 
disposed of its former Head Office on the outskirts of 
Darlington in 2021. The asset, which had been retained 
but rented to a third party since vacating the site in 
2012, was sold for a small profit to book value of 
£0.2m. The disposal of this property removes a 
significant risk of volatility in investment property 
valuations from our income statement and releases 
management time previously devoted to oversight of 
the property.  

PROVISIONS 
There has been only a very small charge for 
impairment of the Society’s mortgage assets in 2021 of 
£16k (2020: £201k). Whilst the overall movement is 
small there has been a release of £0.1m from the 
Society’s commercial provisioning as the size of this 
legacy book has reduced in the year. Conversely the 
Society has increased the level of provisions it holds in 
relation to the risks associated with the UK’s 
emergence from the pandemic and its potential impact 
on macro-economic and market factors by £0.1m 
(within a post model adjustment). 

We continue to engage with those still facing financial 
difficulties and offer further tailored support and 
forbearance based on their circumstances.  

Forbearance can include measures such as accepting a 
reduced monthly payment or agreeing to a temporary 
transfer to interest only. We expect these borrowers to 
resume their normal monthly payments once they are 
able.  

As at 31 December 2021, the Society had forbearance 
measures in place for 52 accounts (2020: 55) with an 
outstanding balance on these accounts of £3.5m 
(2020: £3.0m). The Society also had no properties 
taken into possession at the year-end (2020: none).  

Further information on the credit risk within the loan 
book, including information on the forbearance being 
offered by the Society is given in Note 24 to the 
Accounts. 

 
LIQUIDITY AND FUNDING 
The Society’s overall liquidity holdings have increased 
year on year to £123.6m (2020: £111.5m). This has 
been to support growth of the balance sheet and as a 
result of the Society accessing the TFSME Scheme from 
the Bank of England as part of its funding 
diversification strategy. As described above, retail 
funding levels increased £27m in the year as the 
Society welcomed new savings members and 
encouraged the saving habits of existing members. The 
Society’s exposure to wholesale funding has been 
reduced in 2021 to £6m (2020: £12.5m) as retail and 
TFSME levels increased. As a proportion of our balance 
sheet, our liquidity levels have increased slightly year 
on year (2021: 17.7%, 2020: 17.1%). 

 

1.38 
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The PRA monitors liquidity risk through the Capital 
Requirements Regulation (CRR) framework using the 
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR). The Society’s LCR at 
year end was 367% (2020: 238%) significantly above 
the regulatory minimum of 100%.  

CAPITAL  
As a member owned Building Society, our objective is 
to optimise, rather than to maximise profitability and, 
with no need to make dividend payments to 
shareholders, we can focus more on ensuring long 
term stability and resilience for our members. The 
Society aims to make sufficient annual profit to allow 
growth, support investment in the business and 
protect capital ratios whilst still providing value to our 
members through products and services. 

The Society’s strong profitability in 2021, as well as 
actuarial gains on the Society’s pension plan, 
contributed to capital reserves increasing to over £50m 
(2020: £46.6m). The Society’s capital ratio (CET1) 
remains strong and comfortably in excess of regulatory 
requirements at 17.1% (2020: 17.1%). Our leverage 
ratio also remains strong at 5.9% (2020: 6.1%) again 
comfortably in excess of regulatory requirements.  

 
 

 
The Society’s regulatory capital (the capital resource 
available to assess capital adequacy as defined by the 
UK regulator) has increased through 2021 from £44.2m 
at the beginning of the year to £46.1m. Whilst capital 
requirements increased in the year to £37.2m (2020: 
£35.9m), driven primarily through balance sheet 
growth, the Society’s surplus over these regulatory 
requirements grew by c. £0.5m.  

Further information on the Society’s Capital adequacy 
calculations can be seen in the Pillar 3 disclosures 
which are available on the Society’s website. 

FINANCIAL OUTLOOK 
Risks around trading conditions and economic stability 
experienced in 2021 are expected to persist through 
2022 and, potentially, beyond. Risk still exists as the UK 
emerges from the Coronavirus pandemic around long 
term economic scarring, changes in consumer 
behaviour and the potential for new strains of the 
virus. Encouragingly business confidence metrics in 
early 2022 suggest that concerns around Omicron and 
its economic impact are fading. 

Inflationary pressures in early 2022 are increasing the 
cost of living for UK households and adding pressure to 
the affordability of mortgage payments. The Monetary 
Policy Committee has responded by increasing Bank 
Base Rate in late 2021 and early 2022 in an attempt to 
control inflation. The Society will continue to engage 
with and appropriately support mortgage members 
where needed. The Society remains confident in its 
lending underwriting processes to protect the quality 
of mortgage lending and does not expect significant 
losses to emerge. 

Lastly, significant competition in the mortgage market, 
resulting in highly competitive pricing are expected to 
persist through 2022. The Society completes significant 
stress testing and scenario planning for a range of 
economic and market outcomes and believes it is well 
positioned to manage any further disruption in the 
housing or wider economy. 

The Society’s business model is not directly exposed to 
Ukraine or Russia minimising any potential impact 
from the conflict started in late February 2022. The 
impact of this situation on the Global and UK economy 
will however continue to be monitored by the Society. 
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The risks facing the Society and the actions being taken are discussed further in the Risk Management Report on 
page 22 of this Annual Report and Accounts.  

HOW WE MEASURE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
The Board has identified key areas that will significantly impact the performance of the Group and its success in 
achieving its strategic objectives. These key areas have been used to formulate a balanced scorecard that measures 
the Society’s and Group’s progress and performance. The scorecard includes a range of financial and non-financial 
metrics and is shown below:  
 

  Measure Metric 2021 2020 

Business 
Performance 

Core Mortgage Growth Net lending secured by residential property (£’m) 42 34 
Core Retail Funds 
Growth Increase in Retail Funding (£’m) 27 19 

Growth Increase in Total Assets (%) 6.7 5.8 

Cost Efficiency 
Management Expenses Ratio (%)  1.56 1.38  
Cost/Income (%) 78.3 88.2 

Financial 

Margin Net Interest Margin (%) 1.98 1.68 
Profitability Profit After Tax (£'000) 2,507 636 

Capital 
ROCE (% of Prior Year Reserves) 6.80  1.61 
Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio (%) 17.1 17.1 

Credit Loans past due more than 3 months (£,000) 2,273 1,666 
Liquidity Liquidity % of Shares and Borrowings (%) 17.7 17.1 

  
Members 
  

Customer Satisfaction Net Promoter Score 86 85 
Member Engagement Active Customers (No.) 49,653 50,410 
Local Impact Community Impact Projects (No.) 28 16 

People 
Staff Engagement Staff Survey Result (score out of 900) 711 713 
Staff Turnover Annual Staff Turnover (%)  28.8 11.9 

 
 
NB: Key Performance Indicators of the Group required by statute are given in the Annual Business Statement on page 
103. A glossary of the terms used in the table above, and throughout the Annual Report and Accounts, can be found 
at the end of the document. 
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OUR IMPACT ON THE ENVIRONMENT 
The Society launched its climate change strategy in December 2021 and is committed to reducing negative impacts on 
the environment. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 
The Society recognises that climate change and sustainability are critical issues not only globally but also in our local 
operating area. This potentially has significant implications for our members, colleagues, suppliers, the communities 
we serve, and the Society.   The Society is committed to being part of the solution for climate change and to make 
purposeful progress towards a net zero emission pathway in a manner proportionate to the Society’s business model 
and operations.  To this end, the Society’s Board has agreed an overall strategic statement to:  
 
 “Operate a sustainable business model that manages the impacts of climate change and supports the orderly 
transition to a greener, net zero economy”.   
 
At a broad level, this means the Society will seek to minimise its scope 1, 2 and 3 greenhouse gas (GHS) emissions (as 
defined below) to the extent feasible in support of the UK target of meeting net zero by 2050. 

 Scope 1:  Direct emissions from owned sources such as emissions from heating and lighting. 
 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation and consumption of purchased electricity, such as the 

electricity bought by the Society to power its branches. 
 Scope 3:  Other indirect emissions that occur in the value chain such as emissions from the Society’s 

mortgage properties. 

 
In making this commitment, the Society acknowledges that there is more it needs to do to understand and measure 
its carbon footprint and set targets accordingly.  The Society is making progress, but there is a long journey ahead.  
This will include working with members, colleagues, communities, and suppliers to reduce carbon emissions.  For 
example: -  

 Members:  Delivering green propositions and supporting environmental awareness. 
 Colleagues: Promoting a climate-focussed culture to help colleagues live greener lives. 
 Community: Supporting local communities and charities to protect the environment. 
 Suppliers: Taking opportunities to influence carbon reduction in supply chains. 

 
In setting and delivering its climate change strategy, the Society will continue to re-evaluate and effectively manage 
the financial and reputational risks arising from climate change, to ensure it remains a sustainable business over the 
long-term, as explained below. 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE RISKS AND DISCLOSURES 
During 2021, the Society has continued to make progress in understanding and managing the risks associated with 
climate change in line with regulatory expectations.  These include the impacts of physical risk and transition risk, 
which are widely recognised as the primary causes. 
 

 Physical Risk: The risks arising from the increasing severity and frequency of climate and weather-related 
events such as flooding.  This can potentially result in financial loss in respect of impaired mortgage assets as 
well as disruption to the Society’s business operations.  

 Transition Risk: The risks arising from the process of adjustment towards a lower carbon economy.   This can 
potentially result in financial loss in respect of impaired assets and credit worthiness of borrowers in respect 
of home energy efficiency and costs as well as the reputational implications to the Society of failing to 
deliver against stakeholder expectations.   
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The Task Force on Climate related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) provides a recognised framework for reporting.   While 
the Society is not yet able (or required) to fully adopt the recommendations of TCFD, it is working towards this, and 
the table below provides a summary update against its key themes. 
 

TCFD Theme 

Strategy Progress Future Focus 

Disclose the actual 
and potential 
impacts of climate-
related risks and 
opportunities on the 
business, strategy, 
and financial 
planning where such 
information is 
material. 

 Climate change has been integrated into the Society’s 
strategy, under the sustainability pillar, and as such is a 
key area of discussion during Board strategy and 
planning sessions. 

 The Society has undertaken scenario analysis, in a 
proportionate manner, to understand the longer-term 
impacts of climate change and to inform planning and 
product development. 

 The Society’s most material climate risk exposures are 
to mortgage lending and the reputational consequence 
of failing to make progress against stakeholder 
expectations. 

 Green mortgage and savings products have been 
launched alongside member surveys to test appetite for 
these products and enable future refinement based on 
performance and feedback. 

 Engagement with different 
stakeholders to develop a 
common understanding of 
climate-related impacts, needs 
and actions. 

 Further development of products 
and propositions to support 
mortgage customers in the 
decarbonation of their homes, 
while ensuring those negatively 
impacted by climate change are 
appropriately supported. 

Governance Progress Future Focus 

Disclose the 
governance around 
climate-related risks 
and opportunities. 

 The Board has ultimate accountability for managing the 
risks arising from climate change, and this has been 
built into strategy, culture, and board training. 

 Consideration of climate change risk has been 
incorporated into the Society’s committee structures 
and roles and responsibilities. 

 The Chief Risk Officer has been allocated overall 
responsibility for the continued embedding of climate 
change risk strategy and its integration into the 
Society’s ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance) 
agenda. 

 A cross-functional Climate Change Steering Group is in 
operation to oversee timely delivery against agreed 
climate change actions. 

 To build climate related 
measures into corporate and 
personal objectives, to ensure 
positive actions on climate 
change are appropriately 
incentivised. 

 To develop the quality and 
frequency of management 
information on climate change 
risk and performance, with a 
commitment to ongoing training 
and engagement across the 
Society. 

Risk Management Progress Future Focus 

Disclose how climate-
related risks are 
identified, assessed 
and managed. 

 Integration of climate change risk into the Society’s Risk 
Management Framework, aligned to expectations set 
out by the Prudential Regulation Authority for 2021. 

 Engaged with external firms to provide expert advice, 
support, and training on climate change risk 
management in 2020 and 2021. 

 Climate-related risk data analysed at a portfolio level, 
with the support of third-party analytics, to better 
understand physical and transition risk exposures. 
An impact assessment of the Society’s climate change 
risks and mitigants across all principal risk categories, 
identifying areas for further action. 
 

 Improve capture and use of 
climate risk data and analysis, to 
support the assessment and 
mitigation of financial and non-
financial risks.   

 Independent assurance by 
Internal Audit on the quality and 
level of embeddedness of the 
Society’s climate change risk 
management. 
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Metrics & Targets Progress Future Focus 

Disclose the metrics 
and targets used to 
assess and manage 
relevant climate-
related risks where 
such information is 
material. 

 Climate change risk data is being used for internal 
purposes to establish a baseline for setting targets, with 
an expectation for external disclosure in future 
reporting periods. 

 Prioritising the process of gathering more data points 
on scope 1 and 2 emissions to enable evaluation of the 
Society’s carbon footprint and to establish actions and 
targets. 

 Analysis of the mortgage portfolio for physical risk and 
transition risks, to develop management information 
and provide a baseline for determining targets. 

 Initial estimation of scope 3 emissions attributable to 
the Society’s mortgage book using the Partnership for 
Carbon Accounting Financials (PCAF) Global Emission 
Standard as a reference guide. 
 

 To build out data sets on carbon 
emissions and risks associated 
with climate change and improve 
understanding and confidence in 
data quality and limitations.  

 Enhance climate change metrics 
and targets, informed by risk 
assessment outputs and changes 
in strategy, and improve the 
coverage and transparency of 
external disclosure. 

 
As the Society has started to evaluate and quantify the impact of climate change on its business, it has completed 
preliminary climate change assessments, with the input of 3rd party expertise. These assessments have been 
completed across a range of potential climate change scenarios and considered different climate change impacts, in 
relation to physical and transition risks. The assessments completed have not identified any idiosyncratic or 
unacceptable risks within the Society’s mortgage portfolio to which the business is exposed at the balance sheet date. 
The impact of climate change within mortgage impairment has also been considered by the Society as part of the 
assessment of the carrying value of the mortgage book.  Climate change is viewed over a long-term time horizon and 
the Society will continue to monitor and measure the impacts as part of its risk management process. 
 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 
Through engagement with our partners and stakeholders, the Society will continue to develop its knowledge of climate 
change and take action to manage the impacts on its business model and its members, in a proportionate manner. 
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OUR IMPACT ON OUR PEOPLE AND COMMUNITY  
PEOPLE 
Our people are our greatest asset and sitting at the very heart of the Society and the communities we serve, they 
ensure we support and deliver an authentic and passionate service that places the member at the forefront of all we 
do.  

We see ourselves as a “family” who work together to deliver the best possible service we can to our members. By 
investing in our people, nurturing their talent and expertise, it enables us to not only continually develop the Society 
for our members and local communities, but for them as individuals to achieve their own goals and aspirations.  

2021: Successes and challenges 
The year provided us with challenges beyond those which we had seen in 2020. The labour market opened to 
unprecedented levels of demand and opportunities for all. Demand for financial services and retail banking skills and 
experience was high and external wage inflation was seen across our sector. Many of our people also re-assessed 
both life and career ambitions and chose different paths either retiring, travelling, or transferring skills to different 
sectors and professions.  

Despite the challenges our people remained highly engaged. We were recognised for a second year running by Best 
Companies as a 2 Star organisation with outstanding levels of employee engagement. This is an independent award, 
measured by our colleagues’ individual views and opinions.  

In another independent survey around inclusivity, hosted by the Financial Services Skills Commission, through our 
people’s responses, we were recognised as the top organisation for promoting an inclusive culture and for our 
people feeling a sense of belonging.    

Agile working 
We adapted and changed the way we would work in the future. The pandemic brought with it the necessity to work 
from home where we could. We quickly realised it had a real part to play in the longer-term benefit for our 
workforce in supporting their work-life balance. We created agile working practices and spaces, invested in 
technology and when safe to do so, encouraged face to face interaction to recommence to gain key collaborative 
working benefits. We converted parts of our physical sites to accommodate blended meeting styles and took away 
more traditional departmental based offices, replacing them with collaborative zones and hot desking. In branches 
we reviewed our opening hours, underlining our commitment to supporting our colleagues’ wellbeing. The new 
hours better reflected member visiting patterns and provided a great work-life balance for colleagues through 
improved shift rotations. 

Nurturing Excellence  
We invested in our next generation of employees and created new roles to support branch staff on busy Saturdays. 
These new roles offered young students work around their studies whilst giving them a start on the career ladder. 
We hope many of them grow with the Society in the forthcoming years and take up the opportunities we have to 
offer. Our apprenticeship programme continued from strength to strength, with many taking up promotions and 
further opportunities in the Society throughout the year. 

“Growing our own” has been a key focus of our people strategy for many years and despite the challenging year we 
were still dedicated to achieve this with over 40 colleagues strengthening their knowledge, skills and experience by 
moving roles through either promotion, diversification or secondment.   

We are passionate about investing in the learning and development of our people and within the year offered over 
134 different learning events for them to benefit from and over 5,000 hours were recorded across all our people in 
continuing professional development hours.  
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Future commitments  
In 2022 we have great ambition to refresh our people strategy, embracing more agile working practices including the 
option of flexible working for all employees as a day one right. We will further invest in our leadership, enhancing 
skills and capability to support our people, to support our members and communities. We will also focus more on 
our ambition to be more inclusive and develop our recruitment strategy to ensure we truly reflect the diversity in 
the communities we serve.  

COMMUNITY  
Our Community Vision sits at the heart of our support for our local communities. Relaunched in 2021, our vision 
brings together and celebrates everything the Society and our colleagues do to improve people’s lives in our local 
communities. As part of its refresh, we created four key pillars of focus to support making a real tangible difference 
to our members and the communities in which they live.  

 

Through sharing our profits, sharing our time, sharing our knowledge, and sharing our space we believe we can 
increase the breadth of charities and good causes we are able to support across the region, whilst enabling us to 
impact more people in a wider variety of ways.  

Our 2021 aim was to address the key issues impacting the local people, in the areas of health and wellbeing, skills 
development and unemployment and staying connected; areas where many of our members and communities had 
become particularly isolated during the pandemic’s social restrictions.  

Furthermore, our ambition looked to support the objectives of the UN Sustainability Development Goals (SDGs) and 
identified five of the SDGs to which we felt we could contribute in 2021.   

 

 

 

 

 

Sharing our Profits 
Through our 5% sharing pledge we were able to support, with collaboration from County Durham Community 
Foundation, over 28 charities or good causes with just under £90,000 of donations.  

Some of the ways we made an impact in the region and our areas of focus: 

 Good health and wellbeing: A donation of £6,000 to the Walk and Talk Trust, who promote the physical and 
mental health benefits associated with regular healthy exercise, specifically walking. The grant will enable 
them to facilitate walking programmes for local primary school children. 
 

 Skills development and quality education: A donation of £14,000 to the Clervaux Trust enabled them to 
expand their education facilities for their residential care centre focused on young people and adults with 
complex learning needs. 
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 Quality Education and staying connected: Teesside Community Action Group (TCAG) received £2,000 to 
fund activity packs for hundreds of children through the holidays. The charity’s Summer Activity project 
helped children who were unlikely to access face-to-face organised activities during the holidays. 

Sharing our Time 
We worked hard to improve our regional network across the charity sector and connected with regional 
volunteering groups to support them and their charities in benefiting from the new approach, whilst broadening the 
opportunities for our own colleagues to volunteer themselves. 

Through this network, despite social restrictions, our people still volunteered over 900 hours working with the likes 
of Darlington Cares with Community Litter Picks and Covid and Flu Marshalling, St Teresa’s Hospice, NE Autism 
Society, Family Help, Community Steppingstone, Darlington Food Bank, Daisy Chain, Feeding Families, Billingham 
food bank and The Festival of Thrift.  

Local partnerships  
We launched our Local 5 concept which gave each of our nine branches, plus Head Office, the ability to adopt five 
local charities, or good causes, for a full year. Through this adoption we have been able to create strong partnerships 
and networks in our operating areas and support those charities in a wide variety of ways under our dedicated four 
pillars of sharing our profits, sharing our time, sharing our knowledge and sharing our space.  

The future 
We aim to focus more of our time in supporting the region in education matters in the forthcoming years and 
work with local schools, colleges and universities to support in areas of expertise such as savings and home 
ownership, as well supporting in areas of job readiness and employability skills 
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RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT 
APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Risk Management Framework (RMF) is a set of components that provides the foundations and organisational 
arrangements for designing, implementing, monitoring, reviewing and continually improving risk management 
throughout the Society.  This ensures a consistent approach to the management of all material risks and is used to 
inform business management and decision making, at both strategic and operational levels. The RMF is reviewed 
annually by the Board Risk and Compliance Committee (BRCC), on behalf of the Board. The Chief Risk Officer (CRO) 
has responsibility for its implementation. 

RISK GOVERNANCE 
Risk governance refers to the mechanisms through which risk management is delegated from the Board to 
Committees or individuals to manage the day-to-day activities of the Society.  This includes operation of committees 
with a specific risk management focus.   

The BRCC, which is chaired by Ian Wilson, is responsible for monitoring the emerging and principal risks which affect 
the business. This is further supported by management level committees, including the Executive Risk Management 
Committee, Operations & Change Committee, Asset & Liability Committee and Product & Pricing Committee.   

RISK CULTURE 
Risk Culture reflects the Society’s core values, beliefs, desired behaviours, and importantly, the clarity of 
understanding and accountability required for transparent and timely decision making.  Risk culture is a key element 
of effective risk management, underpinning how the RMF is embedded across the Society, and reflected into 
strategic and operational decision-making.  

The Society promotes an open risk culture in which concerns about potential inappropriate or excessive risk taking 
are reported, without fear of reprisal. 

 RISK APPETITE STATEMENT 
The Risk Appetite Statement (RAS) is an expression of the Society’s appetite for risk to meet its strategic objectives, 
whilst recognising the rewards for risk, the risks embedded in operating a business and the regulatory environment 
in which the Society operates.   The RAS is reviewed and approved by the BRCC and Board annually. 

STRESS TESTING AND PLANNING 
Stress testing, for both internal and external shocks, is used to understand the potential impact of risks to the 
Society’s business model and options to mitigate or manage them.  Stress testing is a key part of the Society’s 
corporate planning process and detailed capital and liquidity assessments that enables the Board to be satisfied that 
the Society has sufficient capital and liquidity resources, even under a range of severe, but plausible, scenarios. 

THREE LINES OF DEFENCE 
The Society operates a Three Lines of Defence approach towards risk management which seeks to differentiate 
between: 

 1st line of defence, those with direct responsibility for taking and managing risk in a controlled environment,  
 2nd line of defence, those with responsibility for embedding the risk management framework, overseeing its 

integrity and reviewing the effectiveness of first line controls; and 
 3rd line of defence, providing independent assurance across the 1st and 2nd lines of defence. 

 

RISK UNIVERSE AND PROFILE 
In line with the UK Corporate Governance Code requirements, the Society has performed an assessment of its 
principal and emerging risks. The Society has identified five principal risk categories comprising: Strategy and 
Governance; Credit, Prudential, Operational; and Conduct and Compliance.  Prudential Risk is further split into sub-
components covering Funding and Liquidity Risk, Market Risk and Capital Risk. These principal risks remain 
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unchanged from 2020 and are closely monitored and managed, alongside emerging risks and uncertainties, with an 
update at each BRCC. 

Unsurprisingly, the COVID-19 pandemic has continued to impact the Society’s risk profile, with the impact felt across 
the range of principal risks and presenting significant uncertainties.   

A review of principal risks, together with key mitigating controls and additional commentary covering performance 
in the year is set out in the table below, followed by a summary of emerging risks. 

Principal Risk Risk Description Risk Mitigation 2021 Performance  
Strategic & 
Governance 
Risk 

External Uncertainty 
 
The risk that market 
conditions or an 
economic downturn or 
prolonged uncertainty 
has a detrimental 
effect on the Society 
achieving its 
objectives. 

 Continued monitoring of economic data 
and political events, with risk analysis 
provided to each BRCC and Board 
meeting. 

 Risk Appetite monitoring and contingency 
planning when events manifest.  

 Forecasting and monitoring of financial 
and business performance. 

 Stress testing undertaken on potential 
scenarios through the Corporate Plan. 

 Close monitoring of the competitive 
environment and the Society’s product 
range to ensure it remains reflective of 
changing conditions and target markets. 

 A strong financial and business 
performance, as measured against 
agreed objectives and forecasts. 

 A continued focus on strong 
governance and leadership and 
clear and open communication with 
colleagues. 

 Additional stress testing and 
sensitivity analysis to understand 
impacts under a range of alternative 
scenarios presented by the external 
environment, including the COVID-
19 pandemic and the UK exit from 
the European Union. 

Pension Risk 
 
The risk of financial 
deficit in the Defined 
Benefit Plan. 

 The Independent Pension Trustees of the 
Society’s Defined Benefit Plan are 
responsible for managing the scheme and 
determining and implementing an 
appropriate investment strategy.  This is 
managed by a specialist third party, with 
Society oversight provided by the Pension 
Oversight Committee. 

 The Society has taken steps to de-
risk the Scheme. The Scheme 
remains in surplus despite the 
volatility seen in equity and bond 
markets. 

Credit Risk The risk that a 
member, customer or 
counterparty may not 
be able to meet their 
obligations to the 
Society as they fall 
due. 

 A Board approved Credit Risk appetite is 
in place and is carefully monitored. 

 Responsible Lending Policy and Financial 
Support Policy, underpinning sound 
lending practices and customer support 
and forbearance strategies. 

 Thorough underwriting assessments of 
applications and independent appraisal of 
collateral. 

 Provisioning methodologies that reflect 
lending risk characteristics and 
performance. 

 Credit risk metrics monitored regularly 
through Risk Management Committee. 

 Deep-dive reviews of new lending and 
portfolio analytics to understand and 
manage credit risks. 

 Controlled wind-down of the Society’s 
commercial lending portfolio. 

 Prudent approach to treasury 
counterparty exposures. 

 The credit quality of the Society’s 
lending portfolio has remained 
stable and within appetite, with 
arrears well below UK Finance 
averages. 

 There have been further 
redemptions and run-off in legacy 
commercial exposures. 

 Customers in financial difficulty 
have continued to be supported in 
line with internal practices and 
regulatory guidance. 

 The Society has implemented a new 
mortgage origination platform that 
will provide improved automation 
and control. 

 The Society’s lending policy has 
been kept under active review, with 
close management of credit risk 
practices in the context the COVID-
19 pandemic. 
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Principal Risk Risk Description Risk Mitigation 2021 Performance  
Prudential 
Risk 

Funding and Liquidity 
Risk 
 
The risk that the 
Society may not be 
able to meet its 
financial obligations as 
they become due, or 
may do so only at a 
disproportionate or 
excessive cost. 

 A Board approved Liquidity Risk appetite 
is in place and is supported through the 
Financial Risk Management Policy. 

 The key assumptions, risks and controls 
around the management of liquidity risk 
are outlined in the ILAAP and Recovery 
Plan documents which are approved 
annually by the Board. 

 The Society operates a range of internal 
stress tests to ensure that sufficient 
liquidity is always available. 

 The Asset and Liability Committee 
monitors the liquidity position and 
forecast monthly. 

 Retained a strong liquidity portfolio, 
consisting of high-quality assets, 
predominately held in the BoE 
reserve account. 

 Maintenance of liquidity ratios 
within internal limits and well in 
excess of regulatory requirements. 

 Replenishment of collateral 
prepositioned with the BoE to 
provide access to its liquidity 
facilities, as needed. 

 Drawings through the BoE Term 
Funding Scheme (TFSME), as part of 
a balanced funding profile. 

 Additional stress testing and 
sensitivity analysis to understand 
potential liquidity impacts and make 
the necessary product and pricing 
adjustments. 

Market Risk 
 
The risk that the 
income from, or value 
of the Society’s assets 
and liabilities may 
change when affected 
by fluctuations in 
market rates such as 
house price index, 
inflation and interest 
rates. 

 A Board approved Market Risk appetite is 
in place and is supported through the 
Financial Risk Management Policy.  

 The Society monitors Market Risk through 
a series of defined metrics. 

 The Asset and Liability Committee 
oversees the Society’s management of 
Market Risk. 

 A dedicated Treasury function exists to 
manage this risk with Second line 
oversight from Risk and Compliance. 

 The Society does not actively trade; 
market risk is in respect of banking book 
assets only. 

 Market risk exposures have been 
retained within acceptable ranges. 

 Stress testing and sensitivity 
analysis has been undertaken to 
understand the impact of different 
rate environment and formulate 
balance sheet actions. 

 Review of product and customer 
strategies in response to BoE 
interest rate action.   

 Design and approval of a treasury 
development roadmap to mature 
risk sophistication and capability. 

 Analysis and monitoring of 
economic and hedge accounting 
considerations, in the context of 
more volatile market pricing. 

Capital Risk 
 
The risk of insufficient 
capital (both in 
quantum and quality) 
to absorb losses and 
maintain stakeholder 
confidence through a 
full economic cycle. 
 

 A Board approved Capital Risk appetite is 
in place and is managed through the 
Financial Risk Management Policy. 

 The key assumptions, risks and controls 
around the management of capital risk 
are outlined in the ICAAP and Recovery 
Plan documents which are approved 
annually by the Board. 

 

 Capital ratios have operated within 
risk appetite, with a healthy surplus 
over internal limits and regulatory 
minimum requirements. 

 The Capital Strategy was further 
refined with a focus on sustainable 
growth and optimisation. 

 Stress tests were undertaken as part 
of the Corporate Planning Process, 
to understand potential 
vulnerabilities and formulate 
response plans. 
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Principal Risk Risk Description Risk Mitigation 2021 Performance  
Operational 
Risk 

The risk that an 
exposure or loss may 
arise from inadequate, 
inappropriate, 
insufficient or 
otherwise failed or 
failing internal 
processes or systems, 
human error or 
external events. 

 A Board approved Operational Risk 
appetite is in place and is managed 
through the Risk Management 
Framework. 

 The Risk Management Framework sets 
out how colleagues are expected to 
identify, assess, monitor, manage and 
report their risk exposures. 

 Operational Loss Events are identified 
through a dedicated system. 

 The Risk Management Committee 
provides oversight across the Society’s 
operational risk exposures. 

 There is a three lines of defence review in 
place which challenges compliance with 
the framework. 

 Operational risk profile has 
performed within appetite, with 
improvements made to supporting 
tools and frameworks. 

 A deep focus on People Strategy, 
amid higher than average turnover 
in a challenging jobs market.  

 Continued focus on colleague and 
member safety and wellbeing, 
delivered through extensive 
guidance and support. 

 Investment in technology to 
improve automation and removal of 
manual workarounds. 

 Purposeful progression of 
operational resilience and cyber 
defence plans and controls. 

Conduct & 
Compliance 
Risk 

The risk arising from 
failure to treat 
customers fairly, meet 
expected customer 
outcomes or comply 
with relevant conduct 
regulations. 

 A Board approved Conduct Risk appetite 
is in place and is managed through the 
Risk Management Framework. 

 The Society promotes a positive risk 
culture, with a focus on customer 
outcomes. 

 Supporting frameworks and policy 
arrangements in place, including for 
coverage of product governance and 
complaints management. 

 Key conduct risk metrics are in place to 
manage and monitor the key conduct 
risks within the Society. 

 Horizon scanning of regulatory 
developments and oversight of key 
regulatory implementations. 

 A dedicated second line Risk and 
Compliance function has been 
established to monitor compliance with 
regulations in the Society. 

 Conduct related events and 
complaints have performed with 
within an expected range.  

 Implementation of new conduct risk 
appetite metrics for future reporting 
and monitoring. 

 Enhancements to Compliance 
Monitoring methodologies and 
capability. 

 Additional support to members with 
payment difficulties and/ or 
vulnerabilities, in accordance with 
regulatory guidelines.   

 Progression against new regulatory 
requirements, including completion 
of LIBOR transition. 

 Engagement with industry 
regulators, trade bodies and 
networks to enable a consistent and 
effective response.   
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EMERGING RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
The Society recognises that the environment in which it operates, and the nature of the threats that it faces, are 
continually evolving.  Therefore, a key feature of the Risk Framework is the consideration of emerging risks and how 
they may impact the Society.    

The external environment continues to dominate as the Society’s most significant risk driver, with key threats and 
focus areas including, but not limited to, those outlined below. 

Geopolitical and Macroeconomic Environment 
This Society’s business model is inherently exposed to any downturn in the UK economy, particularly a deterioration 
in house price valuations, unemployment, and affordability, impacting loan impairment and losses.  The UK economy 
has been significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, which continues to heavily influence economic 
performance and government policy.  While the run-off of government support schemes has, to date, had a more 
muted impact than many commentators predicted, prevailing headwinds remain, including disruption to supply 
chains, dislocation in labour markets and inflationary and affordability pressures.  

In addition, the emerging situation in Ukraine poses a risk to geopolitical stability, that will most certainly have 
profound humanitarian and economic implications.   
 
The Society believes it is well positioned to face into these challenges, underpinned by strong capital and liquidity 
resources, and effective frameworks for risk governance, stress testing and credit control. 

People Risk 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound impact on the jobs market, with firms reviewing their 
operating models and ways of working, and many individuals revaluating their needs and priorities. This has the 
potential to fundamentally change the dynamics of the workplace and is likely to create recruitment and retention 
challenges in the short to medium term. 

This is an emerging risk that the Society has been closely managing, with colleague engagement and well-being a 
core pillar of the Society’s strategy.  There are plans to make further changes and investments in this area, through 
the roll-out of the next phase of the Society’s People Strategy. 

Competitive Environment 
There are factors which could put pressure on the Society’s net interest margin.  These include a material slowdown 
of the housing market and intensifying competition due to excess liquidity levels held by large firms, or new entrants 
into the Society’s chosen markets.  The impact of changes in customer behaviours, specifically an acceleration in the 
preference for digital platforms and interactions, may also impact business volumes. 

The Society continues to monitor the market closely to ensure that its proposition is appropriately positioned and 
priced in target markets.  It also continues to engage with members to identify product and service enhancements 
for ongoing and future development and investment, to ensure that it remains relevant. 

Operational Resilience 
There is an increasing expectation from customers and regulators for the provision of resilient business services, 
with any prolonged disruption likely to attract significant reputational damage. 

The need to upgrade legacy systems, continue to adapt in a rapidly changing environment and place reliance on 
third party providers, all introduce complexity and risk that requires careful management. 

The Society is part way through a multi-year investment programme in technology, business change, and data 
management.  This will deliver improved resilience and security, but it is acknowledged that in the interim this will 
give rise to operational and execution risk, and the Society will continue to carry an element of legacy risk. 
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In line with regulatory expectations in this area, the Society intends to continue to build out its strategies and 
frameworks for operational resilience that focus on its important business services.  This will include scenario testing 
of important business services against pre-defined tolerance levels and undertaking any necessary remediation 
activity.  

Financial Crime and Cyber 
The risk of financial crime remains elevated as fraudsters and cyber-criminals seek to exploit distractions in the 
operating environment, using phishing or other attack vectors. 

While the Society’s business model carries a level of inherent risk at the lower end of the risk scale in financial 
services, protecting members from fraud and cyber-crime remains an important focus area.   This will be achieved 
through continuous improvement of system solutions, technical controls and an active programme of education and 
awareness.  

Climate Change 
The Society continues to evaluate and develop its response to the physical and transitional risks of climate change, 
to minimise the potential impact on members and to manage longer term financial risks.  This is a cross-cutting risk 
that impacts all principal risk categories. 

During the year, the Board discussed the impacts relating to climate change and used this output to formulate its 
Climate Change Risk Strategy, together with a plan of actions for 2022.   

It is anticipated that climate change will be an area of significant focus and challenge, presenting genuine risks to the 
Society’s stakeholders, and as such the Board is committed to making purposeful and timely progress against its 
agreed strategy and plans.   

Outlook 
While the above commentary provides insight into the Society’s thinking on emerging risks and is reflective of the 
key risk areas tracked and discussed by the Board and BRCC throughout the year, the overall outlook is one of 
continued uncertainty.  It is difficult to predict how the situation in Ukraine will impact the global and UK economy, 
or how customers, competitors and regulators will be impacted by the direct or indirect impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic.   However, the Society is entering 2022 from a position of strength and is confident it has the appropriate 
risk frameworks and culture in place to safely navigate the challenges ahead. 
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GOVERNANCE  
OUR DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE 
OUR DIRECTORS  
 

JACK CULLEN  
Chair 

 

ANDREW CRADDOCK 
Chief Executive 

 

ROBERT CUFFE MBE 
Vice Chair 

 
 

Jack has held numerous senior 
management and executive roles 
during his 40-year career within 
the financial services and risk 
management sectors. Included 
are: Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer of Sainsbury’s Bank; 
Retail Risk Management Director 
of Bank of Scotland; Group 
Security Director of Lloyds 
Banking Group; and UK 
Managing Director of Risk 
Management at National Bank of 
Australia (Europe). 

Personal message for 2022 
Our strategy to support 
Members and our Community by 
investing in our infrastructure 
and our people, thereby creating 
a strong and sustainable 
business, continues to deliver 
positive results. 2021 was a 
hugely positive year for our 
society and our stated strategy 
will continue to improve the 
products and services we offer, 
whilst always remaining true to 
the values of mutuality. I would 
be honoured to continue to lead 
the board in delivering these 
improvements. 

Andrew started his career at 
Barclays Bank where he spent 20 
years.  From there he moved to 
Allied Irish Bank where he spent 
a further 10 years, latterly as UK 
Chief Operating Officer. He was 
Chief Executive Officer of the 
Buckinghamshire Building Society 
for 4 years before joining the 
Society in December 2018. 

Personal message for 2022 
I am proud to be CEO of your 
Society, passionate about its 
purpose and humbled by the 
progress achieved, whilst 
navigating the disruption caused 
by the pandemic. I aspire for 
your Society to consistently 
provide an excellent service and 
ensure that our members are at 
the heart of every decision we 
make. My mission is to build a 
trusted, values-driven 
organisation, which continues to 
thrive, inspire its people and 
make a real difference to our 
members and the local 
community. 

A Teessider by birth, Robert spent over 
30 years in local media, latterly as 
Regional Managing Director of Trinity 
Mirror North East, publishers of the 
Gazette in Middlesbrough and the 
Chronicle, Journal and Sunday Sun in 
Newcastle. 

Personal message for 2022 
My priorities for the year are all about 
members and colleagues. We’ll 
continue to invest in the Society, its 
branch network and systems to make 
it easier for you, our members, to 
deal with us. Alongside this we’ll 
support our brilliant colleagues 
who’ve worked so hard over the last 
two years on your behalf. 
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CHRISTOPHER HUNTER 
Chief Operating Officer 

 

KATE MCINTYRE 
Non-Executive Director 

 

ANGELA RUSSELL 
Non-Executive Director 

 

Chris has over 20 years’ financial 
services experience, including 2 
years at Royal Bank of Scotland, 
2 years at Yorkshire Building 
Society and 15 years at Lloyds 
Banking Group. He has extensive 
knowledge of Treasury and 
Market Risk and spent his first 2 
years at the Society as Chief Risk 
Officer.  He is responsible for IT, 
Change, Underwriting, Financial 
Support and Mortgage and 
Savings Operations 

Personal message for 2022 
I’m looking forward to seeing the 
benefits of the Society’s change 
programme come to fruition to 
improve the service for our 
members.  Alongside this we will 
improve the working 
environment for our staff and 
ensure we continue to support 
members as we come out of the 
pandemic.  

 

A chartered accountant by 
background, Kate worked initially 
at PwC.  She subsequently had a 
varied career spanning sales & 
marketing, customer services, IT 
& change management, HR, 
strategy, risk management, as 
well as finance. Kate has worked 
primarily in financial services 
with roles at Skipton Building 
Society, First Direct, AXA PPP 
healthcare, Lloyds Banking Group 
and Engage Mutual Assurance. 

Personal message for 2022 
The last two years have been 
extremely challenging for 
everybody and many of us have 
re-evaluated what is important 
for our families and for our 
communities. I believe that the 
role which Darlington Building 
Society plays for its savers, its 
homeowners and within its 
communities is more important 
than ever. I am determined to 
play my part in ensuring that we 
remain relevant, vibrant and 
supportive not only for our 
members and our communities, 
but for our colleagues too. 

 

Angela retired as Deputy CEO and 
Finance Director of the Newcastle 
Building Society in 2018.  She is a 
Chartered Accountant and Certified 
Public Accountant with over 30 years’ 
experience in finance in the UK and 
abroad. Angela has worked in a 
variety of positions covering finance, 
risk, audit, project and corporate 
planning. She also worked for PwC for 
12 years in the UK and USA. 

Personal message for 2022 
I am very proud to be a Director of 
the Society as we genuinely put 
members, communities and 
colleagues at the heart of everything 
we do. I am Chair of the Audit 
Committee which is responsible for 
overseeing the integrity of the 
Society’s financial statements, the 
effectiveness of internal financial 
controls and audit processes. 2022 is 
set to be another busy year as we 
advance our digital change 
programme to improve our services 
for members whilst continuing to 
develop our colleagues and give back 
to communities across the region. If 
re-elected I will continue to apply my 
skills and experience to support the 
ongoing success of the Society for the 
benefit of our stakeholders.   
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CHRISTOPHER WHITE 
Chief Financial Officer 

 

IAN WILSON 
Non-Executive Director 

  

JESSICA WILLIAMS 
Non-Executive Director 

 
 

Christopher is a chartered 
accountant and fellow of the 
ICAEW (Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and 
Wales). He has worked for the 
Society for over 9 years having 
previously worked for PwC as an 
external auditor of financial 
services firms. 

Personal message for 2022 
Whilst my role is focused on 
ensuring the financial resilience 
of the Society, I am proud to 
have been part of the team that 
has guided the Society, its staff, 
members and community though 
the challenging past couple of 
years. I am sure 2022 will be 
another difficult year 
professionally and personally for 
many, but I look forward to 
supporting the Society’s journey 
in the coming year and beyond. 

Ian has over 40 years’ experience 
in retail financial services having 
held a number of executive roles 
in banks with a focus on strategy, 
organisational change and risk 
management. Ian now follows a 
portfolio career combining board 
advisory and non-executive roles. 

Personal Message for 2022 

Darlington is a strong, ambitious 
society firmly rooted in putting 
members and communities at 
the forefront of everything it 
does. If re-elected, I look forward 
to continuing this focus and to 
contributing to the future growth 
and success in a changing world. 

  

Jessica is the Founder and 
Managing Director of Just Williams, 
a purpose led sales and marketing 
organisation along with the Just 
Williams Sales Academy online, 
both of which are based in the Tees 
Valley. Jessica started her career at 
the Yorkshire Bank before working 
in the third sector and then 7 years 
ago launching her own business. 

Personal message for 2022 

After a year like no other, I 
continue to be committed to 
ensure our members remain at the 
heart of our Society. Investing in 
our infrastructure, increasing our 
community initiatives and 
supporting our colleagues and 
members throughout the past 
challenging year has highlighted 
the enormously valuable role our 
local mutual has to play in our 
communities and region. 

OUR EXECUTIVES 
The members of the Society’s Executive Team at 31 December 2021 were: Andrew Craddock (Chief Executive), 
Christopher Hunter (Chief Operating Officer), Christopher White (Chief Financial Officer), David Bews (Chief Risk 
Officer), Niki Barker (Director of People & Culture), Darren Ditchburn (Chief Customer Officer) and Sarah Horley 
(Credit Director). 

OTHER INFORMATION 
Head Office: Sentinel House Morton Road, Darlington, County Durham, DL1 4PT (www.darlington.co.uk)  

The Society is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by both the Financial Conduct 
Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority (Registration Number 205895). The Society is a member of the 
Building Societies’ Association and our Independent Auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ("PwC") 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
The Directors have outlined the performance of the 
Group within the Strategic Report on pages 3 to 15. 
DIRECTORS 
The members of the Board of Directors who served 
during the year were: 
 
Chair: Jack Cullen 
Vice Chair: Robert Cuffe  
 
Directors: 

Andrew Craddock 
Christopher Hunter 
Kate McIntyre 
Angela Russell 
 

Jon Sawyer* 
Christopher White 
Jessica Williams 
Ian Wilson 
 

*In July 2021, Jon Sawyer came to the end of his three-
year term and stood down. 
 
None of the Directors hold any shares in, or debentures 
of, any subsidiary of the Society. All Directors are 
members of the Society and have a minimum £1,000 
savings balance at the Society. 
 
The Chair confirms that a formal performance 
evaluation has been undertaken for all Directors and 
their performance continues to be effective and they 
continue to demonstrate commitment to their roles.  
All directors will seek re-election at the Society’s 2022 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
A detailed Business Review, assessment of Principal 
Risks and Uncertainties, identification of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) and future 
developments have been included in the Strategic 
Report on pages 3 to 27. 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring the 
adequacy of the Group’s corporate governance 
framework, which is set out on page 34. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
In line with good practice the Society regularly 
considers the appointment of the External Auditor. In 
2020 the Society completed a process to assess the 
firm to complete its external audit from its 2021-year 
end and onwards. Following this process, the Society 
was pleased to propose PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
(“PwC”) to the 2021 Annual General Meeting where 

they were appointed as Independent Auditors to the 
Group. 
 
As part of the appointment process, the Audit 
Committee confirmed the suitability of PwC to 
complete the Group’s external audit. This included 
assessing their independence, expertise and capacity. 
Following the completion of the 2021-year end audit 
process, the first year with PwC, the Committee will 
complete a review of their effectiveness. 
 
PwC have expressed their willingness to continue and 
in accordance with Section 77 of the Building 
Societies Act 1986, a resolution is therefore proposed 
at the Annual General Meeting for their re-
appointment as auditors of the Group. 
 
STATEMENT ON DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO 
AUDITORS 
Each of the Directors at the date of the approval of 
this report confirms that: 

 So far as the Director is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the Group’s 
Independent Auditors are unaware; and 

 The Director has taken all the steps that should 
be taken by a Director in order to be aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the Group’s independent auditors are 
aware of that information. 

GOING CONCERN AND VIABILITY 
The Directors have prepared forecasts of the Group’s 
financial position covering at least a period ending 12 
months from the date of approval of these financial 
statements. In doing so they have also considered the 
effects on the Society’s business of operating under 
stressed but plausible operating conditions. This 
assessment has included consideration of the ongoing 
impact of the Coronavirus pandemic as well as other 
macro-economic, sector and business risks. As a result, 
they are satisfied that the Society and the Group have 
adequate resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, the accounts 
continue to be prepared on a going concern basis. 

In addition to the going concern statement above, the 
Directors, in line with the Corporate Governance Code 
(2018), have assessed whether both the Society and the 
Group will be able to continue to operate, and meet its 
liabilities, as they fall due over the long term. The Group 
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determines its viability over a 5-year horizon, which is 
consistent with the approach in previous years. This 
period has been selected to: 

 align with the Group’s five-year corporate 
planning and stress testing process.  

 cover the period the Directors believe they can 
form a reasonably firm view of the key 
macroeconomic factors associated with business 
performance. 

Assessment of going concern and viability 
The following areas have been considered and assessed 
to ascertain the going concern and viability of the Group: 

 Risk Assessment.  
 Current and Forecast Group Performance. 
 Results of Stress Testing of Key Areas. 

Risk Assessment 
The Principal Risks faced by the Society and Group have 
been detailed within the Risk Management Report on 
page 22 alongside the mitigation in place within the 
business for each risk. The Group ensures that the risks 
identified within the business, through the risk 
management framework, are incorporated within the 
Corporate Planning process to ensure the Group’s 
strategy adequately addresses and considers each area 
of risk. The Risk Management Report also details 
emerging risks the Group has identified as well as detail 
on the Groups assessment of these risk. 

The Directors have considered and recognised the 
increased risk in the shorter and longer term given the 
significant uncertainty with geopolitical and 
macroeconomic factors. This has included assessment of 
the impacts of the conflict in Ukraine and the potential 
future impacts of Coronavirus. 

Current and Forecast Performance  
The Group has detailed its 2021 results within the 
Strategic Report on pages 3 to 27. This analysis shows 
the Group profitability increased to £3.2m in 2021 
(2020: £0.7m) as the Society and wider Group showed a 
robust recovery from the impacts of the Coronavirus 
pandemic. The capital position remains strong with a 
CET1 ratio of 17.1% (2020 17.1%),  

The Society has also continued to demonstrate its ability 
to deliver strong growth in its mortgage book in a 
competitive market, and the Society has continued to 
source and diversify the funding it requires to support 
asset growth. 

The Group annually produces a 5-year Corporate Plan 
which details the strategic direction of the business as 
well as its financial forecasts for the period. The 
Directors review the Group’s Corporate Plan with 
particular focus on forecast capital, profitability, liquidity 
and other key financial metrics to assess viability. 

The 2022 – 2026 Corporate Plan shows that the Society 
and Group continues to expect to grow its capital 
reserves through the 5-year planning horizon through 
retained profits. The Group has also outlined in the 
Corporate Plan that the business model for the Society 
remains focused on mortgage lending within the UK as 
well as the provision of savings products through the 
Society’s local operating area and nationally. The Plan 
builds on the investment in key systems and processes 
seen in 2020 and 2021 to deliver the Society’s strategic 
objectives. The Board recognises the current challenges 
and risks in the mortgage lending market but concludes 
that the strength of the Society’s current offering, the 
opportunities available to the Society and the aims and 
objectives of the Society adequately mitigate these risks. 

Stress Testing 
The Group’s 2022 – 2026 Corporate Plan also includes a 
range of stress tests to assess the strength of the Group, 
its capacity to manage a stress and the credibility and 
scope of a range of management actions it would be 
able to use in a stress scenario. These stresses include an 
assessment of the potential impacts of a more negative 
macro-economic environment on the expected financial 
performance of the Group. These assessments cover the 
potential impact if assumptions made by the Group in 
relation to factors such as the Coronavirus pandemic are 
worse than expected.  

Significant inflationary pressures in 2021 and early 2022 
have led to increases in the Bank Base Rate with markets 
expecting numerous further increases through 2022. The 
stresses performed against the 2022-2026 Corporate 
Plan have therefore focussed on the risks associated 
with these macro-economic pressures. The stress 
scenarios have assessed the impact of different 
trajectories, both in the scale and timing of changes, for 
bank base rate on the Society’s net interest income. 
Stress testing has also been completed to determine the 
potential impact on mortgage impairment as increased 
cost pressures from high inflation potentially add 
pressure to mortgage affordability. The impact of 
inflationary pressures on the Groups cost base have also 
been assessed. 



 
 

Page | 33  
 

Further to this, when appropriate, the Group produces 
updates to the financial budget within the Corporate 
Plan to assess the impact of different outcomes in other 
potential shifts in customer behaviour and changes in 
the wider mortgage and savings market. 

The Group also completes annual stress testing of its 
capital and liquidity. In line with regulatory guidance, 
these stress tests are ‘severe but plausible’ scenarios. 
Capital stress testing ensures that internally and 
regulatory determined capital requirements are resilient 
to stresses and includes the completion of the scenario 
stress testing outlined annually by the Prudential 
Regulatory Authority (PRA). Liquidity stress testing 
ensures that the quality and quantity of liquidity held by 
the Group is adequate to meet business as usual 
liquidity requirements as well as increased requirements 
that could be seen during a period of stress.  

Going Concern: The Directors are satisfied that the 
Group has adequate resources to continue its operations 
and meet its liabilities as they fall due throughout the 
next 12 months and that, therefore, it is appropriate to 
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements. 

Viability Statement: Based on the assessments above, 
the directors have a reasonable expectation that the 
Society and Group will be able to continue its 
operations, and to meet its liabilities as they fall due, 
over the next five years. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT  
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report, Annual Business Statement, Directors’ Report 
and the Annual Accounts in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations. 

The Building Societies Act (“the Act”) requires the 
Directors to prepare Group and Society Annual Accounts 
for each financial year. Under that legislation they 
elected to prepare the Group and Society Annual 
Accounts in accordance with UK Accounting Standards 
and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 
“The Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102)”. 

The Group and Society Annual Accounts are required by 
law to give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs 
of the Group and the Society as at the end of the 
financial year, of the income and expenditure of the 

Group and the Society for the financial year and of the 
cash flows of the Group and Society for the financial 
year. In preparing each of the Group and Society Annual 
Accounts, the Directors are required to: 

 select appropriate accounting policies and apply 
them consistently 

 make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent 

 state whether applicable accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the 
accounts 

 prepare the Annual Accounts on the going 
concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Group will continue in business. 

In addition to the Annual Accounts, the Act requires the 
Directors to prepare, for each financial year, an Annual 
Business Statement and a Directors’ Report, each 
containing prescribed information relating to the 
business of the Group. The Directors are responsible for 
ensuring that the Group: 

 keeps proper accounting records that disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Group and Society in accordance 
with the Act; and 

 takes reasonable care to establish, maintain, 
document and review such systems and controls 
as are appropriate to its business in accordance 
with the rules made by the Financial Services 
Authority under the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000. 

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the 
assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and 
other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Group’s website. 
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and 
dissemination of Annual Accounts may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on 
its behalf 

   Jack Cullen 
 Chair of the Board 

18th March 2022 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
Your Directors are committed to applying best practice 
in corporate governance commensurate with our mutual 
status and our activities. This report explains to 
members our approach which is based on the UK 
Corporate Governance Code published in July 2018. 

Although the UK Code is primarily aimed at listed 
companies, the Society’s Board is committed to 
operating in line with best practice standards of 
corporate governance. For this reason, and to meet the 
expectations of the Society’s members and other 
stakeholders, the Board chooses to have regard for the 
UK Code, in so far as possible and relevant to building 
societies. 

BOARD LEADERSHIP AND COMPANY PURPOSE 
Your Board is committed to the principles of mutuality. 
The Board meets regularly to review performance 
against long term strategic and operational objectives.  
Details are included in the Corporate Plan. The Board has 
delegated powers for some responsibilities to Board and 
Executive Committees as detailed below. However, it 
retains matters reserved for the full Board as disclosed 
on our website at www.darlington.co.uk. In addition, the 
Board has general responsibilities to ensure that the 
Group: 

 operates within its constitution; 
 complies with appropriate legislation and 

regulations; 

 

 has proper accounting records which are 
established, maintained, documented and 
audited; 

 has effective systems of business control which 
are established, maintained, documented and 
audited; and 

 takes decisions on specific matters such as major 
investment and capital purchases. 

 
The Board also establishes and monitors the strategic 
objectives of the Group. Decisions such as mortgage 
applications within agreed mandate levels, funding 
within operating limits and Human Resources issues are 
delegated to Management. All Directors meet without 
the Chair present at least once a year. 

All Board Members have the benefit of appropriate 
liability insurance at the Society’s expense. All Board 
Members have access to independent legal and other 
appropriate professional advice, if required.   

The attendance of Directors at the scheduled Board 
and Board Committee meetings is set out below.  
Against each Director’s name is shown the number of 
meetings at which the Director was present as a 
member and in brackets the number of such meetings 
that the Director was eligible to attend during the year. 

 

 

 2021 Committee Attendance 
Director Board Board Risk Audit Nominations Remuneration 
A Craddock 9 (9) -  - 3 (3) - 
R Cuffe 9 (9) 7 (7) - 3 (3) 4 (4) 
J Cullen 9 (9) - - 3 (3) 4 (4) 
C Hunter 9 (9) - - - - 
K McIntyre 9 (9) 7 (7) 4 (4) - - 
A Russell 9 (9) 7 (7) 4 (4) - - 
J Sawyer* 5 (5) - 2 (2) - - 
C B White 9 (9) - - - - 
I Wilson 9 (9) 7 (7) 3 (4) - - 
J Williams 9 (9) 4 (4) 3 (3) - 4 (4) 

 
*In July 2021, Jon Sawyer came to the end of his three-year term and stood down. Further detail is given in the 
Nominations and Governance Committee report on page 37. 
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The Board has established a number of sub committees (see table below), more detailed reports from the Chairs of 
each Committee can be found in subsequent sections: 
 

 
 
DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES   
The offices of Chair of the Board (Chair) and Chief 
Executive are distinct and held by different people. The 
role of each is set out in their letter of appointment or 
service agreement and job description. The Chair is 
responsible for leading the Board, setting its agenda and 
ensuring its effectiveness. The Chief Executive is 
responsible for managing the Group’s business within 
the parameters set by the Board. To ensure a smooth 
relationship between the Board and the Executive, the 
Chair and Chief Executive maintain an ongoing dialogue 
throughout the year. 

The Chair 
The Chair is responsible for setting the Board’s agenda 
and ensuring that adequate time is available for 
discussion of all agenda items, in particular strategic 
issues. The job description of the Chair includes the 
following requirements: 

 Leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness 
on all aspects of its role and setting its agenda. 

 To provide an environment to allow Directors to 
continually update their skills and knowledge and 
familiarity with relevant matters to enable them 
to fulfil their role on the Committee. 

 Ensuring effective communication with members. 
 Facilitating the effective contribution of Non-

Executive Directors and ensuring constructive 
relations between Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors. 

 Acting on the results of Board performance 
evaluation by recognising the strengths and 
addressing the weaknesses of the Board and, 
where appropriate, proposing new members be 
appointed to the Board or seeking the resignation 
of Directors. 

In addition, the Chair will ensure that all new Directors 
are subject to an induction programme which is specific 
to their needs. This will include a written development 

plan and an early introduction to appropriate building 
society regulations. 

Each year the Chair carries out a performance review 
with all Directors. The review will identify any training 
and development needs and explore how these can be 
satisfied. 

The Chair will hold a meeting each year, or more 
frequently if required, without the Executive Directors 
being present. 

The Chair has a crucial role in ensuring that the needs 
and views of members are communicated to Directors 
and appropriately actioned. 

Non-Executive Directors 
Non-Executive Directors are responsible for 
constructively challenging and helping to develop 
proposals on strategy in the production of a robust 
Corporate Plan, to scrutinise the performance of 
Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives. 
They must also satisfy themselves on the integrity of 
financial information and that the systems of risk 
management and internal control are robust and 
defensible. Their role also includes determining 
appropriate levels of remuneration for Executive 
Directors and Executive succession planning. 

The Vice Chair leads a process to appraise the Chair’s 
performance annually with input from all Board 
members.  

Non-Executive Directors are given the opportunity to 
attend meetings with members. Where Directors have 
concerns which cannot be resolved about the running of 
the Society or a proposed action, they will ensure that 
their concerns are recorded in the Board minutes. 

A specific meeting is held each year to consider and 
refine the strategy reflecting external environment and 
internal priorities and to agree future strategy. 
Strategies are documented in the Corporate Plan which 
is agreed by all Directors after comprehensive debate. 
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Senior Independent Director 
The Senior Independent Director must be independent 
of Management and free from any business or other 
relationship that could materially interfere with the 
exercise of their independent judgment. In the view of 
the Board, this means that the Senior Independent 
Director cannot be an Executive Director. Primarily the 
Senior Independent Director provides a sounding board 
for the Chair and serves as an intermediary for the other 
Directors, on a confidential basis, when necessary. 

The Senior Independent Director is available to members 
for issues which have not been resolved by either the 
Chair, Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer or Chief 
Operating Officer. As such, they will act to strengthen 
the relationship with our members by providing a 
complementary channel, alongside the Chair, Executives 
and other Non-Executive Directors, to reassure members 
that they are able to communicate effectively with the 
whole Board. 

The Senior Independent Director is responsible for 
ensuring that there is adequate succession planning in 
place for the replacement of the Chair. If the role of 
Chair becomes vacant, and the Senior Independent 
Director is a candidate, they will vacate the role of 
Senior Independent Director during the recruitment 
period. 

THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 
At the 2021 year end, the Board comprises three 
Executive and six Non-Executive Directors. All Non-
Executive Directors are considered by the Board to be 
independent in character and judgement and free of any 
relationship or circumstance which is likely to affect, or 
could appear to affect, the Director’s judgement. 

The Chair, Jack Cullen, does not hold any other 
directorships and the Society is not aware of any other 
potential conflicts of interest. 

APPOINTMENTS TO THE BOARD  
On an annual basis the Nominations & Governance 
Committee reviews the balance of skills, experience, 
independence and knowledge on the Board against the 
requirements of the Group. The Terms of Reference of 
the Nominations & Governance Committee, which are 
on our website www.darlington.co.uk state that the 
Chair of the Board will not act as Chair of the 
Nominations Committee when it meets to consider his 
successor. 

Following an evaluation of the role and capabilities 
required for a particular appointment new appointees to 
the Board are made on merit and against objective 
criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity 
on the Board. In the light of this evaluation the 
Nominations & Governance Committee will prepare a 
description of the role and capabilities required for a 
particular appointment. Candidates for Non-Executive 
Directorships are identified in a variety of ways, 
including inviting applications from members, press 
advertisements and utilising specialist HR Search 
organisations. 

Eligible members of the Society have the right under the 
Society’s Rules to nominate candidates for election to 
the Board. All Directors must meet the tests of fitness 
and propriety laid down by the Regulator. The Regulator 
reserves the right to interview candidates before an 
appointment is confirmed. 

The Society concentrates upon qualitative rather than 
quantitative areas with the desire to recruit and retain a 
diverse workforce. Darlington Building Society aims to 
be an inclusive organisation, where diversity, equality 
and respect are more highly valued than numerical 
targets for diversity. 

The gender diversity of the Society as at 31 December 
2021, with 2020 comparatives parenthesised, is shown 
below: 

 Female Male 
All Staff 70% (72%) 30% (28%) 
Senior Management 
(Executive Committee) 

35% (29%) 65% (71%) 

Board 33% (30%) 67% (70%) 

COMMITMENT 
All letters of appointment contain a clause stating that 
any Director must be able to devote sufficient time and 
resource to fulfilling the duties of a Director of a 
financial services firm. All Directors are appraised during 
the year and this requirement is part of the appraisal 
process. Prior to appointment all new Non-Executive 
Directors are required to disclose their other 
commitments together with a broad indication of the 
time involved and they agree to notify the Board of any 
subsequent changes. 

Existing Executive service contracts require Executive 
Directors to disclose similar information.
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NOMINATIONS AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS  
Jack Cullen, Chair – Non-Executive Director  
Robert Cuffe – Non-Executive Director  
Andrew Craddock – CEO, Executive Director  
 
OTHER ATTENDEES  
David Bews (Chief Risk Officer) has acted as Secretary to the Committee and attended meetings in his role as Society 
Secretary.  
 
PURPOSE OF THE COMMITTEE  
The committee is responsible for:  

1. Board composition and effectiveness – ensuring that the Board and its committees comprise directors with 
the appropriate balance of skills, experience, backgrounds and opinions, to fully discharge their duties in a 
highly effective manner.  

2. Succession planning – considering the succession planning of the Board, Executive Directors and other 
Executives.  

3. Governance – ensuring that the Board meets the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code (“the 
Code”), and appropriate regulatory requirements relevant to its remit.  

4. Diversity – reviewing the Society’s equality and diversity statement and monitoring progress against it, 
encouraging equality and diversity at all levels within the Society with an aim of being representative of all 
sections of the local area in which we operate.  

COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE  
The Committee held three meetings during 2021. A report was made to the Board following each meeting with the 
full minutes distributed to all Board members. Attendance at meetings during 2021 is shown on page 34 and 
information on the skills, qualifications and experience of directors can be found in the biographies on pages 28 to 
30.  

KEY ACTIVITIES IN 2021  
Board & Committee Composition  
The Committee reviewed the composition of the Board, to ensure it comprised a sufficient number of executive and 
non-executive directors, who meet the requirements as set out by the Code and the Senior Managers Regime. The 
Committee also monitors the composition of Board Committees. As part of this review, the current mix of directors’ 
skills, experience, backgrounds and opinions were considered using a competency skills matrix. The review 
concluded that, in the main, there was a good level of diversity and coverage in respect of the Board’s requirements. 
The primary focus is to ensure directors’ skills complement each other and achieve an appropriate balance. This in 
turn ensures members’ interests are protected and the business has appropriate leadership and direction to ensure 
the long-term sustainable success of the Society. Continuing professional development plans for the Board as a 
whole, and for individual directors, is agreed on an annual basis.   

The Committee reviewed the length of service of each Non-Executive Director and the potential impact on Board 
Committee membership of those directors who are nearing the end of their term of appointment. Non-Executive 
Directors are appointed for an initial three-year period and may be proposed for a second and third term, up to a 
maximum of nine years in total, providing they are considered to remain independent from the Society. These terms 
are subject to ongoing performance evaluations and to annual re-election by members of the Society at the Annual 
General Meeting.   

As at 31 December 2021, none of the non-executive directors have been in office for more than nine years. Although 
during 2022, Robert Cuffe, the Vice Chair, will have been on the Board for over nine years. This has been reviewed by 
the Committee and the Board has agreed that his appointment be extended to the AGM in 2023 to retain his skills, 
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knowledge and experience, and to provide continuity during the challenges of the ongoing pandemic. He is 
considered to continue to meet the requirements to be considered independent.  

Early in 2021, the Board decided to reduce its overall membership from ten to nine, to align the size of the Board 
with other societies of a similar size, with three Executive Directors and six Non-Executive Directors. During the year 
Jon Sawyer came to the end of his three-year term and to maintain the Board membership at nine he stood down in 
July 2021. There were no other changes to the Board or Executive during 2021.  

Tenure at 
31/12/21 

Number of non-
executive directors  

% of non-executive 
directors  

0-3 years 3 50%  
3-6 years 1 17%  
6-9 years 2 33%  
  
Board & Committee Effectiveness  
The Board undertakes a formal annual evaluation of its performance and that of its Committees, together with an 
annual review of the performance of individual directors. In accordance with the Code, which recommends the 
evaluation of the Board to be externally facilitated every three years, an external effectiveness review was carried 
out in 2020 by BP&E Global Ltd (“BP&E”). BP&E confirmed that they considered the Board to be effective, with no 
critical changes necessary, although some enhancements were recommended to assist the Board and its 
Committees to become more effective. The Committee has continued to monitor the implementation of 
recommendations from this review.  

During 2021, the Board and all Committees conducted an internal annual evaluation of their performance which 
were coordinated by the Nominations and Governance Committee. These reviews consisted of completion of a 
questionnaire followed by discussion of the results by the Committee and agreement of action plans to address any 
issues identified. The questionnaires cover the following areas: Establishing an effective committee, running an 
effective committee, training and professional development and other matters. The Board and all the Committees 
were considered to be effective, with some enhancements recommended for implementation.  

 
GOVERNANCE  
Throughout the year, the Committee received updates from the Society’s Secretary on the actions being taken to 
ensure compliance with the Code. Additionally, the Committee is updated annually with an assessment against the 
provisions and principles of the Code and in 2021, the Society has regard to the Code, as far as is relevant for a 
building society.   

The Committee reviews on an annual basis the Society’s Corporate Governance Manual and recommends changes to 
the Board for approval. The manual includes the following:  

1. General description and principles of good corporate governance.  
2. Management responsibilities map including allocation of regulatory responsibilities.  
3. Division of responsibilities between the Chair and the CEO.  
4. Matters reserved to the Board, Board and Committee terms of reference.  
5. Memorandum and Rules of the Society.  
6. Delegated Authority Framework.  
7. Internal Audit Engagement Letter and Charter.  
8. Memorandum and Articles of Association for Darlington Homes Ltd.   

During the 2021 annual review only one meaningful change was recommended, to update the rules of the Society to 
the Building Society Association Model Rules 7th Edition, approved by the Financial Conduct Authority. The Society 
adopted the 6th Edition Model Rules and the Deferred Shares Addendum in 2014 which was the last time the model 
rules were materially updated. The key changes to the rules, which are predominantly based on experience during 
the pandemic are: 
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1. To allow members’ meetings to be held electronically and/or in more than one physical location. 
2. To clarify the procedures for adjourned meetings. 
3. To clarify the quorum requirements for meetings. 
4. To improve the requirements regarding giving notice of meetings in the event of disruption to postal 

services. 
5. To reflect the requirements of The Mental Health (Discrimination) Act 2013. 

 
Conflicts of interest and Directors’ independence  
The independence of all Non-Executive Directors was assessed against the criteria set out in the Code, taking into 
account their length of service. The Committee considered potential conflicts of interest by undertaking a review of 
all external appointments held by each Director, against the limitations on the number of appointments which can 
be held by an individual. The review concluded that all appointments remained appropriate, with no concerns arising 
regarding the ongoing independence of each Non-Executive Director or their ability to commit the necessary time to 
the Society.   

 
KEY AREAS OF FOCUS FOR 2022  
In the coming year, the Committee will continue to focus on ensuring the Society has a strong governance structure. 
It will provide ongoing oversight of the composition of the Board and succession planning, with particular emphasis 
placed on inclusion and diversity, the development of a strong and diverse pipeline of colleagues for the Executive 
team and the Board, and succession arrangements for the Vice Chair and Senior Independent Director who at the 
AGM will have completed nine years’ service on the Board.  

 

Jack Cullen  
Chair of the Nominations and Governance Committee  

18th March 2022 



 
 

Page | 40  
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 
The Audit Committee presents the report on the work of the Committee during 2021.   

COMMITTEE MEMBERS  
The Committee comprises independent Non-Executive Directors as detailed below: 
 
Angela Russell, Chair – Non-Executive Director 
Kate McIntyre - Non-Executive Director  
Jessica Williams - Non-Executive Director  
Ian Wilson - Non-Executive Director  
 
Attendance at meetings during 2021 is shown on page 34 and information on the skills, qualifications and experience 
of Directors can be found in the biographies on pages 28 to 30. 

The Committee members have been selected to provide the wide range of financial and commercial expertise 
necessary to fulfil the Committee’s duties. At least one member of the Committee meets the requirements of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code to have recent and relevant financial experience. 

Committee members are selected for appointment by recommendation of the Nominations & Governance Committee 
in consultation with the Chair of the Audit Committee.   

OTHER ATTENDEES 
The Committee invites Executive Directors and other members of the Executive team, as appropriate, to attend 
meetings when it is felt that this would help it to discharge its duties. In addition, the meetings are attended by both 
Internal and External Auditors.  

PURPOSE OF THE COMMITTEE  
The Audit Committee is an essential part of the Society’s governance framework to which the Board has delegated 
oversight of the Society’s financial reporting, internal financial controls, internal audit and external audit.  This report 
provides an overview of the Committee’s work and details how it has discharged its responsibilities during the year. 

The responsibilities of the Committee are in line with the provisions of the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) Guidance 
on Audit Committees. The Terms of Reference for the Committee are reviewed on an annual basis.  

The main function of the Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, specifically the 
ongoing review, monitoring and assessment of: 

 The integrity of the financial statements, any formal announcements relating to financial performance and 
significant financial reporting judgements. 

 The effectiveness of the system of internal financial control. 
 The effectiveness of the internal and external audit processes, including objectivity and independence. 
 The appointment, re-appointment and removal of the External Auditors. 
 The policy on the use of External Auditors for non-audit work. 
 The effectiveness of whistleblowing procedures. 

COMMITTEE MEETINGS  
The Committee meets formally at least four times each year coinciding with key dates in the financial reporting 
calendar and the requirement to approve key documents including the Internal Audit Plan.  

Following each Committee meeting, the minutes of the meeting are distributed to the Board, and the Committee 
Chair provides an update to the Board on key matters discussed by the Committee. 

Meetings may be attended by the Non-Executive Directors, and, by invitation, the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Risk Officer.  Other relevant senior managers are also invited to 
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attend certain meetings in order to provide insight and enhance the Committee’s awareness of key issues and 
developments. The outsourced Internal Auditor, KPMG LLP (KPMG), and the External Auditor, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC), are also invited to each meeting. Every year the Committee meets at least once 
with the External Auditor and the Internal Auditor, without Management being present. The Chair of Audit 
Committee meets regularly with Internal and External Audit outside of Committee meetings.  

KEY AREAS REVIEWED DURING 2021 
The Committee met four times during the year and focused on the following matters: 

Financial Reporting 
The primary role of the Committee in relation to financial reporting is to review and assess, with Management and 
the External Auditor, the integrity and appropriateness of the annual financial statements concentrating on amongst 
other matters: 

 The quality and acceptability of accounting policies and practices. 
 The clarity of the disclosures and compliance with financial reporting standards and relevant governance 

reporting requirements.  
 Advising the Board on whether the Annual Report and Accounts, when taken as a whole are fair, balanced 

and understandable and provide information sufficient for members to assess the Society’s performance and 
strategy. 

 The material areas in which significant judgements have been applied or where there has been discussion 
with the External Auditor. 

To aid its review, the Committee considered reports from the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Internal 
Audit, other Senior Management and the External Auditors on the outcomes of their audit work. 

Members of Audit Committee display the necessary scepticism their roles require in challenging those material areas 
within the financial statements where significant judgements have been applied.  The primary areas of judgement 
considered by the Committee in relation to the 2021 year-end accounts were: 

 Revenue recognition – review of the policy covering the design, implementation and effectiveness of 
controls around the calculation of interest income and charges, including the timing of fees and commission 
recognition under effective interest rate (EIR) methodologies. 

 Loan loss provisions – the review of judgements used to determine timing and recognition and valuation of 
loan loss provisions in line with FRS 102 and IAS 39. In 2021 this has included reviewing the methodology and 
assumptions used in a Post Model Adjustment provision first adopted by the Society in 2020 to reflect 
increased risk in the valuation of residential and commercial property as a result of the Coronavirus 
pandemic. Further information on the Post Model Adjustment is given in Note 12. 

 Investment property valuations – the review of Valuation Reports prepared for the Group by third party, 
expert, RICS valuers as well as the assumptions and judgements used to determine the valuation of 
investment properties in line with FRS 102.  

 Hedge accounting – review of policies applied to calculate the effectiveness of hedges and the impact on the 
Income and Expenditure Account and the Balance Sheet under IAS 39. 

 Going concern and viability – areas considered included the quality of the mortgage book, liquidity and 
funding requirements, capital adequacy, pension liability, regulatory requirements and budgets and 
forecasts (including under stressed scenarios). The Committee also assessed the impact of Coronavirus and 
the UK leaving the EU on the going concern and viability of the Group. 

 Retirement benefits – judgement required as to the assumptions used by the actuary in calculating the 
financial obligations of the Plan, as well as the recognition of the resultant surplus on the Balance Sheet. 

 The Committee also considered the accounting treatment of ‘Software as a service”; software the Society 
pays for access to, but does not gain ownership or significant control of (e.g. cloud-based systems). 
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In early 2022, the Committee considered whether the 2021 Annual Report and Accounts were fair, balanced and 
understandable.  The Committee did this by satisfying itself that there was a robust process of review and challenge 
to ensure balance and consistency. 

Internal Audit 
The Committee is responsible for monitoring Internal Audit activities and effectiveness and ensuring that sufficient 
resources are in place.  In order to provide the scalability and flexibility of specialist resources required within 
internal audit, the Society continues to outsource this work to KPMG.  This enables the Society to leverage the skills 
and expertise of an external specialist provider that has extensive resources. Internal audit reports considered by 
Audit Committee included: 
 

 An assessment of the design of the Society’s risk management and compliance frameworks, the related 
policies and procedures and the governance arrangements over these key business areas, 

 An assessment of the policies and procedures in place through the advice, lending and financial support 
processes for cases with lending in or into a borrower’s retirement,  

 An assessment of the Society’s Recovery Plan including its compliance with regulatory expectations and fire 
drill testing approach. The Board Risk and Compliance Committee and Board approved the plan following 
review of the views and output of Internal Audit, 

 An assessment of the design and operating effectiveness of the controls, standards and governance in place 
around regulatory reporting including an assessment of how they are embedded across the Society, 

 An assessment of the design and operating effectiveness of the product governance framework in place at 
the Society and how this is applied to the development of new mortgages and savings products, 

 An assessment of the Change Programme control framework within the Society including how dependencies 
are managed and resources are deployed across the change programme and an assessment of the approach 
to testing within the implementation of major projects, 

 An assessment of the design of the money laundering controls in operation to detect, prevent and deter 
money laundering, 

 An assessment of the processes in place relating to the Senior Manager and Certification Regime (SMCR) and 
performance management at the Society, 

 An assessment of the governance framework around member data and the controls in place to ensure 
accurate internal reporting of this data, 

 An assessment of the design and operating effectiveness of the control framework surrounding credit risk 
management, vulnerable customers and arrears management. 

 
Towards the end of 2021, fieldwork was also completed by the Society’s Internal Auditors to assess Operational 
Resilience, Asset and Liability Management and further assessment of Regulatory Reporting and Project 
Management controls. The output of these assessments will be reported to the Audit Committee in early 2022. 
 
Internal Audit findings and thematic issues identified were considered by the Committee, as well as Management’s 
response and the tracking and completion of outstanding actions. The Committee also approved the fee for the 
programme of Internal Audit work for the year having reviewed the scope of the work programme in detail. 

The Committee considers guidance from the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors entitled ‘Effective Internal Audit 
in the Financial Services Sector’ when ensuring that the Internal Auditors and the Committee were fulfilling their 
obligations in a robust manner. The Audit Committee monitors a range of Key Performance Indicators covering key 
areas such as quality and efficiency through the year to monitor the Internal Audit function. The Chair of Audit 
Committee meets regularly with KPMG outside of the formal Audit Committee meetings.  

A formal review of the effectiveness of Internal Audit is carried out on an annual basis and the last review, reported 
to Audit Committee in November 2021, concluded Internal Audit was effective.   
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System of Internal Controls 
The Board recognises the importance of sound systems of internal control in the achievement of its objectives and 
the safeguarding of members’ and Society assets.  Internal control also facilitates the effectiveness and efficiency of 
operations, helps to ensure the reliability of internal and external reporting and assists in compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations. 

The Society operates in a dynamic business environment and, as a result, the risks it faces are continually changing.  
The internal control framework has been designed to ensure thorough and regular evaluation of the nature and 
extent of risk and the Society’s ability to react accordingly.  It is the role of Management to implement the Board’s 
policies on risk and control.  It is also recognised that all employees have responsibility for internal control as part of 
their accountability for achieving objectives.  Staff training and induction is designed to ensure that staff are clear on 
their accountabilities in this area and are competent to operate and monitor the internal control framework. 

The internal Audit function provided independent assurance to the Board on the effectiveness of the internal control 
framework through the Audit Committee. The Committee reviewed this aspect through regular reporting from 
Management, the Society’s Internal Auditor and the External Auditor. The Group Risk Framework is included within 
the Internal Audit risk universe. The Chief Risk Officer attended Audit Committee and there is overlap in the 
membership of the Audit and Board Risk and Compliance Committees to ensure there are no gaps in oversight 
between lines of defence.    

The main internal control matters which were reviewed by the Committee in 2021 were: 
 Conduct related issues. 
 Prudential related issues. 
 Internal audit plans and the results of reviews completed by KPMG in the year. 
 Control reports from the External Auditor in relation to the financial reporting process arising from the 

external audit.  During the year, no material control weaknesses were highlighted. 
 The status of issues raised in control reports which were tracked closely.  During the year, the volume and 

age profile of issues raised remained within appropriate parameters. 
 Whistleblowing arrangements and policy.  The Committee reviews the use of the confidential reporting 

channels in the Society.   

 
The information received and considered by the Committee provided reasonable assurance during 2021 that there 
were no material breaches of control or regulatory standards and that, overall, the Society maintained an adequate 
internal financial control framework that met the principles of the Code. 

External Audit 
The effectiveness of the External Audit process is dependent on appropriate audit risk identification at the start of 
the audit cycle.  The Committee received from PwC a detailed audit plan, identifying their assessment of the key 
risks.   

The Committee ensures it holds at least one private meeting with the External Auditor on an annual basis without 
the Executive Directors and Management present.  This provides the opportunity for open dialogue and feedback 
from the Committee and the Auditor.  Matters typically discussed include the Auditor’s assessment of business risks 
and Management’s activity in relation to these risks, the transparency and openness of interactions with 
Management, confirmation that there has been no restriction in scope placed on them by Management, 
independence of their audit and how they have exercised professional scepticism.  The Chair of the Audit Committee 
meets regularly with PwC outside of the formal Audit Committee meetings.  

The Committee approved the fees for the External Audit for 2021 after a review of the level and nature of the work 
to be performed and being satisfied that the fees were appropriate for the scope of the work required. A further 
safeguard to help avoid the objectivity and the independence of the External Auditor becoming compromised is that 
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the Committee has a formal policy governing the engagement of the External Auditor to provide non-audit services.  
The Committee reviewed the level of non-audit fees paid to the External Auditor throughout the year and was 
content that these fees have not impaired the objectivity and independence of PwC.  In addition, the objectivity and 
independence are protected in the provision of non-audit services by individual terms of engagement for each 
assignment.  

Under the European Audit Regulation and Directive, the Society is required to tender the External Audit at least 
every ten years.  The External Auditor is required to rotate the audit partner responsible for the Society’s audit at 
least every five years. In line with good practice the Society regularly considers the appointment of the External 
Auditor, including rotation of the audit partner. In 2020 the Society agreed to put its External Audit out for tender for 
the five years commencing 2021. Following a competitive tender process, the Society selected PwC as the firm to 
complete its External Audit and their appointment was agreed at the Annual General Meeting in April 2021. The 
audit in relation to 2021 was therefore the first for PwC and for the current Director, Christopher Dalton.  

A formal review of the effectiveness of External Audit is carried out on an annual basis and is usually completed in 
November of each year.  The Society’s Audit Committee deferred the first assessment of the effectiveness of PwC 
until after the completion of their first audit engagement. This assessment will therefore be completed in May 2022. 

Audit Committee Effectiveness 
The Committee regularly conducts a formal self-assessment review to monitor its effectiveness.  The review uses 
anonymous questionnaires completed by Committee members and regular attendees at meetings. The review 
conducted in 2021, and reported to Audit Committee in November 2021, concluded that the Committee had 
operated effectively and in accordance with its Terms of Reference.   

 

 
Angela Russell 

Chair of the Audit Committee 
18th March 2022 
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BOARD RISK & COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS  
Ian Wilson (Chair)  
Robert Cuffe - Non-Executive Director  
Kate McIntyre - Non-Executive Director  
Angela Russell - Non-Executive Director  
 
OTHER ATTENDEES 
Executive Directors attend the Committee and Internal Audit also have an open invitation to attend.  The Chief Risk 
Officer provides a report at each meeting and is invited to provide an independent view on the Society’s risk profile.  
Subject matter experts are invited to Committee meetings to present on a variety of topics, including deep dive 
analysis on specific risk matters. 

PURPOSE OF THE COMMITTEE  
The purpose of the Committee is to provide oversight on behalf of the Board and advise the Board on risk and 
compliance matters.  This includes advising the Board on risk appetite, providing challenge to Management on risk 
performance and culture, and overseeing an assessment of future risks and stresses that enables Management to 
develop appropriate risk response strategies to protect the Society.  

RISK COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE  
The Committee held seven meetings during the year.  A report was made to Board following each meeting with full 
minutes distributed to all Board members.   

The Committee undertook an internal assessment of its effectiveness.  This assessment concluded that the 
Committee is effective, having carried out its responsibilities.  The results were discussed by the Committee and the 
Board Nomination and Governance Committee.   

CHAIR’S STATEMENT  
As the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic continued to influence the economy and impact the Society’s operating 
environment, the Committee has continued to monitor the associated risks and ensure appropriate assurance 
arrangements and mitigation strategies are in place.   

In doing so, the Committee reviewed regular reports on the Society’s principal and emerging risk profile, alongside 
more in-depth analysis of financial, operational and conduct risks.  The safety and wellbeing of the Society’s 
colleagues and members has remained front and centre during 2021, with a focus on operational continuity and 
delivery of fair outcomes to members. 

Alongside this, the Committee continued to embed the principles of good risk management into the Society’s culture 
and day to day operations, in accordance with its terms of reference, with key activities summarised below.  

 Review, calibration and monitoring of Risk Appetite metrics, alongside deep dives in principal risk categories.   
 Progression of the Risk Management Framework and related processes to further the Society’s level of risk 

maturity. 
 Assessment of the suitability of risk and compliance resources to meet emerging regulatory risks, business 

needs and corporate governance requirements, supporting actions to strengthen this accordingly.  
 Monitoring of the regulatory horizon and emerging risk landscape and approval of the Compliance 

arrangements, including the annual monitoring plan and assurance framework across the three lines of 
defence. 

 Effective oversight of Management Committees; ALCO and Risk Management Committee, challenging 
Management on their effectiveness in managing the risks identified in each business area.   
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 Approval of the Society’s framework of policies, including any appropriate dispensations, which enable 
Management to run the Society on a day-to-day basis in a manner consistent with Board Risk Appetite.  

 Review and recommendation to Board of the Society’s Capital, Liquidity and Recovery plan methodologies, 
assumptions and adequacy assessments. 

 Support to the Board in developing the Society’s climate change strategy, through review and discussion of 
risks, opportunities and supporting analysis.   

   

Over the next 12 months, the Committee will continue to carefully oversee the risks associated with the COVID-19 
pandemic and other external challenges as they emerge.   The Committee will also support the continued maturing 
of risk management arrangements, with climate change risks in particular expected to be an area of increasing focus 
and discussion. 

 
 

 

Ian Wilson 
Chair of the Board Risk & Compliance Committee 

18th March 2022 
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS  
Robert Cuffe, Chair – Non-Executive Director  
Jack Cullen - Non-Executive Director  
Jessica Williams - Non-Executive Director  
 
OTHER ATTENDEES  
The CEO, Andrew Craddock, and the Director of People & Culture, Niki Barker, attend meetings of the Committee by 
invitation, but do not take part in any discussions regarding their own remuneration.  
 
PURPOSE OF THE COMMITTEE  
The committee is responsible for:  

1. Ensuring that the remuneration policies, principles and practices for all colleagues support the long-term 
interests of the Society and comply with relevant regulatory rules and guidance.   

2. Approving the Remuneration Policy, including pay, variable remuneration and other benefits for 
Executive Directors and Material Risk Takers. It also has oversight of reward for the general colleague 
population.  

 
COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE  
The Committee held four meetings during 2021. A report was made to the Board following each meeting with the full 
minutes distributed to all Board members. Attendance at meetings is shown on page 34 and information about the 
skills, qualifications and experience of Directors can be found in the biographies on pages 28 to 30.  

The Committee undertook an internal assessment of its effectiveness. This assessment concluded that the 
Committee is effective, having carried out its responsibilities. The results were discussed by the Committee and the 
Board Nomination and Governance Committee.   

Our members will have an advisory vote on both the Remuneration Policy and the 2021 Directors’ Remuneration 
Report. The Directors’ entitlement to remuneration is not conditional on the AGM vote. However, the Remuneration 
Committee will take account of your feedback.  

KEY ACTIVITIES IN 2021    
2021 fixed remuneration changes  
Salaries are normally reviewed in March each year, with any increases paid from 1 April. Due to the volatility and 
uncertainty in the economy caused by the pandemic in 2020, the review was deferred until September, with the 
increase paid from 1 October. In 2021 the review took place in June with the increase paid from 1 July, with the 
intention that we return to the normal schedule in 2022. 

Considering the external economic environment, market benchmarking data and the performance of the Society, 
together with the desire to recruit and retain talent, the committee agreed an increase of 3% for all eligible 
employees including the Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors.  

Staff in scope of the Real Living Wage received an increase of 2.15% from 1 May 2021, as recommended by the Real 
Living Wage Foundation. These staff then received an uplift to the general 3% award from 1 July. The Real Living 
Wage is the only UK wage rate that is voluntarily paid by almost 9,000 UK businesses who believe that their 
employees deserve a wage which meets every day needs. 

During 2021 a benchmarking exercise was undertaken for all the Executives, utilising data from several external 
sources, to ensure that their salaries continued to reflect the level of accountability and was broadly in line with 
salaries paid to individuals in similar roles in organisations in the same sector of a similar size and complexity. This 
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resulted in the base salary for two Executives being increased by 10%, one Executive by 6% and the other three 
Executives received no increase as their base salary was considered to be in line with the benchmark. 

There were no changes in the Executive Directors or other Executives during 2021. No changes to the base salary, 
pension or other benefits were implemented, apart from the changes outlined above. 

2021 performance and variable remuneration  
Earlier sections of the Annual Report and Accounts have explained our performance in 2021, which improved from 
2020 as various Covid-19 factors were not repeated. Revenue increased due to higher levels of lending and lower 
cost of funds and good progress was achieved with the strategic change programme to modernise and update the 
Society. Given the impact of the pandemic on the performance of the Society, in 2020 no bonus payments were 
made to any staff, including the Executives, although a flat £250 “thank you” award was made to all eligible staff. 

The Committee reviewed the bonus scheme early in 2021 in the context of the desire to retain and attract talented 
colleagues which was identified as a key risk for the Society, and which will remain the case in a uniquely competitive 
regional employment market. Bonus schemes were reviewed across a wide range of other Societies to learn from the 
market. Changes were agreed to move away from a fixed pot to be shared amongst eligible colleagues to a scheme 
based on awards as a percentage of base salary to enable staff to share in the success of the Society. The maximum 
bonus potential for all eligible staff was increased and a balanced scorecard of focused and challenging metrics 
agreed aligned with our strategy, including metrics for good member outcomes. 

Advice was provided by the Chief Risk Officer and Board Risk and Compliance Committee to ensure that the scheme 
was appropriately designed, aligned to regulatory requirements, and did not incentivise excessive risk taking or 
promote inappropriate behaviours. Advice was also provided after the year-end to ensure there was no requirement 
for any risk adjustment. 

A “gateway” of 3 measures was agreed to access the bonus scheme to ensure a minimum level of performance was 
achieved. The three measures were profit before tax, capital and the absence of any material regulatory, conduct or 
risk appetite breaches. The Remuneration Committee assessed that the gateway was met. 

The 2021 scheme metrics were then assessed. The scheme generated awards of between 11% and 16% of salary for 
Executives, reflecting between 55% and 80% of the maximum award available. 

Strategic Pillar Performance Measures Maximum 
(as a % of 

salary) 

Pay Out % Pay Out as 
% of 

maximum 
Financial Resilience Profit before tax, Mortgage growth & 

Cost/Income Ratio 
4% 3% 75% 

Operational Resilience Progress against implementation of 
strategic change programme 

2% 0.75% 37.5% 

Members & Community NPS, membership growth & 
Community Impact 

2% 1.5% 75% 

People Colleague engagement and turnover 2% 0.75% 37.5% 

Risk & Compliance Arrears and clearance of internal 
audit & compliance issues 

2% 2% 100% 

Personal Performance Progress against personal objectives 8% 3%-8% 37.5%-100% 

  20% 11%-16% 55%-80% 
 
Other matters considered by the Remuneration Committee  
The Committee reviewed the colleague grade and salary banding structure and agreed some amendments to simplify 
its implementation. It was agreed to revisit this again in 2022.    
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY  
The Remuneration Policy is designed to support members by:  

 Being clearly linked to business objectives;  
 Driving behaviour consistent with our purpose, culture, values and strategy; and  
 Being structured to attract and retain appropriately skilled colleagues to support the Society’s long-term 

interests.  

Remuneration Principles  
In delivering this policy, the following principles are observed:  

 Objectives are clearly linked to our business strategy, values and the long-term interests and security of the 
Society and our members;  

 Procedures and practices are consistent with, and promote, sound and effective risk management. They 
balance fixed and variable remuneration to create an acceptable relationship between risk and reward, 
whilst not encouraging risk taking that exceeds the level tolerated by the Society;  

 Basic salary and total remuneration are set at a competitive level to attract, retain and motivate colleagues 
of the required calibre; and  

 Remuneration arrangements meet regulatory requirements and good corporate governance practice.  

Policy Review  
The Remuneration Policy is subject to an annual review of both its content and implementation and is approved by 
the Remuneration Committee. In 2021 this review included considering an updated Policy Statement by the 
Prudential Regulation Authority and updated guidance from the Financial Conduct Authority. The Board Risk & 
Compliance Committee also contributes to the policy review to ensure that it take sufficient account of risk 
considerations.   
 
Vote   
Members are asked to vote on the Remuneration Policy every three years unless the policy changes.   
 
Components of remuneration  
Base Salary: This reflects the level of accountability and provides the ability to attract and retain Executives through 
market competitive rates of pay. Once set, any future increases are linked to personal performance and market 
benchmarking to comparable roles in organisations of a comparable size and complexity to the Society. In addition, 
the Society reviews the salaries of all colleagues on an annual basis and an annual cost of living increase is reviewed 
if appropriate to maintain salaries in line with inflation and market conditions.  
 
Benefits and pension: These are designed to provide market competitive remuneration. These include:  

 private medical insurance  
 life assurance  
 healthcare cash plan  
 health screening  
 employee assistance programme 
 professional membership fees paid 
 employee discounts platform 
 one off payment of £100 on appointment to be utilised to open a savings account with the Society and 

become a member 
 pension - Executive Directors may participate in the defined contribution pension plan or receive a cash 

allowance should contributions exceed the annual or lifetime allowance. All Executives receive 10% of base 
salary.  

Bonus: An annual performance bonus is linked to the delivery of the annual business plan targets, including the 
achievement of strategic objectives and personal objectives. This rewards performance over a single financial year. 
Challenging performance objectives are aligned with our strategy, recognising short, medium and long-term goals. 
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The performance of the Executive Directors is assessed against a scorecard of measures, to ensure significant reward 
cannot be achieved by the delivery of high performance in one area, to the detriment of another. Robust risk 
evaluation measures are independently assessed by the Chief Risk Officer and the Board Risk & Compliance 
Committee.  
  
The service contract for all Executive Directors includes a contractual notice period of 9 months for both the Society 
and the Director. The contracts also state that during the period of employment with the Society they may only carry 
out remunerated work for another organisation with the express written consent of the Board. During 2021, there 
were no severance or sign-on payments made to any Director.   
 
Policy for Non-Executive Directors  
Fees are paid to Non-Executive Directors to reflect the level of responsibilities and time commitment required for 
Board and Board Committee meetings. Fees are reviewed annually with recommendations made to the Board by the 
Executive Directors. The Chair’s fee is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, without the Chair in attendance. 
Non-Executive Directors who chair committees receive additional fees for this responsibility. Fee levels are 
benchmarked against other financial organisations of a comparable size and complexity to the Society. Non-
Executive Directors are not eligible for a bonus or pensions or any other benefits but may claim reasonable expenses 
incurred as part of their role.   

2021 remuneration summary for Executive Directors  
A further breakdown of the remuneration is provided in note 7 of the accounts.  
 

Executive 
Director  

2021 Total 
Remuneration 

2020 Total 
Remuneration * 

A K Craddock  £262,012 £211,876 
C Hunter  £176,943 £151,717 
C B White  £176,825 £151,608 
Total  £615,780 £515,201 
*As noted earlier, no bonus was paid in 2020, although the total remuneration includes a one-off flat rate payment of £250 paid to all staff   

   
2021 remuneration summary for non-executive directors  

Non-Executive 
Directors  

2021 Total 
Remuneration 

2020 Total 
Remuneration 

R Cuffe  £34,170 £33,012 
J Cullen  £47,855 £46,230* 
K McIntyre  £26,078 £25,194 
A Russell £30,450 £29,417 
J Sawyer 
Retired 30th June 2021   

£15,078 £25,194 

J Williams  £26,078 £25,194 
I Wilson  £30,450 £29,417 
Total  £210,159 £213,658 
 * An amount of £7,877, equivalent to 2 months’ fees, was voluntarily forgone to support Society initiatives regarding staff wellbeing 
and welfare. The balance shown in the table is the total fee payable before this forgone amount.  

 
2021 Remuneration for Material Risk Takers (MRTs) 
Material Risk Takers are senior managers who include Executives, Non-Executives and other Senior Managers 
whose actions have a material impact on the risk profile of the Society. 
 
The basic salary or fees of Material Risk Takers is determined to reflect the responsibilities of the role. Salaries are 
reviewed annually, and increases awarded based on personal performance as for all colleagues. Material Risk 
Takers, other than Non-Executive Directors, are eligible for an annual bonus scheme. In 2021 there were 21 
Material Risk Takers during the year. 
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Aggregate remuneration for Material Risk Takers is reported in the table below. 
 

 Number of 
beneficiaries 

Fixed pay Current Year 
variable pay 

Total 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 
Non-Executives 7 7 £210,159 £213,658 - - £210,159 £213,658 
Executives   7 7 £904,592 £735,778 * £102,671 £1,750 £1,007,263 £737,528 
Other MRTs 7 7 £409,116 £357,393 £18,909 £1,500 £428,025 £358,893 
Total 21 21 £1,523,867 £1,306,829 £121,580 £3,250 £1,593,726 £1,310,079 

* During 2020 a permanent Chief Risk Officer was not in post and total does not include professional fees  paid to an external provider of risk and 
compliance services   

 
Relative importance of spend on pay 
The following table sets out the percentage change in profit and overall spend on remuneration in the year 
ending 31 December 2021, compared to the previous year. 
 

 
2021 2020 

Percentage 
change 

Profit before tax (£000s) 3,168 734 332% 
Colleague remuneration costs (£000s) 5,342 4,721 13% 
Average headcount 177 168 5% 

* During 2020 a permanent Chief Risk Officer was not in post and total does not include professional fees of £133,200 paid to an external provider   
 

KEY AREAS OF FOCUS FOR 2022  
Looking ahead into 2022, the Committee’s focus will continue to ensure we have the right reward structures in 
place, to support our future priorities to attract and retain the talent we will need to deliver our objectives, in a 
particularly challenging and difficult market. Particular focus will be on a review of the variable pay scheme, 
simplification of the colleague grade and salary banding structure and benchmarking of base salary and benefits 
package for all employees.  
   

 
Robert Cuffe  

Chair of the Remuneration Committee 
18th March 2022 



 
 

Page | 52  
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
DARLINGTON BUILDING SOCIETY 
Report on the audit of the annual accounts 

Opinion 

In our opinion, Darlington Building Society’s group annual accounts and society annual accounts (the “annual 
accounts”): 

● give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the society’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 
and of the group’s and the society’s income and expenditure and the group’s and the society’s cash 
flows for the year then ended; 

● have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); and  

● have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Building Societies Act 1986. 

We have audited the annual accounts, included within the Year End Annual Report and Accounts (the “Annual 
Report”), which comprise: the group and society balance sheets as at 31 December 2021; the group and society 
income and expenditure accounts and statements of comprehensive income, the group and society cash flow 
statements, and the group and society statements of changes in members’ interests for the year then ended; and 
the notes to the annual accounts, which include a description of the significant accounting policies. 

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law.  Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
annual accounts section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the annual accounts in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard applicable to public interest entities and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard 
were not provided to the group. 

Other than those disclosed in note 5 to the annual accounts, we have provided no non-audit services to the group in 
the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021. 

Our audit approach 

Context 
This is our initial audit of the Group and Society following our appointment at the AGM on 26 April 2021. 
 
Overview 

Materiality 
 

● £500,000  - Group annual accounts, £499,000 - Society annual accounts 
● Based on 1% of Group/Society total reserves attributable to members 

Scoping ● We conducted our audit using a combined audit team from Leeds, Newcastle & 
London; and 
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● We perform audit procedures over all material account balances and financial 
information of the Society, and the Investment Properties balance of the Society’s 
trading subsidiary, Darlington Homes Limited. 

 Key audit matters ● Impairment of loans and advances to customers; and 

● Effective interest rate accounting. 

The scope of our audit 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
annual accounts. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect 
of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are 
inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, 
including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud.  

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibilities, outlined in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts section, to 
detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are 
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.  

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with 
laws and regulations related to breaches of UK regulatory principles such as those governed by the Prudential 
Regulation Authority, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the 
annual accounts. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the annual accounts 
such as the Building Societies Act 1986 and the Prudential Regulation Authority’s regulations. We evaluated 
management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the annual accounts (including the risk of 
override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to 
increase revenue or reduce expenditure and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed 
included: 

● Review of correspondence with and to the regulators; 

● Testing of significant accounting estimates (See key audit matters below); 

● Testing of journal entries which contained unusual account combinations and other specific risk based 
criteria  back to corroborating evidence; 

● Discussions with management in relation to known or suspected incidents of non-compliance with laws and 
regulation and fraud; and 

● Review of internal audit reports in so far as they related to the annual accounts. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of 
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions 
reflected in the annual accounts. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than 
the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, 
forgery or intentional misrepresentations or through collusion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the 
audit of the annual accounts of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect 
on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement 
team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.  
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment provision for loans and advances to 
customers (Group and Society) 
The Group holds an impairment provision of £979k 
(2020: £994k) to account for incurred impairment losses 
on the mortgage books. This is split between a collective 
provision of £667k (2020: £579k) to account for losses 
where a loss event has occurred but is yet to emerge 
and a specific provision of £312k (2020: £415k) to cover 
losses on loans where impairment indicators have been 
observed. 
The collective provision is derived from the Society’s 
historical arrears experience, modelled credit risk 
characteristics and expected cash flows. 
The specific provision is assessed by reference to loans 
that are aged past due three or more months in arrears, 
that have been repossessed by the Society or 
experienced other, non arrears impairment indicators.  
The assumptions used in the modelling, including 
probability of default and loss given default, are subject 
to a high degree of estimation uncertainty judgement 
resulting from limited experience of loan losses being 
previously incurred and the risk of there being 
unobserved impairments within the collective 
mortgages. 

The Society has incorporated post model adjustments of 
£0.4m into the loan loss provision amount (2020, 
£0.3m). This forms part of the collective provisions and 
captures risks in place at the balance sheet date that 
would not otherwise be captured by the core loan loss 
model. 
The highest degree of estimation uncertainty is 
considered to relate to the incomplete capturing of 
specific provision indicators, and the assumptions 
surrounding the loss given default within the Society’s 
models, and the completeness and appropriateness of 
post-model adjustments. 

The directors’ disclosures are given in note 12. 
Management’s associated accounting policies are given 
on page 66. Management’s judgements in the 
application of the accounting policy and critical 
estimates is disclosed on page 68. The Audit 
Committee’s consideration of the matter is described on 
page 41.  

We discussed the basis of the impairment provision 
with management and the Audit Committee, including 
the rationale for the accounts identified within the 
specific provision. 
We challenged the conceptual soundness of the 
impairment provision methodology and used our 
experience to consider impairment indicators seen 
within the wider industry, and their applicability to the 
Society’s portfolio. We challenged the potential 
impacts of climate change on the portfolio and the 
potential for impairment as a result. 
We tested the completeness of the specific provision 
by selecting a sample of loans under forbearance,  
arrears or other non-arrears indicators and ensured 
their inclusion within the provision. 
We understood, evaluated and challenged the 
appropriateness of the probability of default 
assumptions by considering industry data, sensitivity 
to changes and the actual loss experience of the 
Society. 
We evaluated the reasonableness of the loss given 
default assumptions used in arriving at the valuation 
of the underlying properties in the event of a 
possession by inspecting third party valuations, market 
property indexation data, and the actual possession 
experience of the Society with regards to forced sale 
discounts. 
Based on our knowledge and understanding of the 
limitations in management’s models and emerging 
industry risks, we evaluated the completeness of the 
post model adjustments proposed by management. 
We tested the valuation of post model adjustments by 
critically assessing the methodology and testing the 
underlying assumptions used in the calculation to 
supporting evidence. 
We have evaluated the adequacy of the disclosure of 
estimation uncertainty relating to impairment of loans 
and advances to customers.  
Based on the procedures we performed and the 
evidence obtained we concluded that the calculation 
of the impairment provision is materially complete 
and accurate, and the overall level of provision held is 
reasonable. 

Effective interest rate accounting (Group and Society) 
Loans and advances are recognised at amortised cost, and 
interest income recognised using the Effective Interest 
Rate (EIR) method. The majority of interest income is 
calculated by automated systems and requires little or no 

We discussed with the Audit Committee how 
management had made judgements regarding the 
expected repayment profile of customer balances. 
We also discussed the refinements made to 
modelling over the course of the year to use system 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

judgement. Therefore we focused our work in relation to 
revenue recognition on EIR accounting and specifically 
the appropriateness of estimates surrounding SVR 
interest. 
The loans and advances to customers line item includes 
effective interest rate adjustments of £958k at the 
balance sheet date (2020: £1,376k).  
This relates to:  

● net fee costs charged to the Group and fee 
income received as part of writing mortgage 
assets which are deferred.  

● early repayment charge income which is forecast 
at the origination of loan assets 

● standard variable rate (‘SVR’) interest which is 
forecast at the origination of fixed-term loan 
assets 

These adjustments are calculated and released to the 
income statement in accordance with the forecast 
behaviour of the Group’s loan book, specifically the 
amount a customer prepays during the product term, and 
the amount of time a customer remains on SVR after the 
end of the initial product term, which is a key area of 
estimation uncertainty.  
Management makes this estimate by considering past 
early repayment and redemption behaviour on the loan 
book. We focussed our work on this area. 
The Group’s disclosures are given in Note 24. 
Management’s associated accounting policies are 
detailed on pages 63 to 64. Management's judgements in 
application of accounting policy and critical estimates is 
disclosed on page 68. The Audit Committee’s 
consideration of the matter is described on page 41. 

driven calculations for the majority of the effective 
interest rate calculations. 
We confirmed that those fees and charges included 
within the effective interest rate calculation are 
implicit in the origination of loan assets. 
We performed substantive testing over the transfer 
of data from the loan book system to the effective 
interest rate accounting model and tested the 
mathematical accuracy of the calculations. 
We tested the completeness and accuracy of the 
customer repayment data, used to generate the 
prepayment rate assumption, and assessed whether 
the current loan book is likely to perform in a similar 
manner to past experience. 
We tested the completeness and accuracy of the 
redemption data, used to generate the time a 
customer remains on SVR assumption, and assessed 
whether the current loan book is likely to perform in 
a similar manner to past experience. 
We backtested previous book behaviour and 
performed a sensitivity analysis on a range of 
possible outcomes to assess the range of estimation 
uncertainty within the calculation.  
Based on the procedures we performed and the 
evidence obtained we concluded that the calculation 
of the effective interest rate assets are materially 
complete and accurate. 

      
How we tailored the audit scope  

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the 
annual accounts as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the society, the accounting processes 
and controls, and the industry in which they operate.  

All the Group’s activities take place in the United Kingdom. The principal activity of the Society is the provision of 
savings products to individuals to fund secured lending on residential property to support home ownership. 99% of 
the Society’s mortgage book is secured on UK residential property with the remainder secured on UK commercial 
properties.  

The Group is formed of the Society, and a subsidiary company Darlington Homes Limited, which holds the Group’s 
investment properties. The accounting records and functions for all entities within the Group are located at the 
Society’s offices in Darlington. 
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Audit procedures were performed over all material account balances and financial information of the Society and 
Darlington Homes Limited by a combined audit team from Leeds, Newcastle and London. The audit procedures 
performed provided us with sufficient audit evidence as a basis for our opinion on the annual accounts as a whole.  

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures 
and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the annual accounts as a whole.  

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the annual accounts as a whole as follows: 

   Group annual accounts Society annual accounts 

Overall materiality £500,000  £499,000  

How we determined it 1% of total reserves attributable to members  

Rationale for 
benchmark applied 

The Group’s and Society’s principal activity is to provide residential mortgage 
loans financed by retail savings products. The strategy is not one purely of profit 
maximisation but to provide a secure place for customer savings in a mutual 
environment. The soundness of the Society is based on its regulatory capital, 
which is closely aligned to accounting reserves. As such we consider a 
benchmark based on reserves to be appropriate. 

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group 
materiality. The range of materiality allocated across components was £107,000 - £499,000. 

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of 
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality 
in determining the scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of 
transactions and disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% of 
overall materiality, amounting to £375,000 for the group financial statements and £374,250 for the society 
materiality.  

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk 
assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount in the middle of 
our normal range was appropriate. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above 
£25,000 as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and the society’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting included: 

● Critically assessing the directors’ conclusions on their going concern assessment; 
● Assessing the impact of management’s stress test scenarios and considering the likelihood of successful 

implementation of management actions to mitigate the impacts. We considered whether the Group and 
Society would continue to operate above required regulatory capital and liquidity minima during times of 
stress; 

● Challenging the reasonableness of the scenarios used by the directors in their going concern assessment 
and checked the appropriateness of the assumptions used within their forecasting; 

● Evaluating management’s disclosures in the Annual Report and checking the consistency of the disclosures 
with our knowledge of the Society based on our audit. 
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Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the annual accounts are 
authorised for issue. 
 
In auditing the annual accounts, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the annual accounts is appropriate. 
 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to 
the group’s and society’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 

 

Reporting on other information  

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the annual accounts and our 
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the annual 
accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the annual accounts or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material 
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a 
material misstatement of the annual accounts or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 

With respect to the Annual Business Statement and Directors’ Report we also considered whether the disclosures 
required by the Building Societies Act 1986 have been included. 

Building Societies Act 1986 – Opinion on Annual Business Statement and Directors’ Report 

In our opinion, based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

● the Annual Business Statement and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Building Societies Act 1986; 

● the information given in the Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 is consistent with 
the accounting records and the annual accounts; and 

● the information given in the Annual Business Statement (other than the information upon which we are 
not required to report) gives a true representation of the matters in respect of which it is given. 

● in light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and society and their environment obtained in 
the course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Directors’ Report. 

Responsibilities for the annual accounts and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the annual accounts 

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the annual accounts in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of annual accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual accounts, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
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basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group and society or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts.  

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using 
data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than 
testing complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk 
characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population 
from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the society’s members as a body in 
accordance with Section 78 of the Building Societies Act 1986 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these 
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown 
or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

Other required reporting 
Building Societies Act 1986 exception reporting 

Under the Building Societies Act 1986 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

● adequate accounting records have not been kept by the society; or

● the society annual accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records; or

● we have not received all the information and explanations and access to documents we require for our
audit.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Appointment 

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the directors on 26 April 2021 to 
audit the annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021 and subsequent financial periods. The period of 
total uninterrupted engagement is 1 year, covering the year ended 31 December 2021. 

Christopher Dalton (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Leeds 

18 March 2022 
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION  
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2021: 

  Group  Society 

 Note 2021  2020  2021  2020 

  £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 

         
Interest receivable and similar income 2 17,466  15,174  17,466  15,174 

Interest payable and similar charges 3 (3,452)   (4,910)   (3,452)   (4,910) 

Net interest income  14,014  10,264  14,014  10,264 

Fees and commissions receivable  226  224  226  224 

Fees and commissions payable  (131)  (68)  (131)  (68) 

Pension finance expense 25 (33)  -  (33)  - 

Changes in fair value of investment properties 15 131  (250)  (7)  - 

Other operating income 4 313  269  118  50 

Net gains / (losses) from derivative financial instruments 24 19  (81)  19  (81) 

Total income  14,539  10,358  14,206  10,389 

Administrative expenses 5 (11,084)  (9,054)  (11,009)  (9,036) 

Depreciation 14 (302)   (369)   (302)   (369) 

Total administrative expenses  (11,386)   (9,423)   (11,311)   (9,405) 

Operating profit before provisions  3,153  935  2,895  984 

Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 12 15  (201)  15  (201) 

Impairment on loan to subsidiaries 13 -   -   90   (90) 

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  3,168  734  3,000  693 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 8 (636)   (98)   (628)   (111) 

Profit for the financial year  2,532   636   2,372   582 

 
The above results are wholly derived from continuing operations. 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31 December 2021: 

    Group  Society 

  Note  2021  2020  2021  2020 

    £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 

           
Profit for the financial year    2,532  636   2,372  582  
Other comprehensive income:           
Movement in actuarial gain recognised in the pension plan 25  1,162   340  1,162  340 
Movement in deferred tax relating to the pension plan 8  (449)   (118)    (449)   (117)  
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   713   222  713  223 
Total comprehensive income   3,245    858    3,085    805  
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BALANCE SHEETS 
as at 31 December 2021: 

  Group Society 

 Note 2021 2020 2021 2020 
  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

Assets      
Liquid assets      
  Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England  104,107  75,089  104,107  75,089  

  Loans and advances to credit institutions 9 12,472  14,978  9,509  14,212  

  Debt securities  10 7,006  21,486  7,006  21,486  
   123,585  111,553  120,622  110,787  

Loans and advances to customers      
  Loans fully secured on residential property  609,490  574,075  609,490  574,075  

  Other loans  6,158  9,764  6,158  9,764  

 11 615,648  583,839  615,648  583,839  

Derivative financial instruments 24 3,027  11  3,027  11  

Investments in subsidiaries 13 - - 7,695  7,605  

Tangible fixed assets 14 1,268  1,416  1,268  1,416  

Investment Properties 15 2,472  4,475  157  235  

Prepayments and accrued income 16 1,753  604  1,712  539  

Pension asset 25 4,137  2,941  4,137  2,941  

      
Total assets  751,890  704,839  754,266  707,373  

      
Liabilities      
Shares 17 607,010  580,112  607,010  580,112  

Amounts owed to credit institutions 18 78,590  58,852  78,590  58,852  

Amounts owed to other customers 19 12,630  14,117  15,230  16,718  

Derivative financial instruments 24 390  2,846  390  2,846  

Other liabilities 20 1,745  751  1,737  740  

Accruals and deferred income 21 1,123  962  1,102  941  

Pension liability 25 574  616  574  616  

  702,062  658,256  704,633  660,825  

Reserves      
General reserve  49,828  46,583  49,633  46,548  

      
Total liabilities  751,890  704,839  754,266  707,373  

 

The notes on pages 63 to 101 form part of these Accounts. The Accounts on pages 59 to 101 were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 18 March 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

    
   

Jack Cullen Andrew Craddock Robert Cuffe 
Chair Chief Executive Vice Chair 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ INTERESTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2021: 

    Group Society 

  Note  2021  2020  2021  2020 

    £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 
           

Balance as at 1 January    46,583    45,725   46,548    45,743 

Profit for the financial year    2,532   636  2,372   582 

           
Actuarial gain recognised in the pension plan 25  1,162   340  1,162   340 
Movements in deferred tax relating to the pension plan 8  (449)  (118)   (449)  (117)  
Other comprehensive income for the year   713   222   713   223 

                
Total comprehensive income for the year   3,245   858    3,085   805  

                
Balance as at 31 December    49,828   46,583    49,633   46,548  

 

The notes on pages 63 to 101 form part of these Accounts.  
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2021: 

   Group  Society 

 Notes 2021 2020  2021 2020 

   £,000 £,000  £,000 £,000 
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation   3,168 734  3,000 693 
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and accrued income  (691) 65  (715) 70 
Decrease in accruals and deferred income   (423) (1,012)  (423) (1,007) 
Decrease/(increase) in provisions 12  (15) 201  (15) 201 
Interest receivable on debt securities   (3) (249)  (3) (249) 
Changes in fair value of investment properties 15  (131) 250  7 - 
Depreciation and amortisation 14  302 369  302 369 
Contributions to final salary pension plan 25  (109) (295)  (109) (295) 
Pension expense in respect of final salary pension plan 25  33 -  33 - 
        
Net cash generated from / (used in) trading activities   2,131 63   2,077 (218) 

        
Net increase in loans and advances to customers   (31,794) (32,756)  (31,794) (32,756) 
(Reversal of impairment)/ impairment on loan to 
subsidiaries   - -  (90) 90 
Net increase in shares   27,450 19,674  27,450 19,674 

Net increase in amounts owed to credit institutions and 
other customers   18,283 17,881  18,282 17,881 
Net decrease/(increase) in loans and advances to credit 
institutions   3,090 (990)  3,090 (990) 
(Increase)/decrease in net derivative financial liabilities   (5,472) 1,657  (5,472) 1,657 
Net increase/(decrease) in other liabilities   123 (1)  146 (21) 

        
Net changes in Operating Assets   11,680  5,465   11,612 5,535 

        
        

Taxation paid   (216) (226)  (228) (226) 
Net cash generated from operating activities   13,595 5,302   13,461 5,091 

        
Interest received on debt securities   153 112  153 112 
Sale and maturity / (purchase) of debt securities 10  14,330 (12,328)  14,330 (12,328) 
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets   10 -  10 - 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 14  (549) (577)  (549) (577) 
Sale of investment properties 15  2,063 -  - - 
Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities    16,007 (12,793)   13,944 (12,793) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   29,602 (7,491)  27,405 (7,702) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   86,977 94,468  86,211 93,913 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year   116,579 86,977  113,616 86,211 

        
Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England   104,107 75,089  104,107 75,089 
Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on 
demand 9  12,472 11,888  9,509 11,122         
Cash and cash equivalents   116,579 86,977   113,616 86,211 

 
The notes on pages 63 to 101 form part of these Accounts. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
General Information 
The Society is a Building Society incorporated in 
Darlington, UK under the Building Societies Act 1986 and 
the Building Societies Act 1997. The address of its 
registered office is Sentinel House, Morton Road, 
Darlington, County Durham, DL1 4PT. 

Basis of Preparation 
The Accounts are prepared under the historical cost 
convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment 
properties and financial instruments held at fair value, 
and in accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986, 
the Building Societies (Accounts and Related Provisions) 
Regulations 1998 and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, 
‘‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland’’ (‘‘FRS 102’’). 
The Group and Society have chosen to adopt the 
recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39 in 
respect of financial instruments.  

The Group and Society Annual Report and Accounts have 
been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
standards and the following principal accounting policies 
have been applied consistently throughout the current 
year and the prior year. 

As noted in the Directors’ Report, the Directors are 
satisfied that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future and therefore these Accounts are prepared on a 
going concern basis. 

An analysis by geographical operation has not been 
provided as the Group’s business is wholly based within 
the United Kingdom. 

New and amended accounting standards 
The Group adopted the Phase 2 amendments to IAS 39 - 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform for the period ending 31 
December 2021 having early-adopted the Phase 1 
amendments for previous periods. These amendments 
allowed the Society to continue hedge accounting during 
the period of uncertainty arising from interest rate 
benchmark reforms and to continue hedge accounting 
during the transition period in which the Society replaced 
its LIBOR contracts with SONIA equivalents. 

Consistent with clarification guidance issued by 
accounting standards interpretation committees in 2021 
the Group reclassified certain assets acquired under 
“Software as a service” arrangements from fixed assets to 
prepayments. This relates to software used by the Society 
under contractual arrangements but not under full 
ownership or control of the Society. The value of these 
relationships was therefore transferred from fixed assets 
to prepayments (see note 14 and 16).  

Basis of Consolidation 
The Group Accounts include the results of the Society and 
its subsidiaries all of which have year ends of 31 
December. Uniform accounting policies are adopted 
throughout the Group. 

In the Society’s Accounts, investments in subsidiaries are 
stated at cost less provision for any impairment. Income 
from investments is recognised in the Society’s Income 
and Expenditure Account when dividends are declared. 

Exemptions for Qualifying Entities Under FRS 102 
FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure 
exemptions. A qualifying entity is defined as a member of 
a group that prepares publicly available financial 
statements, which give a true and fair view, in which that 
member is consolidated. Darlington Building Society is a 
qualifying entity as its results are consolidated into its 
consolidated financial statements which are publicly 
available. 

As a qualifying entity, the Group and Society has taken 
advantage of the exemption under paragraph 35.10(p) of 
FRS 102 in respect of lease incentives on leases in 
existence on the date of transition to FRS 102 and 
continues to credit such lease incentives to the 
consolidated income statement over the period to the 
first review date on which the rent is adjusted to market 
rates. 

Interest Income and Expense 
Interest receivable and payable for all interest bearing 
financial instruments is recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account within ‘Interest receivable and 
similar income’ and ‘Interest payable and similar charges’ 
using the effective interest rates of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities to which they relate. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that discounts the expected future 
cash flows, over the expected life of the financial 
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instrument, to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset or liability. 

a) Properties in Possession Interest charged to 
mortgage accounts relating to properties in 
possession continues to be recognised at the 
original effective interest and, as it is considered 
doubtful the balance will be recovered, is 
provided against. 

b) Incentives to Borrowers Interest discounts 
reduce the effective interest rate at which 
interest receivable is recognised over the 
relevant discount period. 

Fees and Commissions 
Fees and commissions both receivable and payable are 
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate 
and recorded in interest income/(payable) where the fees 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a 
financial instrument. Fees and commissions receivable 
include mortgage reservation fees and valuation fees. 
Fees and commissions payable include mortgage 
introducer’s fees, valuation fees payable and mortgage 
product incentives. Other fees are recognised on an 
accruals basis. 

Other Operating Income/ (Charges) 
Other operating income/ (charges) are recognised in the 
year in which they are incurred on an accrual basis. 

Taxation  
Corporation tax is charged on profits as adjusted for 
taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are 
differences between taxable profits and total 
comprehensive income as stated in the financial 
statements. These timing differences arise from the 
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in 
periods different from those in which they are recognised 
in financial statements. 

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the 
reporting date. Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred 
tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that 
they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax 
liabilities or other future taxable profits. 

Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period 
end and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the 
timing difference. 

Financial Instruments 
The Group and Society has chosen to adopt the 
recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39 - 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
and disclosure requirements of sections 11 and 12 of FRS 
102 in respect of financial instruments. 

Financial Assets 
Financial assets or financial liabilities are initially 
recognised at cost, in the case of a financial asset or 
financial liability not at fair value through the Income and 
Expenditure Account, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
asset or financial liability.  

After initial recognition, the Group measures financial 
assets, including derivatives that are assets, at their fair 
values, without any deduction for transaction costs it may 
incur on sale or other disposal, except for the loans and 
receivables, which are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. 

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

Derivatives, including interest rate swaps are not basic 
financial instruments. All interest rate related contracts 
are classified at the balance sheet date as hedging 
contracts. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the 
date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently re-measured at their fair value. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded 
in the Income and Expenditure Account together with any 
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability 
that are attributable to the hedged risk. 

If a hedge is terminated early, the realised gain or loss is 
amortised over the residual life of the underlying asset or 
liability. If the underlying asset or liability is then 
redeemed, the remaining unamortised amount is 
recognised in the Income and Expenditure account 
immediately. 

The Group and Society enters into credit support 
agreements, which protect against counterparty default 
in respect to hedging instruments by means of collateral 
transactions. Collateral balances are included within 
‘liquid assets’ or ‘amounts owed to credit institutions’ as 
appropriate and interest receivable or payable reflected 
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on the Income and Expenditure Account within ‘net 
interest receivable’. 

Liquid Assets 
All debt securities are intended for use on a continuing 
basis in the Group’s activities and are classified as 
financial fixed assets. All liquid assets are stated at cost, 
adjusted, where applicable, for any premium or discount 
on purchase which is amortised over the period to 
maturity. 

At the end of each reporting period financial assets 
measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective 
evidence of impairment. If an asset is impaired the 
impairment loss is the difference between the carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 
The impairment loss is recognised in Income and 
Expenditure Account. 

If there is decrease in the impairment loss arising from an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the 
current carrying amount does not exceed what the 
carrying amount would have been had the impairment 
not previously been recognised. The impairment reversal 
is recognised in Income and Expenditure Account. 

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire 
or are settled, or (b) substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another 
party or (c) despite having retained some significant risks 
and rewards of ownership, control of the asset has been 
transferred to another party who has the practical ability 
to unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party 
without imposing additional restrictions. 

Financial Liabilities 
Basic financial liabilities, including bank loans, loans from 
fellow Group companies that are classified as debt, are 
initially recognised at transaction price, unless the 
arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where 
the debt instrument is measured at the present value of 
the future receipts discounted at a market rate of 
interest. 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet 
when, and only when, the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if 
payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are 
presented as non-current liabilities. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability is 
extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amounts presented in the financial statements when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

Hedging Arrangements 
The Group and Society applies hedge accounting for 
transactions entered into to hedge the risk of interest rate 
fluctuations. Interest rate swaps are classified at the 
balance sheet date as hedging contracts and are 
designated as fair value hedges of fixed rate mortgage 
lending products. 

The Group and Society documents at the inception of the 
transaction the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objectives and strategy for undertaking 
various hedging transactions. The Group and Society also 
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and 
on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are 
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in 
offsetting changes in fair values of hedged items. 

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for 
hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 24. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded 
in the Income and Expenditure Account, together with 
any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or 
liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The 
Group only applies fair value hedge accounting for 
hedging fixed interest risk on mortgage lending. The gain 
or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate 
swaps hedging fixed rate mortgage lending products is 
recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account within 
‘Interest receivable and similar income’ (i.e. the income 
on the effective swap). The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised in Income and 
Expenditure Account within ‘net gains from derivative 
financial instruments’. Changes in the fair value of the 
hedge fixed rate mortgage lending products attributable 
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to interest rate risk are recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account within ‘interest receivable and 
similar income’. 

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a 
hedged item for which the effective interest method is 
used is amortised to the Income and Expenditure Account 
over the period to maturity. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes Cash in hand and 
balances with the Bank of England and Loans and 
advances to credit institutions repayable within three 
months. 

Provisions for Bad and Doubtful Debts 
Provisions are made to reduce the value of ‘loans and 
advances to customers’ to the amount which the 
Directors consider to be recoverable on an incurred loss 
basis. 

Throughout the year and at the year end, individual 
assessments are made of loans and advances that fall into 
one of the following categories: 

 they are in possession, 
 they are in arrears by three months or more, 
 or other qualitative factors for commercial 

loans. 

Within each category above, specific provisions are made 
against those loans and advances which, in the opinion of 
the Directors, are impaired. 

The market value of securities held at the balance sheet 
date is estimated by indexation of the latest known 
property valuation. In considering the property’s 
valuation and any required specific provision, account is 
taken of any legal, estate agent and other disposal costs 
that would be required to achieve a sale. The Directors 
recognise that not all loans and advances in arrears will 
result in possession and apply a probability of default to 
reflect this when calculating the specific provision for 
accounts which they believe are impaired. 

Collective Provision 
A further, collective provision is made against those loans 
and advances which have not been specifically identified 
under one of the criteria above as being impaired but 
demonstrate objective evidence to suggest a financial 
asset or group of financial assets has an increased 

likelihood of becoming separately impaired. The Group 
measures the amount of impairment loss by applying loss 
factors based on third party probability of default data, 
loss emergence periods, the effect of movements in 
house prices and any adjustment for the expected forced 
sales value. 

When a borrower tells us that they are having financial 
problems the Society works with them using a variety of 
forbearance measures as described in Note 24. 
Forbearance is included in the loan loss provision similar 
to other debt, whereby debt which is more than three 
months in arrears is treated as individually impaired. Debt 
which is less than three months is included in the 
calculation of the collective impairment provision. 

Loans and advances to customers in the Balance Sheet 
are shown net of provisions. The charge or credit in the 
Income and Expenditure Account represents losses 
written off during the year (net of recoveries), together 
with the movement in provisions. 

Tangible Fixed Assets and Depreciation 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes the original purchase price of the asset and the 
costs attributable to bringing the asset to working 
condition for intended use. 

The costs of additions and major alterations to office 
premises and equipment are capitalised. The costs of 
fixed assets are written off on a straight line basis over 
their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 Freehold buildings over their remaining 
economic life not exceeding fifty years 

 Short leasehold premises over the remainder of 
the lease up to fifty years 

 Plant and machinery over ten years 
 Equipment, fixtures, fittings and vehicles over 

two to ten years.  

No depreciation is provided on freehold land. 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period. The effect of any change is accounted for 
prospectively. 

Tangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected. On disposal, the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
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carrying amount is recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account and included in ‘Administrative 
Expenses’. 

Investment Properties 
Investment properties are properties held for long-term 
rental yields and capital appreciation. Investment 
properties are measured initially at cost including related 
transaction costs and any directly attributable 
expenditure that meet the criteria for capitalisation. After 
initial recognition, investment properties are carried in 
the Balance Sheet at fair value with movements recorded 
in the Income and Expenditure Account. Fair values of 
investment properties will be determined at least once 
every three years by an independent and external, RICS 
(Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors) qualified 
valuer. Depreciation is not charged on investment 
properties. When not valued externally, Investment 
properties fair values are based upon Management 
Valuations. Fair value is based on active market data and 
prices with adjustments for differences in the nature, 
location or condition of properties made where 
appropriate. 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
At each balance sheet date non-financial assets not 
carried at fair value are assessed to determine whether 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. If 
there is such an indication the recoverable amount of the 
asset is compared to the carrying amount of the asset. 

The recoverable amount of the asset is the higher of the 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use 
is defined as the present value of the future cash flows 
before interest and tax obtainable as a result of the 
asset’s continued use. These cash flows are discounted 
using a pre-tax discount rate that represents the current 
market risk-free rate and the risks inherent in the asset. 

If the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be 
lower than the carrying amount, the carrying amount is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account, 
unless the asset has been revalued when the amount is 
recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent 
of any previously recognised revaluation. Thereafter any 
excess is recognised in Income and Expenditure Account. 

If an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent 

that the revised carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net 
of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss 
been recognised in prior periods. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account. 

Operating Leases 
Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as operating leases. The cost of 
operating leases, are charged to the Income and 
Expenditure Account on a straight line basis over the 
duration of the lease. Lease incentives received to enter 
into an operating lease are credited to the Income and 
Expenditure Account, to reduce the lease expense, on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Provisions for Liabilities 
Provisions are made and recognised when the Group has 
a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Employee Benefits 
The Group provides a range of benefits to employees, 
including defined benefit and defined contribution 
pension plans. 

a) Short term benefits Short term benefits are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the service is received. 
 

b) Defined Benefit Pension Plan The Society has 
two defined benefit pension schemes both of 
which are closed to future accrual for all 
members. At each balance sheet date the 
defined benefit pension plan assets are 
measured at market value and the liabilities are 
measured using the projected unit valuation 
method. The resulting pension plan surplus or 
deficit is recognised immediately on the balance 
sheet to the extent that it is recoverable by the 
Group being the present value of available 
refunds and reductions in future contributions 
to the scheme. 
 
Any resulting actuarial gains and losses are 
recognised immediately in other comprehensive 
income. 
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The increase in the present value of the liabilities 
of the Group’s defined benefit pension plan 
expected to arise from employee service in the 
period is charged to operating profit. 
 
The cost of the defined benefit pension plan, 
recognised in the Income and Expenditure 
Account as employee costs, except where 
included in the cost of an asset, comprises: 
i) the increase in pension benefit liability 

arising from employee service during the 
period; and 

 
ii) the cost of plan introductions, benefit 

changes, curtailments and settlements. 
 
The net interest cost is calculated by applying 
the discount rate to the net balance of the 
defined benefit obligation and the fair value of 
plan assets. This cost is recognised in the Income 
and Expenditure Account as ‘Pension finance 
expense’. 
 

c) Defined Contribution Pension Scheme This 
scheme was introduced from 1 April 2010 for all 
employees. This is a scheme into which the 
Society and the employee pay contributions. The 
employer contribution represents a fixed 
percentage of the employee gross salary. 
Contributions to the scheme made by the 
Society are charged to the Income and 
Expenditure Account as they fall due and are 
included within ‘Administrative Expenses’. 

Critical Judgements and Estimates in Applying the 
Accounting Policy 
The preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 

The Group has not applied any critical judgements in the 
preparation of these financial statements. The following 
are the areas of key accounting estimates: 

a) Impairment losses on loans and advances to 
customers (Note 12). The Group reviews its 
mortgage advances portfolio at least on a 
monthly basis to assess impairment. In 
determining whether an impairment loss should 
be recorded, the Group is required to exercise a 
degree of judgement. Impairment provisions are 
calculated using historical arrears experience, 
modelled credit risk characteristics, external 
credit referencing data and expected cashflows. 
Estimates are applied to determine prevailing 
market conditions (e.g. interest rates and house 
prices), customer behaviour (e.g. default rates) 
and the length of time expected to complete the 
sale of properties in possession. Any variation in 
the expected value of defaulted mortgaged 
properties will change the loss calculated in the 
Society’s provision model. As of December 2021 
a 2% increase in the forced sale discount applied 
to each property would see a £159k increase in 
the Society’s mortgage provisions. 
 

b) Expected mortgage life (Note 11) The expected 
(behavioural) life of mortgage assets is used to 
calculate the effective interest asset within loans 
and advances to customers. The Group uses 
historical redemption data as well as 
management judgement in estimating the 
expected life of mortgage assets. At least 
annually, the expected life is reassessed for 
reasonableness. Any variation in the expected 
life of mortgage assets will change the carrying 
value in the balance sheet and the timing of the 
recognition of interest income. As at December 
2021 a c.3 day increase to the expected life of 
mortgages would see an £89k increase in the EIR 
asset. 
 

c) Employee benefits (Note 25) The Group 
operates a defined benefit pension plan. 
Significant judgements (on such areas as future 
interest and inflation rates and mortality rates) 
have to be exercised in estimating the value of 
the assets and liabilities of the plan, and hence 
of its net surplus. The Society has opted to 
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recognise the pension surplus in its accounts in 
line with the requirements set out in IFRIC 14. 
The assumptions are outlined in Note 25 to the 
accounts. Of these assumptions, the main 
determinant of the liability is the discount rate. 
 

d) Fair value of derivatives and financial assets 
(Note 24) The Group calculates the fair value of 
its derivatives and financial assets using 
discounted cash flow models, using yield curves 
that are based on observable market data. 
 

e) Fair value of investment properties (Note 15) 
Investment properties are carried in the Balance 
Sheet at fair value with movements recorded in 
the Income and Expenditure Account. Fair value 
is based on active market data and prices with 
adjustments for differences in the nature, 
location or condition of properties made where 
appropriate. Fair values of investment 
properties will be determined at least once 
every three years by an independent and 
external, RICS (Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors) qualified valuer. The Group review 
investment properties for impairment on a 
property-by-property basis whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of investment properties may not 
be recoverable. These circumstances include, 
but are not limited to, significant declines in cash 
flows and occupancy at the property. We may 
decide to sell properties that are held for use 
and the sale prices of these properties may 
differ from their carrying values. 
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2. INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME  

 Group and Society 

 2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000 
    
On loans fully secured on residential property 18,062  15,369 
On other loans 479  625 
On debt securities               118                244 
On other liquid assets 1  5 
Interest receivable on financial instruments held at amortised cost 18,660  16,243 

Net charge on derivatives held at fair value through profit and loss (1,194)  (1,069) 

 17,466   15,174 

Income from fixed income securities is represented by amounts shown above under the heading 'on debt securities’. 

 
3. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES 

  Group and Society 

 2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000 

    
On shares held by individuals 3,353  4,709 
On deposits and other borrowings 99  201 

 3,452   4,910 
 

 
4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
Group other operating income largely relates to rents received. 

 Group  Society 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 

        
Other operating income  313   269   118   50  

 
 

5. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 Group  Society 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 
Staff costs        
   Wages and salaries 5,342  4,721  5,342  4,721 
   Social security costs 540  446  540  446 

Other pension costs to a defined contribution scheme 
(Note 25) 417  344  417  344 

 6,299   5,511   6,299   5,511 

Other administrative expenses 4,785  3,543  4,710  3,525 

 11,084   9,054   11,009   9,036 
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5. Administrative Expenses (continued) 

 Group  Society 
 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 
Other administrative expenses include:        
Remuneration of auditors (exclusive of value added tax)       
For audit work in respect of the audit of the Society 
and the consolidation 130  117  130  117 
For audit work in respect of the audit of the 
subsidiaries 7  7  7  7 
For other services  27  7  27  7 

          
Operating lease charges on property 352  364  352  364 

 

Remuneration of auditors in relation to ‘other services’ relates to work that is permitted by the Society’s policy for non-audit 
services. For 2021, this specifically related to audit of client money and assets in line with FCA requirements within the Client 
Assets Sourcebook (CASS) and assurance required by the Bank of England required for access to the TFSME Scheme. 

 
6. EMPLOYEES 
The average number of staff employed during the year, including Executive Directors was: 

 Group and Society  Group and Society 

 Full Time  Part Time 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 Number  Number  Number  Number 
Head office 99  96  14  13 
Branch offices 42  36  21  23 

  141  132  35  36 
 

 
7. REMUNERATION OF AND TRANSACTIONS WITH DIRECTORS   
a) Remuneration of Directors  
Emoluments of the Society's Directors total £825,939 (2020: £728,859) and are detailed below: 

                  2021                  2020 
                   Fees                   Fees 
 Non-Executive Directors    £   £ 

R Cuffe    34,170   33,012 

J Cullen*    47,855   46,230 

K McIntyre    26,078   25,194 

A Russell    30,450   29,417 

J Sawyer**    15,078   25,194 

J Williams     26,078   25,194 

I Wilson     30,450   29,417 

    210,159   213,658 
 

*A balance of £7,877, equivalent to 2 months of Directors’ fees, was voluntarily foregone by the Chair, J Cullen, to help Society 
initiatives in 2020 to support staff wellbeing and welfare.  
** In July 2021, Jon Sawyer came to the end of his three-year term and stood down. 
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7.a) Remuneration of and Transactions with Directors (continued) 

  

Salaries and 
Other Short 

Term 
Benefits 

Bonus 

Pension 
Contributions 

Other 
Benefits 

Total 
remuneration 

due 

Executive Directors  £ £ £ £ £ 

2021      

A Craddock 224,323 36,608 - 1,081 262,012 

C Hunter 142,087 20,138 14,209 509 176,943 

C B White 142,087 20,138 14,209 391 176,825 

 508,497 76,884 28,418 1,981 615,780 

      

2020      

A Craddock 210,664 250         -   962 211,876 

C Hunter 137,268 250   13,727  472 151,717 

C B White 137,268 250   13,727  363 151,608 

 485,200 750 27,454 1,797 515,201 

 
Given the impact of the pandemic on the performance of the Society, the Executive Directors and the rest of the 
executive team, voluntarily withdrew from their 2020 bonus scheme although a flat £250 “thank you” award was 
made to all eligible staff for the year.  
 
The Remuneration Committee reviewed the Society’s bonus scheme for all staff in early in 2021 in the context of the 
desire to retain and attract talented colleagues which was identified as a key risk for the Society. Further detail of this 
is given in the Remuneration Committee Report on page 47. 

Directors’ Pension  

The total pension contribution and benefits paid to Directors during the year were £28,418 (2020: £27,454) and £1,981 
(2020: £1,797) respectively. There was no accrued pension to be paid to Directors at either the start or end of the 
financial period.  

The defined benefit scheme operated by the Society closed on 31 March 2010 therefore there is no increase in accrued 
pension for the period. None (2020: None) of the Directors are members of this defined benefit scheme.  

There is an obligation to previous Directors to receive pension benefits which were unfunded, the provision for which 
is included within the pension obligations in Section 28 of FRS 102 (Note 25). Pension payments to past Directors in 
respect of services as Directors total £33,353 (2020: £32,381). 

Directors’ Loan and Transactions  

At 31 December 2021, there were no mortgages in relation to house purchases on behalf of Directors or connected 
persons (2020: None). 

There were no significant contracts between the Society and any Director of the Society during the year.   

A register is maintained at the Head Office of the Society, under Section 68 of the Building Societies Act 1986, which 
shows details of all loans, transactions and arrangements with Directors and their connected persons.  A statement of 
the appropriate details contained in the register, for the financial year ended 31 December 2021, will be available for 
inspection at the Head Office for a period of 15 days up to and including the Annual General Meeting. 
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7. Remuneration of and Transactions with Directors (continued) 

b) Key Management compensation  

The compensation paid and payable to key management for employee services is shown below. Key management 
includes the Directors, Non-Executive Directors and senior management staff defined by the Society as the Executive 
Committee members. 

     2021   2020 

 At 31 December      Number    Number 

Executive Directors    3   3 

Other Executive Members    4   4 

Non-Executive Directors    6   7 
 

  
Fixed Pay Variable 

Pay 
Total 

Total key management compensation £ £ £ 

2021 1,114,751 102,671 1,217,422 

2020* 949,436 1,750 951,186 

*During 2020 a permanent Chief Risk Officer was not in post and total does not include professional fees paid to an external provider of 
risk and compliance services. 
   

 
8. TAX ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 
a) Tax Expense Included in Income and Expenditure  

     Group   Society 

     2021 2020   2021 2020 
      £’000 £’000   £’000 £’000 
Current Tax:              

UK corporation Tax on Profits for the Year   504 90  495 103 

Adjustment in Respect of Previous Years   (2) (13)  (1) (13) 
Total current Tax   502 77  494 90 
Deferred Tax:        
Origination and Reversal of Timing Differences   58 61  58 61 
Adjustment in Respect of Previous Years   34 (48)  34 (48) 
Effect of Changes in Tax Rate   42 8  42 8 
Total Deferred Tax   134 21  134 21 
        

Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities      636  98   628 111 

b) Tax Expense Included in Other Comprehensive (Expense)/Income  
     Group   Society 
     2021 2020   2021 2020 
      £’000 £’000   £’000 £’000 
Deferred Tax:            
Origination and Reversal of Timing Differences   (214) (65)  (214) (65) 
Impact of Change in Tax Rate   (235) (53)  (235) (52) 
Total Tax Excluded in Other Comprehensive  (449) (118)  (449) (117) 
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c) Reconciliation of Tax Charge 

The tax assessed for the year is equal to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2020: 19%). 

The differences are explained below: 

     Group   Society 
     2021 2020   2021 2020 
      £’000 £’000   £’000 £’000 

Profit on Ordinary Activities Before Taxation    3,168 734   3,000 693 

        
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of 
corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2020: 19 %)   602 139  570 130 

        

Effects of:        

Expenses not Deductible for Tax Purposes   6 12  6 34 

Income Not Taxable for Tax Purposes   (23) (61)  (23) (61) 

Effects of Other Tax Rates   42 8  42 8 
Movement in unprovided deferred tax   (24) -  - - 

Adjustment to Tax change in Respect of Previous Years   33 -  33 - 

Total Tax   636 98  628 111 

d) Factors That May Affect the Future Tax Change 

The rate of corporation tax throughout the year was 19%. For the year ended 31 December 2021 deferred tax was 
provided at a rate of 25% being the rate substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

 

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
The amount outstanding over one year relates to collateral held with credit institutions in relation to credit support 
agreements in respect of hedging instruments. 

 Group  Society 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 
Accrued interest -  -  -  - 
Repayable on demand 12,472  11,888  9,509  11,122 
Other loans and advances by residual maturity repayable:       
In not more than three months -  3,090  -  3,090 

 12,472   14,978   9,509   14,212 
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10. DEBT SECURITIES 

   Group and Society 

     2021  2020 

  

  

 £,000 
 

£,000 

  

  

  

 

 
Issued by public bodies     -  - 
Issued by other borrowers     7,006  21,486 
      7,006   21,486 

         
Debt securities have remaining maturities as follows:        

        
Accrued interest     5  155 
In not more than one year     7,001  14,320 
In more than one year but not more than five years     -  7,011 

     7,006   21,486 
 

The fair value of debt securities for which an active market exists is disclosed in note 24. 
 
The Directors consider that the primary purpose of holding securities is prudential. The securities are held as liquid 
assets with the intention of use on a continuing basis in the Group's activities and are classified accordingly as financial 
assets. 

Movements during the year of debt securities held as financial fixed assets are analysed as follows: 

     Group and Society 

       £,000 
Amortised cost and net book value (excluding accrued interest)       
At 1 January       21,331  
Additions       - 
Disposals/maturities       (14,330) 
At 31 December       7,001  

Included in debt securities is an amount of £418 (2020: £80,599) representing the unamortised premium. 

 
11. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS  

   Group and Society 

     2021  2020 

     £,000  £,000 

        
Loans fully secured on residential property     609,490  574,075 
Other loans        
   Loans fully secured on land     6,158   9,764  

     615,648    583,839  
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11. Loans and Advances to Customers (continued) 
The remaining maturity of loans and advances to customers from the date of the balance sheet is as follows: 

   Group and Society 

     2021  2020 

     £,000  £,000 

        
Loans and advances repayable on demand     374   347  
Other loans and advances by residual maturity repayable:        
In not more than three months     6,610   6,304  
In more than three months but not more than one year     19,276   19,941  
In more than one year but not more than five years     109,540   113,833  
In more than five years     480,827    444,408  

     616,627   584,833  
Less        
Provisions for bad and doubtful debts (Note 12)     (979)  (994) 

     615,648    583,839  
Further analysis of the loan book above can be found in note 24.  
 

 

12. PROVISIONS FOR BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS 
Provision against loans and advances to customers has been made as follows: 

    Group and Society   

    

Loans Fully Secured 
on Residential 

Property  
Loans Fully 

Secured on Land  Total  
    £,000  £,000  £,000 
         

At 1 January 2021 Collective 579 
 

- 
 

579 
  

 
Specific 34 

 
381  415 

  
  

613 
 

381   994 

Amounts written off during the 
year 

Collective - 
 

- 
 

- 
Specific - 

 
- 

 
- 

  - 
 

- 
 

-   - 

Income and Expenditure Account  
    

Charge / (release) for the year 
Collective 67 

 
21 

 
88 

Specific 3 
 

(106) 
 

(103) 

  
  

70 
 

(85)   (15) 
  

    

   

At 31 December 2021 Collective 646 
 

21 
 

667 
  

 
Specific 37 

 
275  312 

  
  

683 
 

296   979 
Adjustments to specific provisions for bad and  
doubtful debts resulting from recoveries during year 

     
-  -  - 

Net charge to Income and Expenditure Account 70  (85)  (15) 
 

The Group has incorporated a post model adjustment (PMA) of £0.4m into the 2021 loan loss provision amount (2020, 
£0.3m). This adjustment forms part of the residential and commercial collective provisions and captures risks in place 
at the balance sheet date that would not otherwise be captured by the core loan loss model. A PMA was first 
introduced by the Society in 2020, to capture risks arising from both Brexit and the Covid-19 pandemic. This PMA has 
been updated for the 2021 year end and focusses on the potential impact of withdrawal of UK Government support 
initiatives in place through much of 2021 to stimulate activity in the housing market as well as support employment 
and the wider economy. 
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12. Provisions for Bad and Doubtful Debts (continued) 

Government initiatives, such as Stamp Duty reductions, supported housing transaction levels whilst support for 
individuals through the furlough scheme, also supported individuals’ income. The removal of these scheme in the 
second half of 2021 increased risk around property valuations and mortgage affordability. 

The adjustment therefore considers the potential downside risk for House Price Indexation (HPI) given government 
support in the property market that has now been removed. It also assesses employment sectors where an increased 
exposure to risks from Covid-19 existed at the year end.  A small adjustment was also made to address concerns around 
the potential impact of a new variant of Covid-19 (Omicron). 

    Group and Society 

    

Loans Fully Secured 
on Residential 

Property  
Loans Fully 

Secured on Land  Total  
    £,000  £,000  £,000 
         

At 1 January 2020 Collective 429  125  554 
   Specific 56  183  239 

    485  308  793 

Amounts written off during the 
year 

Collective -  -  - 
Specific -  -  - 

    -   -   - 

Income and Expenditure Account      

Charge / (release) for the year 
Collective 150  (125)  25 
Specific (22)  198  176 

    128  73  201 
         

At 31 December 2020 Collective 579  -  579 
   Specific 34  381  415 

    613  381  994 
Adjustments to specific provisions for bad and       
doubtful debts resulting from recoveries during year -  -  - 
Net charge to Income and Expenditure Account 128  73  201 
 
      
 

13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES  
The Society has the following subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned and operate in the United Kingdom and are 
registered in England and Wales. All companies are limited by shares and have a 31 December year end. 

Registered in England and Wales 
Registered 

number 

  
Class of Shares Held Interest Principal Activity 

   

Darlington Homes Limited 02748333   Ordinary 100% 
Property 
Management 

Darlington Estate Agents Limited 03331762   Ordinary 100% Dormant 

Darlington Investment Planning Limited 03230003   Ordinary 100% Dormant 

Darlington Mortgage Services Limited 02972124   Ordinary 100% Dormant 

DBS Services (No 3) Limited 03093231    Ordinary  100% Dormant 

Sentinel Homes Limited 02748328   Ordinary & Preference 100% Dormant 
 
The subsidiary Darlington Estate Agents Limited was closed by the Group on 1st February 2022. 
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13. Investment in Subsidiaries (continued)  

Society Only 
 

    
Investment in 

Subsidiaries 

Shares       

Cost and Net Book Value       

At 1 January and 31 December 2021      2,595 

       

Loans       

Cost       

At  1 January 2021      8,295 

Repayments      - 

At 31 December 2021      8,295 

       

Provision for Impairment       

At 1 January 2021      (3,285) 

Reversal of impairments on loans to subsidiaries      90 

At 31 December 2021      (3,195) 

 
Net Book Value 

 
    

 

At 1 January 2021      5,010 

At 31 December 2021      5,100 

       

Net Book Amount 31 December 2021      7,695 

       

Net Book Amount 31 December 2020      7,605 
 

All dormant subsidiary companies have taken advantage of the exemptions regarding not preparing and filing 
individual accounts as permitted in sections 394A and 448A of the Companies Act and have taken exemption from 
Companies Act audit requirements in line with section 479A.The registered office for all subsidiary companies is 
Sentinel House, Morton Road, Darlington, County Durham, DL1 4PT. 

The loan outstanding to Darlington Homes Limited is for an undetermined period subject to not less than 365 days 
notice and any future requirements of the Society as to repayment of principal. The Society reserves the right to 
convert the loan in whole or part into shares at its absolute discretion. The loan is unsecured and does not accrue 
interest. 
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14. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS  

 Group and Society 

 Land and Buildings     Equipment,   
     Plant  Fixtures,   
   Short  and  Fittings and   
 Freehold  Leasehold  Machinery  Vehicles  Total 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 
Cost          
  At 1 January 2021 699   952   147   2,943   4,741  
  Additions -                           -                          -                     549  549 
  Disposals (8)                         -                         -  (467)  (475) 
  Transfers 77                      -                        -  20  97 
  At 31 December 2021 768    952    147    3,045   4,912  

          
Accumulated depreciation          
  At 1 January 2021 293   738   125  2,169   3,325  
  Charged in year 30                   69                     7   196  302 
  Disposals -                   -                     -                   (11)                   (11) 
  Transfers 28  -  -  -  28 
  At 31 December 2021 351    807    132    2,354    3,644  

          
Net book value          
  At 31 December 2021 417    145   15    691   1,268 

  At 31 December 2020 406    214    22    774    1,416  

 

Disposals in the year included expenditure on assets that were reclassified as Software as a Service in 2021. This relates 
to software used by the Society under contractual arrangements but not under full ownership or control of the Society. 
The value of these relationships was therefore transferred from fixed assets to prepayments (see note 16). This is 
consistent with clarification guidance issued by accounting standards interpretation committees in 2021. 

Net book value of land and building occupied by the Group and Society for its own activities was: 

       Group and Society 

       2021  2020 

       £,000  £,000 
Net book value of land and buildings occupied by the Group/Society for its own activities was:    
At 31 December       529   539 
          
 

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

   Group Society 

   2021  2020  2021  2020 

   £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 

          
At 1 January    4,475   4,725   235   235  

  Disposals   

            
(2,063)              -                   -                     -   

  Transfers    (71)  -  (71)  - 
  Changes to fair value   131  (250)               (7)    -  
At 31 December    2,472   4,475   157   235  
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16. PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME 

 Group  Society 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 
Prepayments and accrued income 1,753   604   1,712   539 

        
As detailed in Note 14, the Group’s prepayment balances include balances relating to software used by the Society 
under contractual arrangements but not under full ownership or control of the Society. 

 
 

 
17. SHARES 

     Group and Society 

     2021  2020 

     £,000  £,000 
Held by individuals     607,004  580,104 
Other shares     6  8 

     607,010   580,112 

Shares are repayable from the balance sheet date in the ordinary course of business as follows: 

     Group and Society 

     2021  2020 

     £,000  £,000 

        
Accrued interest     1,087  1,639 
Repayable on demand     516,539  482,345 
In less than three months     8,713  - 
In more than three months but not more than one year    60,051          77,791  
In more than one year but not more than five years             20,620           18,337  

     607,010   580,112 

 
While a number of shares are held in accounts with fixed maturity dates, withdrawals are allowed on certain products 
with loss of interest. 
 

 

18. AMOUNTS OWED TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
Amounts owed to other credit institutions are repayable from the balance sheet in the ordinary course of business as follows: 

     Group and Society 

     2021  2020 

     £,000  £,000 

        
Accrued interest     24  36 
Repayable on demand     316  316 
In not more than three months     3,250  22,500 
In more than three months but not more than one year  -  21,000 
In more than one year but not more than five years   75,000  15,000 

     78,590  58,852 
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19. AMOUNTS OWED TO OTHER CUSTOMERS 
Amounts owed to other customers are repayable from the balance sheet in the ordinary course of business as follows: 

 Group  Society 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 

        
Accrued interest 4  23  4  24 
Repayable on demand 9,626  10,094  9,626  10,094 
In not more than three months:        
  Due to subsidiaries                  -                     -    2,600  2,600 
  Other customers 3,000  4,000  3,000  4,000 
In more than three months but not more than one year -  -  -  - 
In more than one year but not more than five years -  -                  -                     -   

 12,630   14,117   15,230   16,718 
 

 

20. OTHER LIABILITIES  
a) Other Liabilities Falling Due Within One Year 

 Group         Society 

 2021 2020 2021 2020
£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Corporation tax 242 - 234 - 
Deferred tax liability 1,009  427 1,009 426
Social security and other taxation  142 136 142 136
Other creditors 352 188 352 178

1,745  751  1,737  740

 b) Deferred Tax 

The movement in the deferred taxation liability above is as follows: 

 Group Society 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 

        
At 1 January  427   288   427  288  
Amount charged during year 582   139   582  138  
At 31 December  1,009    427    1,009   426  

 
The deferred taxation liability within Group and Society is as follows: 
   Group            Society 

 2021  2020 2021  2020 
 £,000  £,000 £,000  £,000 
       

Excess of tax allowances over depreciation -  29 -  29 
Other timing differences 119   (44)  119  (45) 
Deferred tax arising in relation to  
retirement benefit obligations (note 25) 890   442  890  442    

 1,009    427 1,009   426 
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21. ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME 

   Group                   Society 

 2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 

        
Amounts due within one year 1,123   962                1,102   941 
 

  

22. GUARANTEES AND OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS  
Capital commitments at 31 December, for which no provision has been made in the accounts were as follows:  

    Group and Society 
   2021 2020 
    £’000 £’000 

Contracted but Not Provided For   485 216 

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:                    Group and Society 
    2021 2020 

 Operating Leases Which Expire   £’000 £’000 
      

In Less than One Year  319 307 
In More Than One Year but Not More Than Five Years  464 598 
In More Than Five Years  23 41 
  806 946 

 
 

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
The group has taken exemption as provided in section 33.1A of FRS 102 and does not disclose transactions with 
members of the same group that are wholly owned. The group discloses transactions with related parties which are 
not wholly owned with the same group. However, during the year under consideration, there have been no such 
related party transactions which needs to be disclosed. 

See note 7 for disclosure of the Directors’ remuneration and key management compensation. 
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity in 
another entity. 

The Group is a retailer of financial instruments, mainly in the form of mortgages and savings and uses financial 
instruments to invest in liquid assets, raise wholesale funding and manage the risks arising from its operations. As a 
result of these activities the Group is exposed to a range of risks including liquidity, credit, and market risk. These risks 
are identified and discussed within the Risk Management Report. 

The Group has a formal structure for managing risk, including formal risk appetite statements, reporting lines, 
mandates and other control procedures. This structure is reviewed regularly by the Assets and Liabilities Committee 
(‘ALCO’), which is charged with the responsibility for managing and controlling the balance sheet exposures of the 
Group. Detail of the areas discussed in ALCO meetings are provided to each Board Risk and Compliance meeting. 

Instruments used for risk management purposes include derivative financial instruments (‘derivatives’), which are 
contracts or agreements whose value is derived from one or more underlying price, rate or index inherent in the 
contract or agreement, such as interest rates, exchange rates or stock market indices. 

The objective of the Group in using derivatives is in accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986 and is to limit the 
extent to which the Group will be affected by changes in interest rates or other factors specified in legislation. 
Derivatives are not used in trading activity or for speculative purposes and all derivatives are therefore designated as 
hedging instruments. 

A) GROUP FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY ACCOUNTING RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT CRITERIA  
The recognition and measurement of Financial Instruments is set out in the Accounting Policies (note 1). The table 
below shows the assets and liabilities of the Group assigned to the categories by which they are recognised and 
measured: 

The breakdown of the Group's financial assets and liabilities, shown below, is materially the same as the breakdown 
for the Society alone as material differences between the Group and Society balance sheets are within non-financial 
assets and non-financial liabilities.  
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24.a) Financial Instruments - Group Financial Assets and Liabilities by Accounting Recognition and Measurement Criteria (continued) 

Group 
Financial assets 

measured at fair 
value through 

profit or loss 

Financial assets 
that are debt 
instruments 
measured at 

amortised cost 

Financial liabilities 
carried at 

amortised cost 

Loan Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost 
less impairment 

Financial liabilities 
measured at fair 

value through the 
profit or loss Total 

At 31 December 2021 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 
Assets       
Cash in hand  - 104,107 - - - 104,107 
Loans and advances to credit institutions - 12,472 - - - 12,472 
Debt securities  - 7,006 - - - 7,006 
Loans and advances to customers - - - 618,412 (2,764) 615,648 
Derivative Financial Instruments 3,027 - - - - 3,027 
Total financial assets 3,027 123,585 - 618,412 (2,764) 742,260 
Non-financial assets      9,630 
Total Assets      751,890 

       
Liabilities 

     

 
Shares - - 607,010 - - 607,010 
Amounts owed to credit institutions - - 78,590 - - 78,590 
Amounts owed to other customers - - 12,630 - - 12,630 
Derivative Financial Instruments - - - - 390 390 
Total Financial Liabilities - - 698,230 - 390 698,620 
Other Non-financial liabilities 

  

 

 

 3,442 
Reserves      49,828 
Total Liabilities      751,890 
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24.a) Financial Instruments - Group Financial Assets and Liabilities by Accounting Recognition and Measurement Criteria (continued) 

Group 
Financial assets 

measured at fair 
value through 

profit or loss 

Financial assets 
that are debt 
instruments 
measured at 

amortised cost 

Financial liabilities 
carried at 

amortised cost 

Loan Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost less 
impairment 

Financial liabilities 
measured at fair 

value through the 
profit or loss Total 

At 31 December 2020 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 
Assets       
Cash in hand  - 75,089 - - - 75,089 
Loans and advances to credit institutions - 14,978 - - - 14,978 
Debt securities  - 21,486 - - - 21,486 
Loans and advances to customers 2,906  - - 580,933 - 583,839 
Derivative Financial Instruments 11 - - - - 11 
Total financial assets 2,917 111,553 - 580,933 - 695,403 
Non-financial assets      9,436 
Total Assets      704,839 

       
Liabilities 

     

 
Shares - - 580,112 - - 580,112 
Amounts owed to credit institutions - - 58,852 - - 58,852 
Amounts owed to other customers - - 14,117 - - 14,117 
Derivative Financial Instruments - - - - 2,846 2,846 
Total Financial Liabilities - - 653,081 - 2,846 655,927 
Other Non-financial liabilities 

  

 

  
2,329 

Reserves      46,583 
Total Liabilities      704,839 
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24. Financial Instruments (continued) 

B) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RECOGNISED AT FAIR VALUE 
Set out below is a comparison of carrying values to fair values of those of the Group’s and Society’s financial assets 
and liabilities as at 31 December which are listed or publicly traded, or for which a liquid and active market exists. 
Market values have been used to determine fair values. 

Fair Values of Financial Assets 

 2021  2020 

 

Carrying 
value  

Fair value 

 

Carrying 
value  

Fair value 

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 
Debt securities  7,006   7,017   21,486   21,448 

The nominal value of derivative financial instruments is disclosed on page 88 and the fair value of derivative financial 
assets and financial liabilities is disclosed in the Fair Value section below. 

These tables exclude mortgages, retail savings accounts and other balance sheet items as they are not listed or publicly 
traded, and no liquid or active markets exists. 

Fair Value Methodology 

Interest rate swaps are held on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives are measured using prices that are 
observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The valuation of the Groups' 
interest rate swaps is based on the 'present value' method. The expected future cash flows are discounted using 
prevailing SONIA yield curves obtained from quoted interest rates in similar time bandings (i.e. where the timings of 
cash flows and maturity match those of the instruments). 

The measurement of the fair value of Financial Instruments can be categorised into different levels as outlined below: 

1. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
2. Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either 

directly (i.e. as price) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
3. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

The Interest Rate Swaps held by the Group and related hedged items (loans and advances to customers) attributable 
to the hedged risk are the only financial instruments held by the Group at fair value.  Both are classified as Level 2 as 
follows:      

Group and Society      
2021 

 
2020 

Financial assets 
    

£,000 
 

£,000 
Derivative financial assets 

    
3,027  

 
11  

Fair value adjustment for hedged risk 
    

(2,764) 
 

2,906  
Financial liabilities 

    

 

 

 
Derivative financial liabilities 

    
(390) 

 
(2,846) 

 
The investment assets, comprising of equities and bonds, within the Group’s funded defined benefit pension plan 
(Note 25) have also been fair valued using the above hierarchy categories as follows: 

 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Total 

 
 

 £,000 £,000 £,000  £,000 
At 31 December 2021 

 
 361 27,420 6,687 

 
34,468 

At 31 December 2020 
 

 2,455 25,135 7,580 
 

35,170 
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24. Financial Instruments (continued) 

C) CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
Interest Rate Swaps 

The Group holds a portfolio of fixed rate mortgages, with a fixed repricing term not more than 5 years after origination 
in line with the Society’s risk appetite and regulatory permissions. This portfolio exposes the Group to changes in the 
fair value of the mortgage assets arising due to movements in market interest rates. The Group manages this risk 
exposure by entering into pay fixed/receive floating interest rate swaps as well as taking advantage of “natural 
hedging” opportunities, where assets and liabilities with similar repricing profiles provide offsetting risk positions. This 
approach only hedges the interest rate risk element and therefore other key risks, including credit risk, are not hedged 
by the Group. The interest rate risk component is defined as the change in fair value of the fixed rate mortgages arising 
solely from changes in the benchmark (SONIA) rate of interest. 

FRS 102 Section 11 paragraph 2 provides an accounting policy choice for the accounting for financial instruments.  The 
Group has elected to apply IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to account for all of its 
financial instruments, and meets the conditions described in IAS 39 to carry out hedge accounting. As such, hedge 
accounting has been adopted. The movements in the fair value of the Group’s hedging instruments (interest rate 
swaps) and hedged items (the underlying mortgages) during the year are shown in the table below. 

Movements in Fair Values of Hedged Instruments and Hedged Items: 

i) Amounts recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account 

The income, expense and changes in fair values of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
recorded in the Income and Expenditure Account is as follows: 

 
    

Group and Society 

    

 
2021 

 
2020 

    

 
£,000 

 
£,000 

Gains/(Losses) on hedging instruments 
  

5,688 
 

(1,657) 
(Losses)/Gains on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 

  
(5,669) 

 
1,576  

Net gains from derivative financial instruments 
  

19   (81)  
 

During 2021, the Society completed an exercise to transition its LIBOR linked interest rate swaps into equivalent SONIA 
linked interest rate swaps. As part of the transition process, interest charges due on the LIBOR linked swaps were 
rolled into the opening market value of the replacement SONIA swaps. Gains/(Losses) on hedging instruments are 
therefore presented exclusive of £102,000 of interest adjustments above, which do form part of the derivative market 
value, but do not reflect true gains on derivative positions during the year. 

Similarly, as part of the transition exercise, the Society amended its discounting practise, moving to a SONIA based 
discount rate in place of its previous LIBOR based rate. The resulting movement in fair value adjustment on mortgage 
assets was deferred, and is amortised to the income statement over the expected remaining life of the hedged items. 

ii) Risk exposure and fair value measurements  

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair value is provided under Fair Value 
Methodology above. For information about the company’s exposure to market risk please refer to section d of this 
note. 
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24.c) Financial Instruments - Classification of Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (continued) 

Control of Derivatives  

Derivatives used by the Group are exclusively interest rate swaps used to hedge Group balance sheet exposures arising 
from fixed rate mortgage lending. The Board of Directors has authorised the use of derivatives in accordance with the 
Building Societies Act 1986.  All limits over the use of derivative products are the responsibility of the ALCO. Derivatives 
are not used in trading activity or for speculative purposes and all derivatives are therefore designated as hedging 
instruments. The accounting policies for hedging contracts are described in Note 1.  

Financial Risk Management  

The Group's operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of market risk (including interest 
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

D) MARKET RISK 
The principal market risk that the Group is exposed to is interest rate risk, The Group has no exposure to foreign 
currency, but the Group has an indirect exposure to the performance of the equities market through the Society's 
closed defined benefit scheme. 

The table below, analyses the interest rate swaps by maturity and shows the nominal principal amount, credit risk 
weighted amount and replacement cost of contracts.  The nominal principal amount indicates the volume of business 
outstanding at the balance sheet date and does not represent amounts at risk.  The replacement cost represents the 
cost of replacing contracts with positive values, calculated at market rates current at the balance sheet date this 
balance therefore reflects the Group’s exposure should the counterparties default.  The credit risk weighted amount, 
which is calculated according to rules specified by the Regulator, is based on the replacement cost, but also takes into 
account measures of the extent of potential future exposure and the nature of the counterparty. 

Maturity analysis of Interest Rate Swaps: 

Group and Society 
Nominal 
Principal 
Amount 

Credit risk 
weighted 

amount 

Replacement  
Cost 

 

Nominal 
Principal 
Amount 

Credit risk 
weighted 

amount 

Replacement  
Cost 

 
2021 2021 2021  2020 2020 2020  

£,000 £,000 £,000  £,000 £,000 £,000  
       

 
Under one year 90,000 

                          
-   227  64,000 

                          
-   - 

Between one and five years 209,950 - 2,773  210,850 8 8 
Over five years 750  -   -    -   -   -   
Total  300,700 - 3,000  274,850 8 8 

 

The net interest income and market value of the Group’s assets are exposed to movements in interest rates.  This 
exposure is managed on a continuous basis, within limits approved by the Board. After taking into account the swaps 
entered into by the Group, the interest rate risk exposure of the Group, allocating items to time bands by reference 
to the earlier of the next contractual interest re-pricing date and the maturity date, was as follows:
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24.d) Financial Instruments – Market Risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk analysis: 

Group 
 Not more than 

three months  

 More than three 
months but not 

more than six 
months  

 More than six  
months but not 
more than one 

year  

 More than one 
year but not more 

than five years  

 More than five 
years  

 Non-interest 
Bearing  

 Total  

 At 31 December 2021   £,000   £,000   £,000   £,000   £,000   £,000   £,000   
       

 Assets         
 Liquid assets  123,184 - - - - 401 123,585 

 Loans and advances to customers  294,103 32,923 53,780 237,489 139 (2,786) 615,648 
 Derivative assets  - - - - - 3,027 3,027 
 Non-financial assets  - - - - - 9,630 9,630 

 Total assets  417,287 32,923 53,780 237,489 139 10,272 751,890  
       

 Liabilities  
       

 Shares  474,215 33,066 62,065 37,664 - - 607,010 
 Amounts owed to credit institutions   78,590 - - - - - 78,590 
 Amounts owed to other customers  12,630 - - - - - 12,630 
 Derivative liabilities  - - - - - 390 390 
 Other liabilities  - - - - - 3,442 3,442 
 Reserves  - - - - - 49,828 49,828 
 Total liabilities  565,435 33,066 62,065 37,664 - 53,660 751,890 

 Off balance sheet items  (287,950) 33,500 43,750 209,950 750 - - 
 Interest rate sensitivity Gap  139,802 (33,643) (52,035) (10,125) (611) (43,388) - 

 Cumulative gap  139,802 106,159 54,124 43,999 43,388 - - 
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24.d) Financial Instruments – Market Risk (continued) 

Group 
Not more than 

three months 

More than three 
months but not 

more than six 
months 

More than six  
months but not 
more than one 

year 

More than one 
year but not more 

than five years 

More than five 
years 

Non-interest 
Bearing 

Total 

At 31 December 2020 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000  
       

Assets        
Liquid assets 98,938 12,049 - - - 566 111,553 

Loans and advances to customers 289,784 19,282 49,033 222,452 - 3,288 583,839 

Derivative assets - - - - - 11 11 

Non-financial assets - - - - - 9,436 9,436 

Total assets 388,722 31,331 49,033 222,452 - 13,301 704,839 
 

       
Liabilities        
Shares 437,717 49,396 62,095 30,904 - - 580,112 

Amounts owed to credit institutions  57,852 - 1,000 - - - 58,852 

Amounts owed to other customers 14,117 - - - - - 14,117 

Derivative liabilities - - - - - 2,846 2,846 

Other liabilities - - - - - 2,329 2,329 

Reserves - - - - - 46,583 46,583 

Total liabilities 509,686 49,396 63,095 30,904 - 51,758 704,839 

Off balance sheet items (253,100) - 42,250 210,850 - - - 
Interest rate sensitivity Gap 132,136 (18,065) (56,312) (19,302) - (38,457) - 

Cumulative gap 132,136 114,071 57,759 38,457 38,457 - - 
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24.d) Financial Instruments – Market Risk (continued) 

The ALCO performs sensitivity analysis on a monthly basis to assess the interest rate risk faced by the Group over a 12 
month period, if no management actions were undertaken. A range of risks measured by ALCO are shown in the table 
below. 

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis: 

 Group & Society   12 Month Impact  
    £’000 Comment 
Possible Scenarios      
Increase in Bank Base Rate by 0.25%  173  Improvement in profit before tax 
Decrease in Bank Base Rate by 0.25%  (55) Reduction in profit before tax 
    

Severe but Plausible Scenarios    
Increase in Bank Base Rate by 2.0%  1,650  Improvement in profit before tax 
Decrease in Bank Base Rate to Zero  (55) Reduction in profit before tax 

A reduction of 0.10% in the discount rate would increase the pension deficit by approximately £0.5m (2020: £0.6m). 

E) CREDIT RISK 
Credit risk is the risk that the Group experiences financial loss as a result of customers or counterparties not being able 
to meet their contractual obligations as they fall due. The Group monitors its credit risk through operating a credit 
governance framework in which two committees take responsibility for the two main areas of credit risk within the 
Group. ALCO monitors the credit risk within the Group’s liquid assets and derivatives and the Credit Committee 
monitors credit risk within the Groups loans and advances to customers (i.e. its mortgage book).  

These committees both operate under delegated authorities from the Board and have detailed policy and risk appetite 
documents that are reviewed by the Board on an annual basis. 

The Society enters into credit support agreements, which protect against counterparty default in respect to hedging 
instruments by means of collateral transactions. Collateral balances are included within ‘liquid assets’ or ‘amounts 
owed to credit institutions’ as appropriate and interest receivable or payable reflected on the Income and Expenditure 
Account within ‘net interest receivable’. 

At 31 December 2021 the Group held financial assets of £1.2m (2020: £3.1m) in credit support agreements, included 
within liquid assets: loans and advances to credit institutions in relation to its net derivative asset exposure at the 
balance sheet date.  The carrying amount of all classes of financial instruments represents the maximum exposure to 
credit risk. None of the financial assets are either past due or impaired. 

F) LIQUID ASSETS AND DERIVATIVES 
The ALCO is responsible for considering and approving counterparties for both investment and derivative transactions 
with limits applied to individual counterparties, groups and geographical regions to control the risk to which the Group 
is exposed. The Group policies limit investments to central government (including supranational bonds and 
investments with the Bank of England), Banks and Building Societies. 

Liquidity by Industry Sector:   Group    Society   
Credit risk   2021  2020  2021  2020 

   £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000 
          

Cash resources   402  566  402  566 
Central government 103,705  74,523  103,705  74,523 
Credit institutions   19,478  36,464  16,515  35,698 
Total liquidity exposures   123,585  111,553  120,622  110,787 
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24.f) Financial Instruments – Liquid Assets and Derivatives (continued) 

ALCO monitor the exposure of the Group against these limits as well as relevant market and industry information to 
aid in the assessment of changes to the credit quality of counterparties including credit ratings and credit default swap 
rates. 

Liquidity by Industry Sector rating set by Credit Quality Step as defined by the European Banking Authority (EBA) for 
the purposes of capital reporting: 

Credit Quality Step Group 

2021 
Less than 3 

months 
3 months to 1 

year 
Over 1 year   Total 

   £,000   £,000   £,000     £,000  
Cash Resource                402                    -                    -   

 
             402   

Credit Quality Step 1 110,779                  -                    - 
 

110, 
Credit Quality Step 2         12,479                   -                    -   

 
        12,479  

Total        123,585                  -   -      123,585 

            

2020 
Less than 3 

months 
3 months to 1 

year Over 1 year   Total 

  £,000   £,000   £,000     £,000  
Cash Resource            566                       -                        -            566  
Credit Quality Step 1        76,371           2,631           7,016       86,018  
Credit Quality Step 2         15,551           9,418               -        24,969  
Total        92,488         12,049          7,016     111,553  

The Groups Treasury team and ALCO regularly assess the credit risk of the counterparties with which the Group has 
interest rate swaps in place with. The credit rating of these counterparties and the nominal value of swap relationships 
at each credit rating level are shown in the table below. 

Derivative Credit Risk by Credit Quality Step: 

 CQS 1 CQS 2 Other  Total 

  £,000   £,000   £,000  
 

 £,000  
Nominal Value as at 31 December 2021 - 300,700  -  300,700  
Nominal Value as at 31 December 2020 - 274,850          -    274,850  
 
G) LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS  
All mortgage loan applications are assessed with reference to the Society’s credit risk appetite statement and lending 
policy, which includes assessing applications for potential money laundering and fraud risk. When deciding on an 
overall risk appetite that the Society wishes to adopt, both numerical and non-numerical considerations are taken into 
account, along with data on the current UK economic climate, current loan book and risk appetite for the Society. The 
Society's risk appetite statement must comply with all the prevailing regulatory policy and framework and is approved 
annually by the Board. 

The Society's lending book is monitored by the Risk Management Committee to ensure that it remains in line with the 
stated risk appetite of the Society including adherence to the lending principles, policies and lending limits.  
Comprehensive credit risk management information is reported to the Risk Management Committee on a monthly 
basis.  As the Society holds first charge, the Society's credit risk at the point of any default on payments is limited to 
the loan balance at that point. 

For new customers the first level of the credit control framework is achieved via individual underwriting which assesses 
the affordability of potential customers prior to making loan offers. A second level is the lending policy rules which are  
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24.g) Financial Instruments – Loans and Advances to Customers (continued) 
applied to new applications to ensure that they meet the risk appetite of the Society. All mortgage applications are 
overseen by the Society's Customer Support Team who ensure that all lending criteria are applied and that all  

information submitted within the application is validated. All further advances to existing customers are also subject 
to affordability checks, lending policy rules and individual underwriting processes. 

It is the Society’s policy to ensure good customer outcomes and lend responsibly by ensuring at the outset that the 
customer can meet mortgage repayments. This is achieved by obtaining specific information from the customer 
concerning income and expenditure but also external credit reference agency data. Part of this assessment includes 
stress testing the affordability throughout the life of the mortgage using a higher rate of interest than the contracted 
rate. 

Loans and advances to residential, buy to let and commercial loan customers are shown in the table below: 

  
 

Group & Society 
  

 
2021  2020 

  
 

£’000  £’000 
Residential Loans  

 
575,769  535,127 

Buy to Let Loans  
 

36,210  35,254 
Commercial Loans  

 
6,454  10,170 

Total   
 

618,433   580,551 
  

 
   

Provisions for Bad and Doubtful Debts (note 12)  
 

(979)  (994) 
Effective Interest Asset  

 
958  1,376 

Fair Value of the Hedged Mortgage Asset  
 

(2,764)  2,906 

Loans and Advances to Customers (note 11)  
 

615,648   583,839 

  
The Society operates throughout England, Wales and Scotland with the mortgage book mainly concentrated around 
the North of England. 

Geographical Analysis 

Group and Society Residential BTL  Commercial Total 
At 31 December 2021 £,000 % £,000 % £,000 % £,000 % 

     
    

Eastern  17,186 2.98%  619 1.71% -   0.00%  17,805 2.88% 
East Midlands  26,709 4.64%  763  2.11%  -   0.00%  27,472 4.44% 
London  24,948 4.33%  8,216  22.69%  -   0.00%  33,164 5.36% 
North  158,614 27.55%  5,966  16.48%  5,316  82.37% 169,896 27.47% 
North West  41,666  7.24%  2,502  6.91%  302  4.68%  44,470  7.19% 
Outer Met (London)  31,037  5.39%  2,178  6.01%  -   0.00%  33,215  5.37% 
Outer South East  97,403  16.92%  5,072  14.01%  -   0.00% 102,475  16.57% 
Scotland  15,661  2.72%  116  0.32%  -   0.00%  15,777  2.55% 
South West  51,059  8.87%  3,299  9.11%  138  2.14%  54,496  8.81% 
Wales  20,809  3.61%  804  2.22%  -   0.00%  21,613  3.49% 
West Midlands  28,447  4.94%  2,851  7.87%  -   0.00%  31,298  5.06% 
Yorkshire and Humberside  62,230  10.81%  3,824  10.56%  698  10.81%  66,752  10.79% 
Total 575,769  36,210  6,454  618,433 
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Loan to Value Analysis 
The balance weighted average loan to value (LTV) of overall mortgage book is 51.85% (2020: 53.87%). Mortgage 
indemnity insurance acts as additional security for all residential loans where the borrowing exceeds 80% of the value 
of the property at the point of application. 

Group and Society 
Residential BTL  Commercial  

 

 Total  

At 31 December 2021 % % % 
 

% 
0-30% 14.88% 8.41% 4.63%  14.39% 
30%-60% 45.72% 67.22% 59.72%  47.12% 
60%-80% 34.45% 23.44% 16.32%  33.62% 
80%-90% 4.54% 0.25% 1.20%  4.26% 
90%-100% 0.41% 0.00% 9.87%  0.48% 
>100% 0.00% 0.68% 8.26%  0.13% 
Balance Weighted Average LTV 51.80% 51.00% 61.73%   51.85% 

    
 

 

      
Group and Society Residential BTL Commercial 

 
Total 

At 31 December 2020 % %  %  
 

 %  
0-30% 15.57% 5.38% 6.01%  14.78% 
30%-60% 39.84% 57.81% 48.87%  41.09% 
60%-80% 37.32% 35.89% 7.99%  36.73% 
80%-90% 6.49% 0.24% 0.00%  6.00% 
90%-100% 0.78% 0.00% 7.22%  0.84% 
>100% 0.00% 0.69% 29.91%  0.57% 
Balance Weighted Average LTV 53.61% 53.52% 68.87%   53.87% 

 

The quality of the Society’s retail mortgage book is reflected in the number and value of accounts in arrears. By volume 
0.40% (2020: 0.29%) of loans are three months or more in arrears and by value it is 0.38% (2020: 0.29%). 

 

 

24.g) Financial Instruments – Loans and Advances to Customers (continued) 
Group and Society Residential BTL  Commercial Total 
At 31 December 2020 £,000 % £,000 % £,000 % £,000 % 

 
        

Eastern 13,645  2.55%         742 2.10%              -   0.00% 14,387  2.48% 
East Midlands     27,377  5.12%       922  2.62%       -   0.00%     28,299  4.87% 
London     19,473  3.64%   8,073  22.90%        -   0.00%     27,546  4.74% 
North   165,250  30.88%     6,202  17.58%  6,912  67.97%  178,364  30.72% 
North West     43,779  8.18%     1,759  4.99%         315  3.09%     45,853  7.90% 
Outer Met (London)     24,368  4.55%    1,807  5.13%         -   0.00%     26,175  4.51% 
Outer South East     77,207  14.43%     5,512  15.63%         -   0.00%     82,719  14.25% 
Scotland      6,708  1.25%          -   0.00%          -   0.00%       6,708  1.16% 
South West     45,930  8.58%     2,561  7.26%          -   0.00%     48,491  8.35% 
Wales     21,111  3.95%      813  2.31%         -   0.00%     21,924  3.78% 
West Midlands     29,516  5.52%     2,861  8.12%          -   0.00%     32,377  5.58% 
Yorkshire and Humberside     60,763  11.35%     4,002  11.36%     2,943  28.94%     67,708  11.66% 
Total 535,127    35,254     10,170   580,551  
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24.g) Financial Instruments – Loans and Advances to Customers (continued) 
Group and Society 2021  2021  2020  2020 
Arrears Analysis £,000  %  £,000  % 
Not impaired    

 
   

Neither past due nor impaired 612,057  99.0%  574,550  99.0% 
Past due up to 3 months but not impaired 2,595  0.4%  3,074  0.5% 
Past due over 3 months but not impaired 1,341  0.2%  1,666  0.3% 
Possessions              -    0.0%               -    0.0%         
Impaired    

 
   

Not past due 1,509  0.3%  1,261  0.2% 
Past due up to 3 months 90  0.0%  -  0.0% 
Past due 3 to 6 months 519  0.1%  -  0.0% 
Past due 6 to 12 months 271  0.0%  -  0.0% 
Past due over 12 months 51  0.0%  -  0.0% 
Possessions              -                 -    -  0.0% 
Totals 618,433    580,551   

 
     2021  2020 
Group and Society  

  
 Indexed  Indexed 

Value of collateral held     £,000  £,000 
Neither past due or impaired  

  
 1,590,202  1,458,962 

Past due but not impaired     8,554  9,954 
Impaired  

  
 3,398  1,355 

Totals  
  

 1,602,154   1,470,271 
 
2020 comparative arrears figures are shown net of payment deferrals applied to members’ accounts in line with the 
sector wide response to supporting borrowers experiencing temporary payment difficulties during the coronavirus 
pandemic. These payment deferrals were no longer available as at 2021 year end. 

The collateral consists of residential and commercial property. Collateral values are adjusted and produced by an 
industry recognised publicly available price index to derive the indexed valuation at 31 December. The Society uses 
the index to update the property values of its residential and buy-to-let portfolios on a quarterly basis. 

Possession balances represent those loans where the Society has taken ownership of the underlying security pending 
its sale. As at 31 December 2021, £4.87m (2020: £4.74m) of loans and advances to customers were past due 
representing 0.79% (2020: 1.03%) of the total mortgage book. 

Forbearance  
As a responsible lender the Society will always look for ways to support customers in financial difficulty. The Society 
has various forbearance options to support customers who may find themselves in financial difficulty. These include: 

 Payment plans may be agreed to enable customers to reduce their arrears balances by an agreed amount 
per month which is paid in addition to their standard monthly repayment. 

 Reduced payment concessions may be agreed to allow a customer to underpay for a specific period of time. 
The monthly underpaid amount accrues as arrears and agreement is reached at the end of the concession 
period regarding how the arrears will be repaid. 

 The term of the mortgage may be extended in order to reduce payments to a level which is affordable to the 
customer based on their current financial circumstances and likely retirement date. 

 Capitalisations may occur where arrears are added to the capital balance outstanding for the purposes of re-
structuring the loan. 
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24.g) Financial Instruments – Loans and Advances to Customers (continued) 
 Temporary interest only concessions may be agreed to allow the customer to reduce monthly payments to 

cover interest only, and if made, the arrears status will not increase. Interest only concessions are only 
offered rarely following a full affordability assessment and for no longer than 12 months. 

All forbearance arrangements are formally discussed with the customer and reviewed by qualified staff prior to any 
offer of a forbearance arrangement from the Society to the customer.  The Financial Support Team continually monitor 
all accounts with forbearance in order to minimize credit risk. Possession of properties is considered as a last resort. 

Regular reporting on the level and different types of forbearance activity is monitored by the Society's Risk 
Management Committee on a monthly basis. In addition all forbearance arrangements are reviewed on a regular basis 
to assess the suitability of the arrangement for the customer and potential risk to the Society. 

The total value of accounts in forbearance as at 31 December 2021 was £3.5m (2020: £3.0m). The table below details 
the number of forbearance cases: 

 
  

Group and Society 

  
 

2021 
 

2020 
Type of Forbearance  

 
Accounts 

 
Accounts 

Payment plans 
  

16 
 

15 
Reduced payment concession 

  
             3 

 
             3 

Mortgage term extensions 
  

29 
 

35 
Capitalisations 

  
3 

 
- 

Interest only concession 
  

1 
 

2 
Other 

  
- 

 
- 

Total 
  

               52  
 

               55  
 

  

 

 

 

Total loans and advances to customers (no. of accounts) 
 

         5,450  
 

          5,540  
Percentage of total mortgage book (by value) 

  
0.6% 

 
0.5% 

At 31 December 2021 a provision for bad and doubtful debts of £0.0m (2020: £0.0m) is held against accounts with an 
offer of forbearance. 

H) LIQUIDITY RISK 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not hold sufficient liquid resources (resources readily transferable to cash 
or cash equivalent) to meet its obligations as they fall due. 

The Group’s liquidity policy is to maintain sufficient liquid resources to cover cash flow imbalances and fluctuations in 
funding, to retain full public confidence in the solvency of the Group and to enable the Group to meet its financial 
obligations. This is achieved through maintaining a prudent level of liquid assets, through wholesale funding facilities 
and through management control of the growth of the business. 

For each material category of financial liability a maturity analysis is provided in Notes 17 to 19, which represents the 
earliest time that the financial liability may mature, however, the creditor may be required to pay a penalty to receive 
these matured funds. The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period at the Balance Sheet date to the contractual maturity date. 

The undiscounted contractual maturities of the Groups financial liabilities are shown in the table below:
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24.h) Financial Instruments – Liquidity Risk (continued) 

Liability Maturity Analysis: 

Group 

Not more than 
three months 

More than 
three months 
but not more 

than six 
months 

More than six  
months but 

not more than 
one year 

More than one 
year but not 

more than five 
years 

More than five 
years 

Non-interest 
Bearing 

Total 

At 31 December 2021 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 
Liabilities 

       

Shares          474,215             33,066             62,065             37,664                     -                      -            607,010  
Amounts owed to credit institutions              3,590                     -                      -              75,000                     -                      -              78,590  
Amounts owed to other customers            12,630                     -                      -                      -                      -                      -              12,630  
Derivative liabilities                    -                      -                      -                      -                      -   390                 390 
Other liabilities                    -                      -                      -                      -                      -                3,442               3,442  
Reserves                    -                      -                      -                      -                      -              49,828             49,828  
Total Liabilities          490,435             33,066             62,065           112,664                     -              53,660           751,890  
 

       

Group 

Not more than 
three months 

More than 
three months 
but not more 

than six 
months 

More than six  
months but 

not more than 
one year 

More than one 
year but not 

more than five 
years 

More than five 
years 

Non-interest 
Bearing 

Total 

At 31 December 2020 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 
Liabilities 

       

Shares 437,717  49,396  62,095  30,904                     -                      -   580,112  
Amounts owed to credit institutions 22,852  20,000  1,000  15,000                     -                      -   58,852  
Amounts owed to other customers 14,117  

 
-                      -                      -                      -   14,117  

Derivative liabilities   -  -   -                      -                      -   2,846  2,846  
Other liabilities -   -   -                      -                      -   2,329  2,329  
Reserves -   -   -                      -                      -   46,583  46,583  
Total Liabilities 474,686  69,396             63,095             45,904                     -   51,758  704,839  
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24. Financial Instruments (continued) 

I) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
As further described in the Risk Management Report on page 22, the group’s objectives when managing capital are to 
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern by safeguarding Group assets and maintaining the financial 
strength of the Group in order to protect members' funds, provide benefits to members and other stakeholders and 
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

The Group's tier 1 capital is solely in the form of retained earnings within the General Reserve.  The Group measures 
capital adequacy against an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and risk appetite statement as well 
as regulatory capital requirements. 

Capital positions are reported to management and the Board monthly and measured against the Group's Corporate 
Plan.  The Group has maintained capital in excess of its capital requirements and risk appetite statement throughout 
the year. 

Further information on the Society’s risk management framework and the capital adequacy calculations (within the 
Society’s Pillar 3 disclosures) can be found on the Society’s website www.darlington.co.uk.  

 
25. PENSIONS 
a) Overview 

The Group operates a defined contribution pension plan for its employees. The cost of contributions to the defined 
contribution plan in the financial year amounts to £417,000 (2020: £344,000). There were no outstanding or prepaid 
contributions at either the beginning or the end of the financial year.  

The Group operates two defined benefit pension plans: a funded defined benefit pension plan for its employees 
providing benefits based on final pensionable pay and an unfunded defined benefit pension plan which relates to an 
obligation to previous Directors to receive pension benefits both of which are closed to new employees. 

The funded plan was closed to future accrual as at 31 March 2010. The plan funds are administered by Trustees and 
are independent of the Group's finances.  Contributions are assessed by a qualified actuary on the basis of triennial 
valuations or interim valuations as deemed appropriate using a projected unit method. 

The most recent valuation was carried out as at 30 September 2018.  The actuarial valuation as at 30 September 2018 
showed a surplus of £45,000 on the trustees' technical provisions basis and therefore no deficit contribution payments 
were required.    

The administration and trusteeship of the Plan, including actuarial, legal and investment activities, has been completed 
by The Pensions Trust to improve the governance, oversight and expertise available to manage the pension 
arrangement.   

The Unfunded Plan relates to an obligation to previous Directors to receive pension benefits which were unfunded. 

Section 28 of FRS 102 (Employee benefits) requires that the net assets or liabilities of defined benefit pension 
obligations are included on the balance sheet gross of the related deferred tax. 
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25. Pensions (continued) 

b) Retirement Benefits 

The valuation for FRS 102 disclosures has been based on the most recent actuarial valuation at 30 September 2018 
and updated by professionally qualified actuaries independent of the Society and Group to take account of the 
requirements of FRS 102 in order to assess the liabilities of the pension obligations at 31 December 2021.  Plan assets 
are stated at their market value at 31 December 2021. The financial and other assumptions used to calculate pension 
liabilities under Section 28 of FRS 102 were: 

 Group and Society 

 2021  2020 

Valuation method Projected unit 
Projected 

unit 
Discount rate 1.82%  1.40% 
Inflation rate 3.33%  2.95% 

Increase to deferred benefits during deferment 2.50%  2.30% 

Increases to pensions in payment 3.70%  3.60% 

Mortality 

95% of 
S2PXA with 

CMI_2020 
[1.25% 

males, 1.0% 
females]  

95% of 
S2PXA with 
CMI_2019 

[1.25% 
males, 1.0% 

females] 
The mortality assumptions used were as follows: 
 Group and Society 

 2021  2020 
Assumed life expectancy on retirement at age 65 are:    
Retiring today – Males 22.2   22.2  
Retiring today – Females 23.9   23.9  
Retiring in 20 years time – Males 23.5   23.5  
Retiring in 20 years time – Females 25.2   25.1  
 

The fair value of the funded defined benefit plan assets and the present value of the defined pension benefit 
obligations were: 

 Group and Society 

 2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000 
Funded plan    
Equities 14   1,175  
Bonds 30,604   27,253  
Cash and other assets 3,850    6,742  
Market value of plan assets at 31 December 34,468   35,170  
Present value of funded obligations (30,331)   (32,229) 
Surplus in the funded plan 4,137   2,941  
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25.b) Pensions – Retirement Benefits (continued) 
The present value of the unfunded defined pension benefit obligations was: 

 Group and Society 

 2021 2020  
 £,000 £,000  

Present value of unfunded obligations and deficit in the unfunded plan (574)  (616) 
Net Pension surplus before deferred tax 3,563    2,325  
The deferred tax liability arising in relation to retirement benefit obligations was:   

Related deferred tax liability included within note 20 (890)  (442) 
Net pension asset 2,673    1,883  

The Society recognises an asset in relation to the surplus position of the funded plan on the basis that the Society’s 
control over the utilisation of the surplus in the scheme satisfies the requirements set out in Section 28 of FRS102. The 
Society separately recognises the liability in relation to its obligations to the unfunded scheme calculated as of the 
year end. 

The amount recognised in the Income and Expenditure accounts is as follows: 
 Group and Society 

 2021  2020 
Pension finance expense: £,000  £,000 
Interest income on plan assets 485   626  
Interest on pension plan liabilities (444)  (589) 
Service cost - administrative cost (66)  (37) 
Other (8) 

 
- 

 (33)   - 

  
 Group and Society   

Amount recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI):  
2021  2020 

  £,000  £,000  
Actuarial gains/(losses) on the liabilities   1,334 (3,307) 

Return on assets, excluding interest income  (172) 3,647 

Total remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability to be shown in SOCI  1,162 340 

c) Retirement Benefits 
 Group and Society 

 2021  2020 

 £,000  £,000 
Changes in the present value of the defined pension benefit obligations (including 
unfunded obligations) are as follows:    
Opening defined benefit obligation at 1 January  32,845   29,960  
Current service cost              -                 -   
Interest cost            444              589  
Actuarial (gains)/ losses  (1,317)  3,307 
Movement in unfunded liability (42) 

 
- 

Benefits paid (1,025)  (1,011) 
Closing defined benefit obligation at 31 December  30,905   32,845 
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25.c) Pensions – Retirement Benefits (continued) 
 
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 
Opening fair value of plan assets at 1 January  35,170   31,650 
Interest income on plan assets 485   626  
Return on assets, excluding interest income (172)  3,647  
Contributions by employer 76   295  
Benefits paid (1,025)  (1,011) 
Service cost - administrative cost (66)  (37) 
Closing fair value of plan assets at 31 December  34,468   35,170 
 
 
The plan assets do not include any of the Group's financial instruments nor is any property occupied by any Group 
entity. 

     
 Group and Society 

 2021  2020 
The total cost recognised as an expense: £,000  £,000 
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation (444)  (589) 
Service cost - administrative cost (66)  (37) 

 (510)  (626) 
 

No amounts (2020: nil) have been capitalised in the cost of plan assets. 
 Group and Society 

 2021  2020 
 £,000  £,000 

    
Interest income on plan assets 485   626  
Return on assets, excluding interest income (172)  3,647  

 313   4,273  
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COUNTRY-BY-COUNTRY REPORT 
Disclosure requirements under CRD IV Country-by-Country Reporting 

The Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 introduce reporting obligations for 
institutions within the scope of the European Union’s Capital Requirements Directive (CRD IV). The requirements aim 
to give increased transparency regarding the activities of institutions. 

Darlington Building Society (the Society) is the 20th largest building society in the UK. As a mutual organisation, the 
Society is owned and run for the benefit of its members with the safety of members’ funds being paramount. In 
providing a safe haven for members’ funds, the Society can fulfil its primary purpose of enabling home ownership 
through the provision of mortgages.   

The consolidated financial statements of the Darlington Building Society Group (the Group) include the audited 
results of the Society and its subsidiaries. The consolidated entities, their principal activities and countries of 
incorporation are detailed in Note 13 to the Annual Report and Accounts for the years ended 31 December 2021. All 
of the consolidated entities were incorporated in the United Kingdom (UK). 

The regulations under Article 89 of the CRD IV require the Society to disclose the following information about the 
source of the Society’s income and the location of its operations:  

 The Society operates only in the UK. The Society has one active, wholly owned subsidiary which was 
incorporated and operates only in the UK. The Society has no ultimate controlling party or parent. The 
principal activities of the Society are noted in the Strategy & Business Management report on page 9.  

 Average number of employees is disclosed in Note 6 to the accounts.  
 Annual turnover is equivalent to total income and along with profit before tax is as disclosed in the Income 

and Expenditure Accounts account on page 59.  
 Corporation Tax paid is noted in the Cash Flow Statements on page 62.  
 There were no public subsidiaries received in the year. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF 
DARLINGTON BUILDING SOCIETY 
Report on the audit of the country-by-country information 

Opinion 

In our opinion, Darlington Building Society’s country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2021 has been 
properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country 
Reporting) Regulations 2013. 

We have audited the country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2021 in the Country-by-Country Report. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”), including ISA (UK) 800 and 
ISA (UK) 805, and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for 
the audit of the country-by-country information section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the country-
by-country information in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation 

In forming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we draw attention to page 102 of the 
country-by-country information which describes the basis of preparation. The country-by-country information is prepared for the 
directors for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) 
Regulations 2013. The country-by-country information has therefore been prepared in accordance with a special purpose 
framework and, as a result, the country-by-country information may not be suitable for another purpose. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from the date on which the country-by-country information is authorised for issue. 
 
In auditing the country-by-country information, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the country-by-country information is appropriate. 
 
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of 
this report. 

Reporting on other information  

The other information comprises all of the information in the Country-by-Country Report - description as defined in the second 
paragraph of the opinion section above other than the country-by-country information and our auditors’ report thereon. The 
directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the country-by-country information does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the country-by-country information, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the country-by-country information or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency 
or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the 
country-by-country information or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report based on these responsibilities. 

Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the country-by-country information 

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 33, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the country-by-country information in accordance with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-
Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as explained in the basis of preparation on page 102 and accounting policies in page 102 to 
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the country-by-country information, and for determining that the basis of preparation and accounting policies are acceptable in the 
circumstances. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of country-by-country information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the country-by-country information, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information 

It is our responsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of this country-by-country information.  

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud, is detailed below. 

Based on our understanding of the company, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations 
related to the company not complying with industry regulations set out by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and Prudential 
Regulation Authority (PRA), and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the country-by-
country information. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the country-by-country information 
such as applicable tax legislation and the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. We evaluated 
management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the country-by-country information (including the risk of 
override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to the potential for management bias in accounting 
estimates in order to improve the reported profit or balance sheet position, as well as other key performance indicators such as net 
interest margin.  

Audit procedures performed included: 
- Reviewed all minutes for Audit and Compliance Committee Meetings held throughout FY21
- Inspected the breakdown of TB Codes for Professional Fees and Legal Fees throughout the year and inquired on a
 sample of expenses being professionally sceptical 
- Inspected correspondence with the Regulators for the year ended 31 December 2021 to identify any instances of non-compliance
- Tested journal entries on a sample basis based on different criteria’s identified as part of our fraud risk assessment of the company
to identify any wrongful entries 

Moreover, the engagement team remained alert for instances of non-compliance throughout the engagement and maintained their 
professional scepticism throughout. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the country-by-country 
information. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through 
collusion. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

USE OF THIS REPORT 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the company’s directors in accordance with the Capital 
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, 
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it 
may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
18 March 2022 
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ANNUAL BUSINESS STATEMENT 
1. STATUTORY PERCENTAGES  
The statutory limits are as laid down under the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Building Societies Act 
1997 and ensure that the principal purpose of a building society is that of making loans which are secured on 
residential property and are funded substantially by its members. 

   
2021 

% 
Statutory Limit 

% 

Lending Limit   2.95 20.00 
Funding Limit  13.06 50.00 

 

The above percentages have been calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Building Societies Act 1986 as 
amended by the Building Societies Act 1997. 

The above percentages have been prepared from the Group's consolidated accounts as set out in the Glossary of 
Terms on page 104. 

 
2. OTHER PERCENTAGES 

   
2021 

% 
2020 

% 

As a Percentage of Shares and Borrowings:     

Gross Capital  7.14 7.13 

Free Capital  7.05 7.00 

Liquid Assets  17.70 17.08 

Profit for the Financial Year as a Percentage of Mean Total Assets  0.35 0.09 

    
Management Expenses as a Percentage of Mean Total Assets  1.56 1.38 

    

Leverage Ratio  6.84 6.10 

The above percentages have been prepared from the Group's consolidated accounts as set out in the Glossary of 
Terms on page 104: 

 
3. INFORMATION RELATING TO THE DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 
Documents may be served on the Directors. at Darlington Building Society c/o Latimer Hinks 5-8 Priestgate, Darlington, 
Co Durham DL1 1NL. 
 
Directors’ Service Contracts 
The Chief Executive is employed under a service agreement which commenced on 3 December 2018. 
The Chief Financial Officer is employed under a service agreement dated 1 January 2015. 
The Chief Operating Officer (previously Chief Risk Officer) is employed under a service agreement dated 4 September 
2017. 
The Society is obliged to provide 9 months’ notice to Executive Directors. No other Directors or Officers of the Group 
had service agreements at the year end. 
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Directors (Non-Executive) Date of Birth Date of 
Appointment 

Other Directorships 
 

Company/Organisation 

J Cullen (Chair) 08.09.1954 01.01.2015 None  None 

R Cuffe 08.06.1960 18.04.2013 Non-Executive Director 
  

Joint industry Currency for Regional 
Media Research (Jicreg) 
Thirteen Housing Group 

I Wilson 16.04.1964 01.10.2017 Non-Executive Director The Mortgage Lender Limited (resigned 
February 2021) 
Redwood Bank (resigned July 2021) 
Fintech Solutions APS 
Revolut Ltd 
Revolut UK 

A Russell 18.03.1967 01.08.2019 Non-Executive Director Newcastle University 
Northern Homes and Estates Limited  
The Percy Hedley Foundation (resigned 
Sep 2021) 
William Leech (Investments) Limited 
William Leech Foundation Limited 

K McIntyre 25.10.1962 01.08.2019 Non-Executive Director Cirencester Friendly Society 
Tadcaster Swimming Pool Trust (resigned 
Oct 2021) 

J Williams 19.03.1986 01.08.2019 Non-Executive Director 
 

Just Williams Limited 
Advance Northumberland – Rural 
Business Growth Service (voluntary)  
Just Williams Sales Academy (appointed  
May 2021) 

Directors (Executive) Date of Birth Date of 
Appointment 

Other Directorships 
 

Company/Organisation  

A Craddock 31.12.1962 03.12.2018 Executive Director Darlington Homes Limited  
   Non-Executive Director 

 
Building Societies Association 
Pension Trustees Limited 
Director of Pavilion Gardens (Aston 
Clinton) Management Company Ltd 

C Hunter 30.03.1977 04.09.2017 Executive Director Darlington Homes Limited 
Darlington Mortgage Services Limited 
Sentinel Homes Limited  
DBS Services No. 3 Limited 
Darlington Investment Planning 
Darlington Estate Agents Limited 
 

   Non-Executive Director 
 

700 Club 
Emley Moor RFL Community Interest 
Company 

C B White 21.12.1978 01.01.2015 Executive Director Darlington Homes Limited  
Darlington Mortgage Services Limited 
Sentinel Homes Limited  
DBS Services No. 3 Limited  
Darlington Investment Planning  
Darlington Estate Agents Limited 

Officers Position at Society Other Directorships 
 

Company/Organisation  

N Barker Director of People & Culture None None 

D Ditchburn Chief Customer Officer None None 

S Horley Director of Service Excellence None None 

D Bews Chief Risk Officer None None 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
Set out below are the definitions of the terms used 
within the Annual Report and Accounts to assist the 
reader and to facilitate comparison with other financial 
institutions. Included are details of Alternative 
Performance Measures (APMs) used within the Annual 
Report and Accounts, with an explanation of how the 
APM is calculated and a reconciliation to the closest 
equivalent statutory measure, as defined or specified 
under FRS 102. 

Active Customers - Active customers consist of all 
mortgage customers and savings customers who have 
either transacted on a savings account with the Society 
in the last 3 years, or hold a fixed term savings bond with 
the Society. 

Application to Offer - Application to offer is a measure 
of the time taken between the receipt of a mortgage 
application form to a full offer being made.  The Society 
measures the reduction in application to offer year on 
year using the results in December of each year. 

Basel III - Committee on Banking Supervision, which 
defines the capital and liquidity rules for Banks and 
Building Societies. The framework has been embedded 
into UK law through the European Capital Requirements 
Directive IV (CRD IV). 

Basis Point - One hundredth of a per cent (0.01%), so 
100 basis points is 1%. Used in quoting movements in 
interest rates or yields on securities. 

Commercial lending - Loans secured on commercial 
property. 

Community Impact Projects - Community Impact 
Projects are projects supported by the Society directly 
which impact 50 or more people. 

Contractual Maturity - The final payment date of a loan 
or other financial instrument, at which point all the 
remaining outstanding principal and interest is due to be 
repaid. 

Cost / Income Ratio - An APM, the cost to income ratio 
is a measure of the efficiency of the Society by 
measuring costs in relation to income generation. It is 
calculated as management expenses (see below) divided 
by total income, as recorded in the Income and 
Expenditure Account. There is no equivalent statutory 

measure, but all elements of the calculation are 
statutory measures. 

Credit Quality Step – The credit quality, an integer 
between 1 and 6, assigned to assets based on their 
credit risk as defined by the European Banking Authority 
for institutions on the Standardised Approach for credit 
risk . 

Credit Risk - This is the risk that a customer or 
counterparty is unable to pay the interest or to repay 
the capital on a loan when required. 

Debt Securities - Assets held by the Group representing 
certificates of indebtedness of credit institutions, public 
bodies or other undertakings excluding those issued by 
central banks. 

Derivative Financial Instruments - A derivative financial 
instrument is a type of financial instrument (or an 
agreement between two parties) whose value is based 
on the underlying asset, index or reference rate to which 
it is linked. The Group uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge its exposures to market risks, such 
as interest rate and currency risk. 

Effective Interest Rate Method (EIR) - The method used 
to measure the carrying value of a financial asset or a 
liability and to allocate associated interest income or 
expense to produce a level yield over the relevant period 

ESG - ESG is the acronym for Environmental, Social, and 
(Corporate) Governance, the three broad categories for 
covering socially responsible activities incorporated into 
the Society’s values and concerns. 

Fair Value - Fair value is the amount for which an asset 
could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

Free Capital and Free Capital Percentage - Free capital is 
the general reserve plus collective loss provisions for bad 
and doubtful debts less tangible fixed assets.  The free 
capital percentage is free capital as a percentage of 
shares and borrowings. 

Funding Limit - The Funding Limit measures the 
proportion of shares and other borrowings not in the 
form of shares held by individuals. 

Gross Capital and Gross Capital Percentage - Gross 
capital is the general reserve.  The gross capital 
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percentage is gross capital as a percentage of shares and 
borrowings. 

Gross Mortgage Lending - This is an APM, and 
represents the total amount of new loans and advances 
to customers by the Society in the year. There is no 
equivalent statutory measure. 

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) - 
The Group’s own assessment, as part of Basel II 
requirements, of the levels of capital that it needs to 
hold in respect of regulatory capital requirements for 
risks it faces under a business-as-usual scenario and a 
number of stressed scenarios. 

Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ILAAP) - The Group’s own internal assessment of the 
level of liquidity that it needs to hold in respect of 
regulatory liquidity requirements in relation to a number 
of stressed scenarios. 

Lending Limit - The Lending Limit measures the 
proportion of business assets not in the form of loans 
fully secured on residential property.  Business assets 
comprise Group total assets plus provision for bad and 
doubtful debts less liquid assets and tangible fixed 
assets. 

Leverage Ratio - The Leverage ratio is a measure of 
capital adequacy, representing  the Society’s Tier 1 
capital as a proportion of total relevant non-risk 
weighted assets. The CRR leverage ratio is defined by the 
EU’s Capital Requirements Regulation. 

Liquid Assets and Liquid Assets Percentage - Liquid 
assets are the total of cash in hand and balances with 
the Bank of England, loans and advances to credit 
institutions, debt securities and other liquid assets. The 
liquid assets percentage is liquid assets as a percentage 
of shares and borrowings. 

Loan to Value Ratio (LTV) - A ratio which expresses the 
amount of a mortgage as a percentage of the value of 
the property. The Group calculates residential mortgage 
LTV on an indexed basis (the value of the property is 
updated on a regular basis to reflect changes in the 
house price index (HPI)). 

Management Expenses and Management Expenses 
Ratio - Management expenses are the aggregate of 
administrative expenses and depreciation. The 
management expenses ratio is the management 
expenses as a percentage of mean total assets. There is 

no equivalent statutory measure, although all elements 
of the calculation are statutory measures. 

Mean Total Assets - Mean total assets are the amount 
produced by halving the aggregate of total assets at the 
beginning and end of the financial year. 

Member - A person who has a share investment or a 
mortgage loan with the Society, this is distinct from the 
definition of a voting member in line with the Building 
Societies Act (1986) as set out in the Society’s rules for 
membership. 

Net Interest Receivable - The difference between 
interest received on assets and similar income and 
interest paid on liabilities and similar charges. 

Net Interest Margin - An APM calculated as net interest 
income, divided by mean total assets. There is no 
equivalent statutory measure, although the APM is fully 
derived from statutory measures. 

Net Promoter Score  - The Net Promoter Score is a 
measure of customer loyalty to the Group. 

Net Residential Lending - This is an APM which 
represents the increase in the size of the residential 
mortgage book during the year (excluding commercial 
lending). It is calculated as gross residential lending, less 
redemptions, contractual repayments and other capital 
repayments. The closest statutory measure is the 
movement in loans fully secured on residential property 
in the Statement of Financial Position. The main 
reconciling items to the statutory measure are the 
movements in impairment losses and EIR adjustments. 

Notional Principal Amount - The notional principal 
amount indicates the amount on which payment flows 
are derived at the Statement of Financial Position date 
and does not represent amounts at risk. 

Operational Risk - The risk of loss arising from 
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and 
systems or from external events. 

Replacement Cost - The amount the Group would need 
to replace derivative contracts that are favourable to the 
Group if the counterparty with whom the contract was 
held were unable to honour their obligation. 

Residential Loans - Loans that are made to individuals 
rather than institutions and which are secured against 
residential property. 
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Risk Appetite - The articulation of the level of risk that 
the Group is willing to take (o not take) in order to 
safeguard the interests of the Group’s members whilst 
achieving business objectives. 

Return on Capital Employed - An APM calculated as 
profit before tax as a percentage of prior year general 
reserves.  

Shares - Money deposited by a person in a retail savings 
account with the Group. Such funds are recorded as 
liabilities for the Group. 

Shares and Borrowings - Shares and borrowings are the 
total of shares, amounts owed to credit institutions, and 
amounts owed to other customers. 

SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average. 

Staff Survey Result - The Staff Survey result is a measure 
of employee satisfaction using the results from the Best 
Companies ™ survey, which is completed by all staff. 

Staff Turnover - Staff turnover is a measure of staff 
attrition following voluntary resignations (including 
retirements). 

TFSME - Term Funding Scheme with additional 
incentives for SMEs - Term Funding Scheme offered by 
the Bank of England for four-year funding at or very 
close to Bank Rate. 

Wholesale Funding - The total of amounts owed to 
credit institutions, amounts owed to other customers 
and debt securities in issue less balances deposited by 
offshore customers. 

 




